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PART |

| tem 1. Business.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Except for historical information, this Annual Repon Form 10-K may be deemed to contain “forwardking” statements within the meani
of the Private Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Exalep of forward-looking statements include but avélimited to: (a) projections of or
statements regarding return on investment, futareiegs, interest income, other income, earnindess per share, growth prospects, capital
structure, and other financial terms, (b) statemefplans and objectives of management, (c) setéesof future economic performance, and
(d) statements of assumptions, such as economditmors underlying other statements. Such forwaaking statement can be identified by
the use of forward-looking terminology such as Ibats,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could; “anticipates,” as well as the negative of
any of the foregoing or variations of such termsamparable terminology, or by discussion of sggaté&o assurance may be given that the
future results described by the forward-lookingesteents will be achieved. Such statements are cuiojeisks, uncertainties, and other factors,
which could cause actual results to differ matgrifrbm future results expressed or implied by starfward-looking statements. Such
statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K ideluwithout limitation, those contained in ItemBlusiness, Item 7. Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &wbults of Operations, Item 8. Financial StatemantsSupplementary Data including,
without limitation, the Notes To Consolidated Fineh Statements, and Item 11. Executive Compensaltioportant factors that could cause
the actual results to differ materially from thase¢hese forward-looking statements include, amathgr items:

the Corporatio’s successful execution of internal performancestard performance in accordance with estimatesriplete;

. performance issues with key suppliers, subcontracémd business partne

. the ability to negotiate financing arrangementdénders

. legal proceeding:s

. changes in the need for additional machinery andpegent and/or in the cost for the expansion ofGeporatio’’s operations
. ability of outside third parties to comply with iheommitments

. product demand and market acceptance r

. the effect of economic conditior

. the impact of competitive products and pricing,duct development, commercialization, and technolgiifficulties;

. social and economic conditions and local regulationthe countries in which the Corporation condits businesse

. unanticipated environmental remediation expensetaims;

. capacity and supply constraints or difficulti

. an inability to perform customer contracts at dptited cost levels

. changing priorities or reductions in the U.S. anddign Government defense budg

. contract continuation and future contract awa

. the other factors discussed under the caj‘Risk Factor” in Item 1A below;

. and other factors that generally affect the busiésompanies operating in the Corporé’s markets and/or industrie

These forward-looking statements speak only akeflate they were made and the Corporation assuiongisligation to update forward-
looking statements to reflect actual results onges in or additions to the factors affecting staetvard-looking statements.
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BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

Curtiss-Wright Corporation was incorporated in 192@er the laws of the State of Delaware. We deaighmanufacture highly engineered,
advanced technologies that perform critical funtion demanding conditions in the defense, enexgymercial aerospace, and general
industrial markets, where performance and religbéire essential. Our general industrial marketkigte high-performance automotive,
construction, marine, and simulation and test egeipt.

Our core competence is providing advanced techinesogith superior reliability for customers opengtin harsh environments. In addition to
meeting demanding performance requirements, obint#dagies significantly improve worker safety, nmivize environmental impact, and
improve operating efficiency. Our products and s@w include critical-function pumps, valves, matagenerators, and electronics; aircraft
flight controls, landing systems, ordnance handlgigbilization and utility actuation; as well astallurgical enhancement of highly stressed
components. We compete globally based on techn@adypricing, however, significant engineering exipe is a limiting factor to

competition, particularly in the U.S. governmentrked. Our business success is challenged by presspre, environmental impact, and
geopolitical events, such as the global war orotesm and diplomatic accords. Our ability to pravitigh-performance, advanced technologies
on a cost-effective basis is fundamental to oatsgy for meeting customer demand.

We manage and evaluate our operations based gmadtiacts we offer and the different markets we eseBased on this approach, we operate
through three segments: Flow Control, Motion Cdniad Metal Treatment. Our principal manufacturdagilities are located in the United
States in New York, North Carolina, and Pennsylagand internationally in Canada and the Unitechdom.

In 2008, we generated $1.8 billion in sales, andase of 15% over 2007, which is a continuatioawfdouble-digit sales rate growth in recent
years. In the five years since 2003, we have athincumulative sales increase of 145%, or $1libmilrepresenting a compounded anr
growth rate (CAGR) of 20%. This sales growth wasiewed primarily through the acquisition of morarnt20 businesses, with an aggregate
purchase price of approximately $700 million, whileducing organic sales growth each year rangimg 6% to 13%. During the same time
period, operating income grew at an 17% CAGR, iasireg from $89 million in 2003 to $197 million i0@8. We believe our ability to
consistently grow operating income during this pef rapid growth illustrates our ability to intege acquisitions quickly and profitability.

We intend to continue to execute our growth stiatelgich focuses on diversification in complementargrkets that demand high performance
and highly engineered products and services.

Our strategy, initiated in 2000, was to minimize dapendence on the commercial aerospace markebgachd into other key markets. The
rebalancing of our business portfolio was the ttesfulocusing growth initiatives in two robust matk: energy and defense. As a result of our
growth, we have achieved a balanced business porntfih revenues generated from defense, enemyneercial aerospace and general
industrial markets. While we have diversified ousimess portfolio, we have also developed a ne® competence in electronics technology.
We believe our ability to design and develop futgeaerations of advanced electronics systemstiaegic growth area for the high
performance platforms in our served markets.

Flow Control

Our Flow Control segment primarily designs, mantifees, and distributes a portfolio of highly engired, critical-function products including
valves, pumps, motors, generators, instrumentagind,control electronics. These products managédiveof liquids and gases, generate
power, provide electronic operating systems, anditapcritical functions. Our primary markets am@val defense, commercial power
generation, oil and gas processing, and generasktridl applications. In the naval defense manketare a global leader in propulsion
technologies and a preferred supplier to the UayNor their aircraft carrier and submarine pragsa Government sales, primarily to the U.S.
Navy as a subcontractor, comprised 23%, 29%, aftl @3egment sales in 2008, 2007, and 2006, respbctRevenues derived from tl

sales of valves during 2008, 2007 and 2006 reptede?©%, 22%, and 18%, respectively, of our codatdid revenue.

The Flow Control segment consists of 21 businefts nmanaged through five operating divisions: Bleddechanical Systems, Valve Systel
Control Systems, Commercial Power and ServicesCihand Gas Systems. The segment has a globalmasthase with principal
manufacturing operations in the United States, @Gapand the United Kingdom.
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Our Electro-Mechanical Systems division producesaded electro-mechanical solutions for the U.SiyNarmy, Coast Guard, commercial
nuclear power generation, oil and gas processimgjpther general industrial markets. The divisiesigns and manufactures advanced critical
function pumps, motors, generators, ship propulsoechanical seals, control rod drive mechanismagp conditioning electronics, pulse
power supplies, integrated motor-controls, comasiaterials applications, and protection technel®gblutions.

This division develops, designs, manufactures,@ertbrms qualification testing of critical-functipelectro-dynamic solutions for its primary
customer, the U.S. Nuclear Navy, including mainlanbpumps, various other critical-function pumgstremely powerdense compact motol
main and ship service generators, secondary priopuystems, and design engineering and testingcsst The division has served the U.S.
Navy for over 60 years and is a sole source provimtevarious products. The division also overhans provides critical spares for ur
serving the fleet on operational platforms. Curggatforms include the Nimitz and Ford class aiftccarriers, and Virginia, Los Angeles,
Seawolf, and Ohio class submarines.

In addition, the division provides propulsion mat@nd main generators to the non-nuclear U.S. Naglyding the DDG1000 destroyer
program. We are strengthening our relationship #ithU.S. Navy by participating in the design aegelopment of major subsystems for the
U.S. Navy’s ElectrdMechanical Aircraft Launch System (EMALS), Advanc&desting Gear (AAG) for installation in its fuimircraft carrie
fleet, and advanced condensate and feed systemgmnsiésr the next generation submarine fleet. Wgaexled our offerings to the military to
now include advanced electroagnetic product development for the U.S. Army alsgd power technology continues to advance imiiiary
weapons segment.

Electro-Mechanical Systems’ products are also goltbmplementary commercial markets, primarily ppgeneration and oil and gas. We
have been a supplier to the nuclear power markeests inception more than 50 years ago. We peosédctor coolant pumps, pump seals,
control rod drive mechanisms for commercial nucfgawer plants. In 2008, we announced our first daia@ew construction contract for
three Westinghouse AP1000 power plants to be iouilie United States. In 2007, we announced ost &ward for reactor coolant pumps for
for four new AP1000 nuclear power plants to betbhoilChina. Combined, these awards are a significalestone for both the nuclear power
renaissance and the globalization of nuclear pdeamology. While the nuclear power supply basendieid considerably during the last two
decades due to limited new construction projecesbelieve this new ramp up will result in increasethpetition from other nuclear
component suppliers globally. We believe awardslvélbased on a combination of preferred systersgdg, historical performance, and
price.

In the oil and gas market, we are utilizing ourressh motor and pumping system expertise and panmevrith industry leaders to develop
advanced systems for offshore recovery, productiod,transmission. Current programs encompasseaiptsnping and power-dense motors
for compact, integrated compressor systems. Thisidh has also expanded its offerings to includeandous waste pumps for the Department
of Energy (DOE) and in-line pumps for the hydroearlprocessing industry.

In the general industrial market, this divisioraisnarket leader in the design, development, andifaature of integrated motor-controls and
protection technologies solutions for leading arédiequipment manufacturers (OEMs) and industdatamers. We engineer and manufacture
a full range of rugged, reliable, and internatibnabmpliant products that smoothly control the amioof electrical current provided to motors.
Custom panel solutions include a variety of low ametlium voltage components, such as starters,jrbamtactors, breakers, and other related
devices. While this is a highly competitive marlair installed base of over 100,000 control unitf Wwundreds of custom designed systems
support customers in the industrial heating, vetitih, and air conditioning (HVAC) market, as wedl in the energy processing market,
including petrochemicals, power generation, mineng transportation.

Our Valve Systems division produces high-perforneasypecialized valve solutions that control the floiquids and gases and prevent over-
pressurization of vessels, pipelines, and equipnidns division designs, engineers, and manufastspeing-loaded, pilot-operated pressure-
relief valves and solenoid-operated valves, as aglhetal-seated industrial gate, butterfly badte&e, plug, angle, diverter, and ball valves
used in standard and advanced applications, intduiigh-cycle, high-pressure, extreme temperatané,corrosive plant environments.
Because of the critical nature of these applicati@ur products are highly engineered to meetgarinperformance and reliability
requirements. In addition, this division providegmeering support, testing, repair, and consulsieyices globally. Key markets include
defense, power generation, oil and gas procesaijgeneral industrial markets.
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This division’s valves are utilized in the nuclgmopulsion system of every nuclear submarine arwladt carrier commissioned by the U.S.
Navy. Current programs include the Virginia clasbraarine and Ford class aircraft carriers. In amfuitwe provide spares and repair work
various submarine classes, such as Los Angele3raeht, as well as the Nimitz class aircraft cansi Despite a relatively flat naval defense
budget in recent years, growth has been genenatdisimarket through long-standing customer retethips and successful development
programs for non-nuclear control valves and flighitical applications aboard the nation’s aircidtriers. Although there is strong competition
for these awards, competition is limited by sigrafit qualifications and performance requirememtsommercial markets, this division
provides valves to commercial nuclear power plasitand gas refineries, production platforms aimkfines, and general processing indust
worldwide. In addition, we are integrating our chiardware technology with engineering softwarertibagce product selection and inventory
management. General industrial products includeaulit power units and components primarily for #itgomotive and entertainment
industries, specialty hydraulic and pneumatic vahadr-driven pumps, gas boosters, and directiooalrol valves used in industrial
applications such as truck transmissions and aasport carriers. Competition is based upon quefitgchnology, price, installed base, and
delivery times.

Our Controls Systems division develops, manufastuests, and services specialized electronicumsgntation and control equipment which
includes instrumentation for primary and seconaanytrols, steam generator control equipment, vabtaators, and valve and heater controls.
This division provides custom designed and comraenff-the-shelf (COTS) electronic circuit boardsdasystems to the U.S. Navy. There is
strong competition in the COTS market, but cometits limited by significant qualification and germance requirements.

The Controls Systems division also designs and faatures advanced valve controllers and predictimintenance systems for the oil and gas
and general industrial markets. The division’s juad include plant instrumentation, primary ancoseary controls, steam generator control
equipment, valve actuators, valve and heater claniralorimetric instrumentation, generic digitejreal processor cards, digital and numeric
readout meters, response time test instrumentatacior plant control equipment, Stress Wave Agial{gSWAN) technology, and COTS
power supply units. The division also provides eegring and support services which include embedgsttm design, shipboard automation
and valve networking, microprocessor, field prognaable gate array (FPGA), and analog design, systegration, software design and
qualification, and factory acceptance testing.

Our Commercial Power and Services division desigrajufactures, distributes, and qualifies flow colnproducts for nuclear power plants,
nuclear equipment manufacturers, hydroelectricggnproducers, the DOE, and the Department of Def¢DsD). This division offers a wide
range of critical hardware, including fasteningtsyss, specialized containment doors, airlock hatcélectrical units, bolting solutions,
machined products, valves, pumps, and enterprisiree planning, as well as plant process contiraifjding electrical instrumentation,
specialty hardware and proprietary database soklitmimed at improving safety and plant performagtfeciency, reliability, and reducing
costs. In addition, the division provides distributand servicing of OEM spare parts and valve ammepts, training, on-site services, staff
augmentation, and engineering programs relatimgitdear power plants.

As new construction of nuclear power plants cor@sito ramp up, we anticipate a growing number of agstomers and some increased
competition. We are already beginning to receivpiests for newly designed components for next-geioer plants expected to be built, and
we are currently providing third-party nuclear-geagkrtification of other suppliers’ components. Maif the suppliers that participated in the
construction of first and second generation nugbeaver plants retired their nuclear Quality Asse(QA) programs and exited the business
during the past twenty years. More recently, souppkers have announced plans to re-establish tluglear manufacturing and QA programs.
As an established provider of these services, tbesganies represent a new market opportunitydoyprovide nuclear QA program stag;
harsh environment qualification, innovative instéihn technologies, such as HydraNut and PlasmaBaordlinventory management software.

This division has maintained all of the regulatoeytifications required to provide and/or qualijlwve-added representations and certification
of nuclear-grade products and are well positioneoenefit from a commercial nuclear renaissanchk domestically and internationally. Our
continued success will require us to remain contipetand continue to offer excellent performance guality products. We believe we
maintain a competitive advantage by virtue of awadth of nuclear technology, industry-benchmai®édprograms, large

Page 7




installed base, strategic alliances, resident déigeerand customer recognition of the importanureadf our long-term commitment to servicing
the unique challenges of the nuclear market.

Our Oil and Gas Systems division designs and mathwias valves and vessel products for the oil a®drgfining market. Primary products
include coke deheading systems, fluidic catalytacking unit (FCCU) components, and web-enablethsoé for the FCCU process control.

This division is a leader in turnkey coker systegiubally, as well as oil production platforms andrage facilities, liquefied natural gas (LNG)
terminals and storage facilities, natural gas jmgebperations, and power generation facilities: ke deheading system, which includes top
and bottom un-heading valves, isolation valvegjrogitools, and valve automation, process coné&mati protection systems, enable safe coke
drums operation during the refining process. Inetih this portfolio of products is the DeltaGuard®ke-drum unheading valve, a
revolutionary advancement in cokedm unheading technology. Our patented technolwgymotely operated, therefore inherently safey ¢a
operate, reliable, cost effective, and can be goinéid for any coke-drum application.

We also offer a delayed coker operations optimiragiystem featuring process control, interlockssezaontrol solutions, batch process data
acquisition, interactive operator batch sequenoeeatures, batch scheduler, batch sequence edtomanagement, asset protection, and

predictive maintenance capabilities. In additioe, pvovide inspection, installation, repair and rtexiance, and other field services for harsh
environment flow control systems. Competition igigsted by our superior technical expertise, proemnology and extraordinary service.

Our FCCU product portfolio includes custom-desigaalves, engineered pressure vessels, and compi@me&omponents that operate in
industrial process applications including fluidsidual, and catalytic cracking units as well as eogeneration, steel manufacture, and ore
reduction. We manufacture, repair, and modify ceifthambers, hydrotreaters, and American Societjeahanical Engineers (ASME) code
pressure vessels. In addition, we provide a widgyaof field services, including equipment repaigdification or replacement, inspection of
valves, controls, pipes and refractory linings, memance planning and scheduling for valves orrobeystems, diagnostic assistance with
troubleshooting problems in critical components] an-site system training. Due to the critical aegtere service applications requiring highly
engineered solutions, competition is limited t@wa fnajor competitors. While we face price competiton most major projects, our large
installed base product suite, integrated systempalibity, and aftermarket service attracts a sigaift customer base.

The following list defines our principle productscathe markets served by the Flow Control segment.

Naval Defense
. Nuclear propulsion system component
Valves (butterfly, globe, gate, control, safetyliafe solenoid, hydraulic operated ga
Pumps
Motors and generato
Instrumentation and contrc
. Non-nuclear products

Smart leakless valve

Sut-safe ball valve:

Je-fuel pumping valve:

Steam generator control equipm

Air driven fluid pumps

Engineering, inspection, and testing serv

. Aircraft carrier launch and retrieval equipment

Advanced electromagnetic syste
Flight critical components (aircraft shuttle compats, holdback bars, capacity selector val

. Instrumentation and control systems
Ground Defense

. Electromagnetic gun pulse~power supply systerr
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Oil & Gas Processing
. Critical process valves

DeltaGuard coker unheading val
Boltless catalyst control slide valv



Butterfly and triple offset butterfly valve
Pilot-operated relief valve

Pressure relief valve

Safety valve:

Solenoid, gate, and globe val

Steam valve

. Fluidic catalytic cracking equipment

Air grids and cyclone
Risers, headers, and wye secti

. Engineered process vesss
Cat cracker reactors and regenerator h
Hydrotreators

. Advanced valve controls and prognostics technolog

Digital valve controller with redundant technolc
Signature recognition for fault and leak detec
Integrated valve, automation, safety, and congstems

. Web-enabled process control softwar
Power Generation
. Advanced motors and generator:
. Pumps
Reactor coolant and proce
. Valves

Solenoid, ball, butterfly, check, pressure relgsffety and pilc-operated relief valves, and gate and globe (mgteraied
air operated, pneumatically operat

. Control rod drive mechanisms

. Design, fabrication of nuclear facility airlocks, dors, hatches
. Instrumentation

. Diagnostic and test equipmen

. Fluid sealing technologie

. Actuators

Pneumatic and hydraul

. Plate heat exchanger

. Separation technologie:

. Fasteners

. Advanced bolting technologie

. Diamond wire concrete cutting

. Engineering services

. Equipment qualification, commercial grade dedicatio
. Inventory management system:

General Industrial
. Valves
Directional control and pneumat
. Power Control Systems

Integrated motc-control system:



Variable frequency drive
Pump control pane!

Low voltage solid state starte
Medium voltage control
Protective technology solutiol

Critical machinery fault detection and prognosticssystems
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The Flow Control segment competes globally on tsidhof technical expertise, price, delivery, caciwal terms, previous installation history,
and globally renowned reputation for quality. Deliy speed and the proximity of service centersraportant with respect to aftermarket
products. Sales to commercial end users are acegmaglprimarily by direct sales employees andgiriain instances, by manufacturers’
representatives located in primary market areas) as nuclear power utilities, principal boiler ardctor builders, processing plants, and
architectural engineers. For its military contratte segment receives requests for quotes fromepecbntractors as a result of being an
approved supplier for naval propulsion system puargbvalves. In addition, sales engineers supporinuclear sales activities. The segment
uses the direct distribution basis for military aminmercial valves and associated spare parts.

Backlog for this segment at December 31, 2008,$tas02 million, of which 44% will be shipped aftame year, compared with $776 million
at December 31, 2007. Approximately 50% of thissexgt's backlog as of December 31, 2008 is comprigedmmercial nuclear orders with
Westinghouse Electric Company LLC (“Westinghous&gles to Westinghouse represented approximatéty 62, and 10% of total segment
sales in 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. Aoldditily, 22% of this segment’s backlog as of Decan®ie 2008 is comprised of orders with
the U.S. Navy, the majority of which is throughrénge contractor, Bechtel Group, Inc. Sales by ssigment to Bechtel accounted for 11%,
15%, and 21% of this segment’s total sales in 2@087, and 2006, respectively, or 5%, 7%, and 9%uofconsolidated revenue. The loss of
these customers would have a material adverset effiethe business of this segment and in total.e\afrthis segment’s business is seasonal.
Raw materials are generally available in adequasatifies, although pricing of raw materials is amped by commodity prices.

Motion Control

Our Motion Control segment designs, develops, magtufes, and maintains sophisticated, high-perfoomanechanical actuation and drive
systems, mission-critical electronic component emwtrol systems, and sensors for the aerospacensisfand general industrial markets. This
segment consists of 22 business units that arenizeand managed as three core technology gréimgsneered Systems, Integrated Sensing,
and Embedded Computing.

Our Engineered Systems division’s product offeritggthe commercial and defense aerospace markessstof electro-mechanical and hydro-
mechanical actuation control components and systleatsire designed to position aircraft controfates or to operate flaps, slats, and utility
systems such as canopies, cargo doors, weaportobeg, or other moving devices used on aircraftcraft applications include actuators and
electronic control systems and sensors for ther®peé87, 747, 757, 767, 777, and future Boeing 7@V air transports, Airbus A320, A330,
A340, A380, the Lockheed Martin F-16 Falcon fighjtr the Boeing F/A-18 Hornet fighter jet, the E-Raptor fighter jet, the Bell Boeing V-
22 Osprey, and the Sikorsky Black Hawk and Seaheelikopters. The Engineered Systems division is déveloping flight control actuators
and weapons handling systems for the engineeridgreamufacturing development phase of Lockheed Kark-35 Lightning Il Joint Strike
Fighter (F-35 JSF) program. The F-35 JSF is thé-gereration fighter aircraft being designed foe by all three branches of the U.S. military
as well as by several foreign governments. Thesitinialso provides electric motors, rotary sensmatrollers, and smaller electromechanical
actuation subsystems for flight, engine, and emwirental control applications on various commercesports, regional aircraft, business
aircraft, military aircraft, and spacecratft.

As a related service within the Engineered Systaiwision, we also provide commercial airlines, thiditary, and general aviation customers
with component overhaul and repair services in supgf our manufactured products. These servicesidie the overhaul and repair of
hydraulic, mechanical, electroechanical, and electronic components, aircrafispaourcing, and component exchange servicesvddaarra)
of aircraft.

In addition, Engineered Systems designs, manufestand distributes electro-mechanical and eldotdraulic actuation components and
systems, and electronic controls for military tradland wheeled vehicles within the ground defereseket as well as for commercial markets
utilizing drive technology. These products conefdurret aiming and stabilization, weapons harglbgstems, suspension systems for armored
military vehicles sold to foreign defense equipmmainufacturers, fuel control valves for large conuiz transport ships, camera head
stabilization for the entertainment industry, andhaety of commercial servo valves.

Through its Marine Defense unit, the Engineerede3ys division designs and manufactures electro-aréchl and hydro-mechanical systems
for landing helicopters aboard naval vessels. Tigb®ard helicopter handling systems are used &ytl$. Navy, U.S. Coast Guard, and more
than ten other navies around the world. The
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division also designs and builds the elements eftip’s aircraft storage structures, includingsebpic hangars and hangar doors. Specializec
handling systems are provided for towing sonarraimte sweep systems for submarines and surface. ships

Engineered Systems products are sold primarilyuiiinca domestic sales force and international nétwbrepresentatives. A direct sales force
is utilized with assistance from commissioned agieftles to Japan are made through Mitsubishi Aigadorporation, and certain sales to the
U.S. Navy are made through the Canadian CommeEcgdoration. All other sales are made directly M3, airlines, and government
agencies as well as to aircraft and ship buildevarad the world.

Our Engineered Systems products are sold in cotigretiith a number of other suppliers, some of whwawxe broader product lines and
greater financial, technical, and human resourtles.competitive environment for these product®&ufed on a short list of companies, with
recent strategic trends at the prime contractallmsulting in a smaller market of vertically igtated suppliers, while prime contractors
specialize in integration and final assembly. Prieehnical capability, performance, service, inresnt, and “overall value” are the primary
forces of competition together with an ability tifeo solutions to perform control and actuationdtions on a limited number of new
production programs. Our overhaul and repair sesvare sold in competition with a number of othearbaul and repair providers with a foc
on quality, delivery, and price.

Our Integrated Sensing division develops and manufas a range of sensors, controllers, and elgctamntrol units for commercial and
defense aerospace and general industrial marke¢seTproducts include position, pressure, and teatyre sensors, solenoids and solenoid
valves, smoke detection sensors, torque sensiaglgtection and protection equipment, air data cdenp, flight data recorders, joysticks, and
electronic signal conditioning and control equipmé&¥e sell this divisiors products primarily to prime contractors and sysietegrators, bot
directly and through a network of independent sedgsesentatives on a worldwide basis. Positios@anare used on primary flight control
systems and engine controls on Airbus and Boeirogadt, regional and business aircraft, and on mar8, and European military aircraft. Air
data, flight recorder, and ice detection and ptaiacequipment are supplied to many helicopterigppibns. We also sell our products for use
in a wide range of industrial applications suclofishighway vehicles, powered wheelchairs, proaas#rols, and motorsports.

Competitive discriminators for Integrating Sensingude technical support and product price as a®lfjuality and delivery. For that reason
Integrated Sensing products are marketed througlitiess in the United Kingdom, Germany and the tédiStates, and manufacturing facilities
have now been established in Mexico and China.

In 2008, this division acquired Mechetronics Lalnited Kingdom supplier of solenoids and solenailyes for global general industrial
markets. A solenoid is an electromagnetic actuaged as a mechanical switch or integrated withhaewa provide control in pneumatic or
hydraulic systems. Mechetronics products are segpb OEMs and are used in a variety of applicatiooluding business machines,
switchgear and vehicle braking systems. Originfalynded in 1918, today Mechetronics is a leadimygtrial solenoid supplier with
headquarters in Bishop Auckland, United Kingdormd amew production facility in Zhuhai, China whiocpened in 2007. Mechetronics
employs 72 people.

Our Embedded Computing division designs, develapd,manufactures rugged embedded computing boeetifeodules and integrated
subsystems primarily for the aerospace and groefehde markets. Using standard, commercially availalectronics technologies, coupled
with application domain specific knowledge, thigigion offers COTS hardware and software modulesth@n open industry standards. Our
advanced subsystems are integrated using our stanmmadules and custom modules based on in-houskeittual property content as well as
third-party technology. We also offer a broad amégupport services that include life-cycle mamaget, technical support, training, and
custom engineering of modules and fully integragelsystems. Our Embedded Computing division isidersd one of the industry’s most
comprehensive and experienced single sources doepsing, data communications, digital signal pssice, video and graphics, recording .
storage, analog acquisition and reconstructiorarmaahd integrated subsystems. Our COTS modulegtegtated subsystems are designed to
perform reliably in harsh conditions where spaceight, and power constraints are critical. Our raygroducts excel in extreme temperatures
and environments, enduring high shock and vibratisnwell as in commercial environments for uskaoratory and benign environment
applications.

Embedded Computing’s subsystem products are useavide variety of mission-critical military appéittons, including fire control, aiming

and stabilization, munitions loading, and environtaéprocessors for military ground vehicles. Thessucts are used on demanding combat
platforms such as the Bradley fighting vehicle, #imams M1A2/A3 tank, and the Brigade Combat Teatarim Armored Vehicle, which is
part of the U.S.
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Army’s modernization and transformation effortsisTtlivision also provides the mission managemdghtfcontrol computers, and the sensor
management units for advanced aerospace platforchgling Global Hawk, the U.S. Air Force’s hight#altde and high-endurance unmanned
aerial vehicle.

Embedded Computing’s modules are used in numemdivegrograms today, including the Improved Brgddequisition System and the
Improved Tow Acquisition System. The modules featime highest performance commercial processoopen standard board architectures.
The division has taken a leadership position inditadting and definition of the newest embeddedddiads, which are designed to address the
more demanding performance and data bandwidthnegeints of emerging applications. Embedded Comgusifrequently the first
embedded COTS vendor to announce forthcoming b@ardsystems based on these new architectures.ddedtb€omputing has been
selected to supply technology for some of the mdsainced future military platforms including theZ- F-35 JSF, P-8 Poseidon, and Future
Combat System.

This division’s products are manufactured at itsragions located in North America and the Unitedd¢iom. Our products are sold primarily
to prime contractors and subsystem suppliers ldgatienarily in the United States, United KingdomdaCanada, both directly and through a
network of independent sales representatives.centeyears, competition in the embedded electrsystems market has migrated away from
traditional board competitors toward fully integrdtsubsystem and system providers selling to paintesecond-tier defense and aerospace
companies. Competition in this market is basedwality of technology, price, and delivery time tarket.

In 2008, this division enhanced its portfolio offhiperformance embedded computing products witladegiisition of VMETRO ASA.
Founded in 1986, VMETRO is a leading supplier ofil@Doard- and systeilevel embedded computing products for applicatioreerospact
defense, and industrial markets. Key products piewveal-time computing capabilities, high-dens#tgtar processing, data recording, and
network storage systems. Application of these petglas components or subsystems enables improspdrse time and critical protection in
server and storage appliances, utility mapping,godnd penetrating radar. VMETRO operates globaitih headquarters and principal
engineering in Oslo, Norway. Additional sales, ergring and distribution networks are establishettié United States, Europe, and Asia.
VMETRO employs approximately 200 people.

The following list defines our principle productsdathe markets served by the Motion Control segment

Commercial Aerospace
. Commercial Jet Transports

Secondary flight control actuation systems andtedetechanical trim actuato
Aircraft cargo door and utility actuation syste

Fire detection and suppression control syst

Position sensot

Solenoids and solenoid valv

. Business/Regional Jet

Throttle quadrant
Position Sensor

. Helicopters
Rotor Ice Protection Syster
. Repair & Overhaul Services
Component overhaul and logistics support sery
Defense Aerospac
. Transport and fighter aircraft

Weapons bay door actuation syste

Secondary flight control actuatic

Rotary actuation for environmental control syste
Weapons handling syster

. Helicopters

Radar warning systen
Acoustic processing syster
Flight data recordet

Air data computer

Position Sensor
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. Unmanned aerial vehicles

Integrated mission management and flight controtgaters
Weapons handling syster

Ground Defense
. Tanks and light armored vehicles

Digital electromechanical aiming and stabilizatgystems
Fire control, sight head, and environmental controkcessor
Single Board Computers for target acquisition syst
Hydropneumatic suspension syste

Ammunition handling systen

Naval Defense
. Surface ships

Helicopter handling and traverse syste
Tie-down component

. Marine Propulsion
Marine engine diesel valve injection syste
. Submarines
Cable handling systems for towed arr
Other Military & Government
. High performance data communication products
Power conversion produc
. Space programs
Control electronics and senst
. Security systems
Perimeter intrusion detection equipm
. FAA
Airport surface detection equipment radar videapssing
General Industrial Markets
. Automated industrial equipment

Air, sea, and ground simulatic

Fractional horse power (HP) specialty mot
Force transduce!

Joysticks

Sensors

Sales by our Motion Control segment to its largestomer in 2008, 2007, and 2006 accounted for @DRotion Control revenue and 4% of
our consolidated revenue for each year. The lo#lsi@tustomer would have a material adverse effiedtlotion Control. Direct and end use
sales of this segment to government agencies, ghyntlhe U.S. Government, in 2008, 2007, and 2@@gounted for 66%, 62%, and 63%,
respectively, of total Motion Control sales. Altlghuthe loss of this business would also have anmabtalverse affect on Motion Control, no
single prime contractor to the U.S. Government lictv we are a subcontractor provided greater tiga @f Motion Control revenue during
any of the last three years.

Backlog for our Motion Control segment at Decembikr2008, was $575 million, of which 64% is expéddie be shipped after one year,
compared with $526 million at December 31, 2007n&lof the businesses of our Motion Control segrisestasonal. Raw materials are
generally available in adequate quantities fronumlmer of suppliers. However, we utilize sole sowagpliers in this segment. Thus, the
failure and/or inability of a sole source suppti@iprovide product to Motion Control could haveaatverse impact on our financial
performance. While alternatives could be identifiedeplace a sole source supplier, a transitiaidceesult in increased costs and
manufacturing delays.
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Metal Treatment

Our Metal Treatment segment provides various metgittal processes that are used primarily to imertne service life, strength, and
durability of highly stressed, critical-function taéparts. Metal Treatment provides these sentiz@sbroad spectrum of customers in
commercial and defense aerospace, oil and gas,rgemeration, and general industrial markets, mliclg automotive/transportation,
construction equipment, and metal working.

This segment consists of several business unitatkaorganized into three principal services thatsegment offers which include peening,
specialty coatings, and heat treating.

Shot peening is a process by which the durabifityetal parts is enhanced by the bombardment gbaines surface with spherical media, si
as steel shot or ceramic or glass beads, to comfireuter layer of the metal. In addition, shempforming enables metal panels to be sh
with aerodynamic curvatures that are assembledrag skins of commercial and military aircraft. Reue of shot peening services in 2008,
2007, and 2006 accounted for 8%, 9%, and 10%, c&sply, of our consolidated revenues.

Laser peening is an advanced metal surface treapmecess that utilizes a unique high energy ldsgeloped by the Lawrence Livermore
National Laboratory. The laser peening procesegiisgoused in production to extend the life of catiindustrial and flight turbine engii
components. Laser peening is also utilized to fivenwing skins of the Boeing 747-8 aircraft in angite facility within the Boeing
Frederickson, Washington complex. Future applicatioclude high value, extreme service componengsrcraft structures, oil and gas,
medical implant, and marine applications. We retamexclusive worldwide rights to the intellectpabperty necessary for the use of this laser
architecture on laser peening of commercial praiu@trrently, the patents associated with the lpsening technology are not material to our
operations. However, we believe that this technplogs significant potential and, thus, these pateraty become material to our future
operations.

Specialty coatings primarily consist of the appiima of solid film lubricant coatings, which aredigned to enhance the performance of metal
components used in high-stress applications fapacdrange of industries. We apply our coatingsaibgpray or by a dipping and spinning
process for bulk applications. We have diversifigid service with the acquisition of new capal#hti such as the ability to manufacture our
own bulk coatings, and new international faciliiesCanada and United Kingdom.

Heat treating is a metallurgical process of subjganetal objects to heat and/or cold or otherwrisating the material to change the physical
and/or chemical characteristics or properties efrttaterial. In addition to shot peening, heat ingataind specialty coatings, other metal
treatment services that are provided on a job $laggs include shot peen forming, laser peening fiwishing, chemical milling, and reed val
manufacturing.

In 2008, we acquired Parylene Coating Services $B@hich further expands our coating services hess into the growing medical market.
PCS utilizes a vapor deposition process to applylgae coatings to medical devices, including cargrartery stents, rubber/silicone seals and
wire forming mandrels used in the manufacture dfiegers. The conformal coating provides lubricisgistance to solvents, radiation and
bacteria; and is also biocompatible. In additiomtdical applications, parylene coatings are urljgsiited for use in niche electronic, oil and
gas, and general industrial applications. PCS'ditiatn Katy, Texas is ISO 9001 registered and h8=mployees.

The following list defines our principle productsdathe markets served by the Metal Treatment segmen

Commercial Aerospace
. Shot peen forming
Wing skins
. Shot peening

Aircraft structural componen
Landing gear componer
Turbine engine rotating compone!

. Laser peening
Turbine engine rotating compone!
. Coatings

Fastener:
Sliding component
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. Heat Treating
Aluminum structural componen
General Industrial
. Shot Peening

Highly stressed metal components susceptible igua
Welded components subject to distort

Architectural structure

Engine and transmission compone

. Heat Treating

Miscellaneous engine, transmission and structuadponent:
Miscellaneous aluminum and steel compon

. Coatings

Fastener:

Brake and suspension compone

Sliding component

Miscellaneous components subject to corrosion &diohg wear

Defense
. Shot Peening

Helicopter and fighter aircraft structural and fngbengine componen

Through a combination of acquisitions and new ptgrenings, we continue to increase Metal Treatrsargtwork of regional facilities. Metal
Treatment operations are now conducted from 6%itiasilocated in the United States, Canada, Uritedjdom, France, Germany, Sweden,
Belgium, Italy, Spain, Austria, and China. Our Méteeatment services are marketed directly by oopleyees. Although numerous compal
compete in this field and many customers havedbleurces to perform such services themselves, liev&¢hat our technical knowledge and
quality of workmanship provide a competitive adweay®. We compete in this segment on the basis dityjservice, and price.

The business of this segment is not seasonal. Raterials are generally available in adequate giesifrom a number of suppliers, and we
not materially dependent upon any single sourcaipply in this segment. We have no significant wuglcapital requirements outside of
normal industry accounts receivable and inventorgdver. Our largest customer in this segment atealfor 9% of Metal Treatment sales
during 2008, 2007, and 2006. Although the activet@mer base is in excess of 5,000, the loss ottidtomer would have a material adverse
effect on our Metal Treatment segment.

The backlog of Metal Treatment was $2 million a®etember 31, 2008 and 2007, all of which is exgmbtd be recognized in the first quarter
of 2009. Due to the nature of our metal treatmentises, we operate with a very limited backloguafers and services that are provided
primarily on new manufactured parts. Thus, the lachf this segment is not indicative of our futsedes, and as a result, this segment’s sales
and profitability are closely aligned with generadustrial economic conditions and, in particuthe commercial aerospace market.

OTHER INFORMATION

Certain Financial Information

For information regarding sales by geographic negéee Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statésrcontained in Part II, Item 8, of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In 2008, 2007, and 2006, our foreign operationsegeed 57%, 42%, and 37%, respectively, of ourt@xesarnings. We do not regard the risks
associated with these foreign operations to be niafljegreater than those applicable to our U.Sibesses.

Government Sales

Our direct sales to the U.S. Government and saled iS. Government and foreign government end egeesented 36%, 38%, and 45% of
consolidated revenue during 2008, 2007, and 2@pectively. U.S.
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Government sales, both direct and indirect, aregaly made under standard types of governmentactst including fixed price, fixed price-
redeterminable, and cost plus.

In accordance with normal practice in the case & (Government business, contracts and ordersibjecs to partial or complete termination
at any time, at the option of the customer. Indhent of a termination for convenience by the gorent, there generally are provisions for
recovery by us of our allowable incurred costs amaoportionate share of the profit or fee on tleekncompleted, consistent with regulations
of the U.S. Government. Fixed-price redeterminabletracts, generally on naval programs, usuallyigethat we absorb the majority of any
cost overrun. In the event that there is a cosetmd, the customer recoups a portion of the unddrased upon a formula in which the
customer’s portion increases as the underrun esasgtihin established levels.

Generally, long-term contracts with the U.S. Goweent require us to invest in and carry signifidantls of inventoriable costs. However,
where allowable, we utilize progress payments ahdranterim billing practices on nearly all of #eecontracts, thus reducing the overall
working capital requirements. It is our policy &e& customary progress payments on certain ofantracts. Where we obtain such payments
under U.S. Government prime contracts or subcotstréfte U.S. Government has either title to orcused interest in the materials and worl
process allocable or chargeable to the respeatineacts. (See Notes 1.F, 3, and 4 to the Condelidainancial Statements, contained in Part
I, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K).tlme case of most Motion Control and Flow Conteireent products for U.S. Government
end use, the contracts typically provide for themdon by the customer of stipulated percentadéiseocontract price, pending completion of
contract closeout conditions.

Patents

We own and are licensed under a number of UnitateSt&and foreign patents and patent applicatiohghsave been obtained or filed over a
period of years. We also license intellectual prop® and from third parties. Specifically, the3JGovernment has licenses in our patents that
are developed in performance of government corstractd it may use or authorize others to use theniions covered by such patents for
government purposes. Additionally, unpatented mebeaevelopment, and engineering skills, somelitiwhave been acquired by us through
business acquisitions, make an important contidioutd our business. While our intellectual propeigits in the aggregate are important to the
operation of our business, we do not consider ticeesssful conduct of our business or business sagrteebe materially dependent upon the
protection of any one of the patents, patent apptios, or patent license agreements under whichomeoperate.

Research and Development

We conduct research and development activitiesrurugsgomer-sponsored contracts, shared developroetriacts, and our own independent
research and development activities. Custospensored research and development costs are dhargests of goods sold when the assoc
revenue has been recognized. Funds received uhaesdsdevelopment contracts are a reduction aftiae development expenditures under
the shared contract and are shown net as reseaddateaelopment costs. Corporation-sponsored resaaat development costs are charged to
expense when incurred. Customer-sponsored resaadctievelopment activity amounted to $32 millios5 $nillion, and $36 million, in 2008,
2007, and 2006, respectively, and were attributezlistomers within our Flow Control and Motion Qohsegments. Research and
development expenses incurred by us amounted torfib6n in 2008 as compared with $48 million in@0and $39 million in 2006.

Environmental Protection

We are subject to federal, state, local, and foré&gvs, regulations, and ordinances that goveliniies or operations that may have adverse
environmental effects, such as discharges to @imaater. These laws, regulations, and ordinancesaisa apply to handling and disposal
practices for solid and hazardous waste and imjpaisiéity for the costs of cleaning up and for @ntdamages resulting from sites of past
spills, disposals, or other releases of hazardolistances.

At various times, we have been identified as ang@ly responsible party pursuant to the ComprshenEnvironmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLAhdhanalogous state environmental laws, for thencipaf contamination resulting from
past disposals of hazardous wastes at certainntiame former facilities and at sites to which among others, sent wastes in the past.
CERCLA requires potentially responsible persongayp for cleanup of sites from which there has teeeslease or threatened release of
hazardous substances. Courts have interpreted CERETImpose strict joint and several liability on
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all persons liable for cleanup costs. As a prattizatter, however, at sites where there are melfjgtentially responsible persons, the costs of
cleanup typically are allocated among the partgepaling to a volumetric or other standard.

Information concerning our specific environmentiabilities is described in Notes 1.N and 13 to @@nsolidated Financial Statements
contained in Part Il, Item 8, of this Annual RepantForm 10-K.

Executive Officers

Martin R. Benante, age 56, has served as the Chaiohthe Board of Directors and Chief Executivéié@f of the Corporation since April
2000. He has been a Director of the Corporatiocesir999.

Edward Bloom, age 67, has served as Vice Presafehe Corporation and President of Metal Improvetr@mpany, LLC since June 2002.

David J. Linton, age 53, has served as Co-Chief@jmg Officer of the Corporation since Novembef2@&nd President of Curtiss-Wright
Flow Control Corporation since May 2004; prior ie promotion to Co-Chief Operating Officer servedvace President of the Corporation
from May 2004, Vice President of Program Managemeaytheon Network Centric Systems from Novemb&320@ April 2004; Chief
Executive Officer, Cordiem, Inc. from April 2001 kdarch 2002; Vice President and General Managé&iedtric Systems, Hamilton
Sundstrand Corporation, June 1998 to April 2001.

David C. Adams, age 54, has served as Co-Chiefa@ipgrOfficer since November 2008 and prior tognsmotion served as Vice President of
the Corporation from November 2005 and Preside@wfiss-Wright Controls from June, 2005 Seniore/Rresident, Electronic Systems of
Curtiss-Wright Controls from February 2004 to J@0€5; Group Vice President, Integrated Sensing fagmil 2002 to February 2004.

Glenn E. Tynan, age 50, has served as Vice Prdasidé&inance and Chief Financial Officer of the @aration since June 2002; Controller of
the Corporation from June 2000 to May 2002.

Michael J. Denton, age 53, has served as Viced@esiSecretary, and General Counsel of the Caliparsince August 2001.

Glenn Coleman, age 41, has served as Vice PresiddnCorporate Controller of the Corporation siltas/ 2008. Prior to his appointment, !
Coleman spent the past 10 years with Alcatel Lu@fenterly Lucent Technologies) in various posispimcluding Finance Vice President,
Wireless Business Group from June 2007 to Dece@®@r and Finance Vice President, Americas Contrbiten January 2002 to May 2007.

Harry Jakubowitz, age 56, has served as Vice R¥esif the Corporation since May 2007 and as Treasf the Corporation since September
2005; Director of Taxes of the Corporation fromd@002 to September 2005.

Employees

At the end of 2008 we had approximately 8,000 eygrs, 9% of which are represented by labor uniodscavered by collective bargaining
agreements.

Available information

We file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly nép@n Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, praky statements for our annual
stockholders’ meetings, as well as any amendmeritwse reports, with the Securities and Exchargar@ission (“SEC”). The public may
read and copy any of our materials filed with tfeCSat the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 FeGtE, Washington, DC 20549. The
public may obtain information on the operationte# Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at@-8BC-0330. The SEC also maintains
an Internet site at www.sec.gov that contains tspproxy and information statements, and otherimftion regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC, including our filingEhese reports are also available free of changeitin our web site atww.curtisswright.com
as soon as reasonably practicable after we elécaiynfile that material with, or furnish it tohé SEC.
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| tem 1A. Risk Factors.

You should carefully consider the risks describebbW and other information in this Annual Reportform 10-K. Our business, financial
condition, and results of operations could be nigtgrand adversely impacted if any of these risieterialize. Additional risk factors not
currently known to us or that we believe are immat&lso may impair our business, financial coiodit and results of operations. The trading
price of our common stock may also decline as altre§these risks.

A substantial portion of our revenues and earndepends upon the continued willingness of the G@&ernment and our other customers in
the defense industry to buy our products and sesvic

In 2008, approximately 36% of our revenues werévddrfrom or related to defense programs, with epjpnately 16% attributable to U.S.
Navy procurements. U.S. defense spending has itizligrbeen cyclical, and defense budgets rise wierneived threats to national secu
increase the level of concern over the countryfstgaAt other times, spending on the military aiatrease. While Department of Defense
funding has grown rapidly over the past few yetirsre is no assurance this trend will continue. @eting demands for federal funds can put
pressure on all areas of discretionary spending;iwtould ultimately impact the defense budget.egréase in U.S. government defense
spending or changes in spending allocation cowddIré one or more of our programs being redudethyed, or terminated. Reductions in
defense industry spending may or may not have aerae effect on programs for which we provide patsland services. In the event
expenditures are reduced for products we manufactuservices we provide and are not offset byrrege from foreign sales, new programs,
or products or services that we currently manufactu provide, we may experience a reduction inreuenues and earnings and a material
adverse effect on our business, financial conditom results of operations. Further, there candbassurance that our significant customers
will continue to buy our products and servicesuatent or increased levels.

As a U.S. Government contractor, we are subjeatriamber of procurement rules and reqgulations.

We must comply with and are affected by laws amileions relating to the award, administratiord aerformance of U.S. Government
contracts. Government contract laws and regulatidfest how we do business with our customers Bmgpme instances, impose added costs
on our business. A violation of specific laws aadulations could result in the imposition of firexd penalties or the termination of our
contracts or debarment from bidding on contractese fines and penalties could be imposed fongatld follow procurement integrity and
bidding rules, employing improper billing practicesotherwise failing to follow cost accountingrstards, receiving or paying kickbacks, or
filing false claims. We have been, and expect tttiooe to be, subjected to audits and investigatmngovernment agencies. The failure to
comply with the terms of our government contractsld harm our business reputation. It could alsoltén our progress payments being
withheld.

In some instances, these laws and regulations ienfgoms or rights that are more favorable to theegament than those typically available to
commercial parties in negotiated transactions.éxample, the U.S. Government may terminate anyipfjovernment contracts and, in
general, subcontracts, at its convenience as wdtiradefault based on performance. Upon termindto convenience of a fixed-price type
contract, we normally are entitled to receive thechase price for delivered items, reimbursemenaflowable costs for work-in-process, and
an allowance for profit on the contract or adjustirfer loss if completion of performance would haesulted in a loss. Upon termination for
convenience of a cost reimbursement contract, wealdy are entitled to reimbursement of allowaldsts plus a portion of the fee. Such
allowable costs would normally include our costamminate agreements with our suppliers and subactors. The amount of the fee
recovered, if any, is related to the portion of Wk accomplished prior to termination and is deieed by negotiation.

A termination arising out of our default could espaus to liability and have a material adversecefie our ability to compete for future
contracts and orders. In addition, on those cotstfac which we are teamed with others and arel®prime contractor, the U.S. Government
could terminate a prime contract under which weaasebcontractor, irrespective of the quality of services as a subcontractor.

In addition, our U.S. Government contracts typicajban one or more base years and multiple optansy The U.S. Government generally
the right to not exercise option periods and mayemercise an option period if the agency is ntisBad with our performance on the contract.
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U.S. Government Procurement may adversely affectash flow or program profitability.

A significant reduction in the purchase of our proi$ by the U.S. government would have a matedetese effect on our business. The risk
that governmental purchases of our products maljngestems from the nature of our business withdt®. government, in which the U.S.
government may:

. terminate, reduce or modify contracts or subcotdréidts requirements or budgetary constraintsngiea
. cancel muli-year contracts and related orders if funds becomagailable; ant
. shift its spending priorities

In addition, as a defense business, we are subjeisks in connection with government contraats|uding without limitation

. the frequent need to bid on programs prior to cetipd the necessary design, which may result ionesken technological
difficulties and/or cost overrun

. the difficulty in forecasting long-term costs arahedules and the potential obsolescence of prodeleted to long-term, fixed
price contracts

. our contracts are for varying fixed terms that maybe renewed or followed by folli-on contracts upon expiratio

. cancellation of the follo-on production phase of contracts if program regquéets are not met in the development phase

. the failure of a prime contractor customer to perfon a contrac

Our business could be adversely affected by a ivegatidit by the U.S. Government.

We operate in a highly regulated environment anetlmeen, and expect to continue to be, routinetijted by the U.S. Government and oth
On a regular basis, we monitor our policies anat@dores with respect to our contracts to ensursistemt application under similar terms and
conditions and to assess compliance with all applegovernment regulations. Negative audit findioguld result in termination of a contre
forfeiture of profits, or suspension of payment®rk time to time we are subject to U.S. Governnireveistigations relating to our operations.
Government contractors that are found to have tadl¢ghe law, such as the False Claims Act or thresMExport Control Act, or are indicted or
convicted for violations of other federal laws,ave found not to have acted responsibly as detiydtie law, may be subject to significant
fines. Such convictions could also result in suspEmor debarment from government contracting éone period of time. Given our
dependence on government contracting, suspensida@barment could have a material adverse effeouofbusiness.

Failure to comply with certain U.S. Government sing requirements may adversely affect our cash.flo

We, like others in the defense industry, are awéieepotential problem presented by strict comgéawith the Defense Federal Acquisition
Regulation Supplement preference for enumeratetiapemetals sourced domestically or from cerfaireign countries. Subcontractors and
lower-tier suppliers may make disclosures indigatmability to comply with the rule as written, iaularly for low-value parts such as
washers, screws, nuts, bolts, resistors, and dapsicbubject to limitations, inability to certifizat all enumerated specialty metals in a product
comply with sourcing requirements can lead to GBvernment customers withholding a portion of arpegt on delivery or may prevent
delivery altogether of material and products caitim national defense.

Our operating results are subject to fluctuations.

Defense industry procurement involves seasonatitexzonomic cycles and as a result our annual aadegly operating results may fluctuate.
It is possible that our operating results for aipalar quarter may not meet the expectations ofiseées analysts or investors. Similarly,
securities analysts may issue reports downgradinga@mmon stock. These events could cause the tnanike of our common stock to
decline.
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Future terror attacks, war, natural disasters tlieroevents beyond our control could adversely thpar businesses.

Despite our concerted effort to minimize risk to puoduction capabilities and corporate informatsystems and to reduce the effect of
unforeseen interruptions to us through businessiragity planning and disaster recovery plans, téstattacks, war, natural disasters, such as
hurricanes, floods, tornados, or other events agcétrikes by a significant customer’s or supmievbrkforce could adversely impact demand
for or supply of our products and could also caliseuption to our facilities or systems which coaldo interrupt operational processes and
adversely impact our ability to manufacture ourdurets and provide services and support to our meste. We operate facilities in areas of the
world that are exposed to natural disasters, ssadiuinot limited to hurricanes, floods, and towsad-or example, Hurricanes Ike and Gustav
in 2008 caused disruption to the oil and gas méddtetur products and services. Similarly, theddst attacks of September 11, 2001 and
subsequent terrorist attacks worldwide caused dsetedemand in the commercial aerospace marketfgroducts and commercial overhaul
and repair services. Financial difficulties of @ustomers, delays by our customers in productidheif products, high fuel prices, the concern
of another major terrorist attack, and the ovatattreased demand for our customers’ products @aludrsely affect our operating results and
financial position.

The success of our growth strategy is dependent appability to complete acquisitions and integratquired businesses.

Our strategy includes growth through acquisitioksa result, our future growth depends in large parour ability to implement our
acquisition strategy and successfully integrateiged businesses into our existing operations.dfane unable to identify suitable candidates,
negotiate appropriate acquisition terms, obtaiarfging, and successfully integrate acquired busegmto our existing operations, our growth
strategy may not be successful. In addition, adpis involve numerous risks, including difficids in the assimilation of the operations,
technologies, services, and products of the acduoenpany, the potential loss of key employeesefacquired company, and the diversion of
our management’s attention from other businessearoisc This is the case particularly in the fisaggers immediately following the
completion of an acquisition because the operatditise acquired business are integrated into tlyelieing businesses’ operations during this
period. We cannot be sure that we will accurateljcgate all of the changing demands that anyruaicquisition may impose on our
management, our operational and management infammsystems, and our financial systems. Once iatedr acquired operations may not
achieve levels of revenue, profitability, or protivity comparable to those of our existing opermasi@r may otherwise not perform as we
expected. We may fail to discover liabilities redgtto a pending acquisition during the due diligemvestigation, liabilities for which we, as
the successor owner, might be responsible. Althauglseek to minimize the impact of potential undisred liabilities by structuring
acquisitions to minimize liabilities and obtainimglemnities and warranties from the selling patigse methods may not fully protect us from
the impact of undiscovered liabilities. For examjelemnities or warranties are often limited io@e, amount, or duration, and may not fully
cover the liabilities for which they were intendédndemnities or warranties are limited, the liglkes that are not covered by the limited
indemnities or warranties could have a materiakasky effect on our business and financial condition

We use estimates when accounting for contractsn@dsin estimates could affect our profitabilitylaverall financial position.

Contract accounting requires judgment relativeseasing risks, estimating contract revenues astd,c@nd making assumptions for schedule
and technical issues. Due to the size and natumaaly of our contracts, the estimation of totakrawes and costs at completion is complicated
and subject to many variables. For example, assangphave to be made regarding the length of tom@mmplete the contract because costs
also include expected increases in wages and gocesaterials. Similarly, assumptions have to mmregarding the future impact of
efficiency initiatives and cost reduction effortscentives, awards, or penalties related to perdoree on contracts are considered in estimating
revenue and profit rates and are recorded whee theufficient information to assess anticipatetfgrmance. Because of the significance of
the judgments and estimation processes descrilme il is possible that materially different amtsuoould be obtained if different
assumptions were used or if the underlying circamsts were to change. Changes in underlying asgmaptircumstances, or estimates may
have a material adverse effect upon future pefimhtial reporting and performance. See “Criticatdunting Estimates and Policies” in

Part 11, Item 7.
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New accounting standards could result in changesitanethods of quantifying and recording accountmnsactions, and could affect «
financial results and financial position.

Changes to Generally Accepted Accounting Principlebe United States (GAAP) arise from new andsey standards, interpretations, and
other guidance issued by the Financial Accountirag@ards Board, the SEC, and others. In additt|XS. Government may issue new or
revised Cost Accounting Standards or Cost Prinsiplde effects of such changes may include préagrém accounting method where none
had been previously specified, prescribing a siagleeptable method of accounting from among seee@@ptable methods that currently e
or revoking the acceptability of a current methad eeplacing it with an entirely different meth@ong others. Such changes could result in
unanticipated effects on our results of operatifinancial position, and other financial measures.

Our earnings and margins may vary based on theofroxir contracts and programs.

At December 31, 2008, our backlog included both peismbursable and fixed-price contracts. Cost keireable contracts generally have lower
profit margins than fixed-price contracts. Prodoetcontracts are mainly fixed-price contracts, dedelopmental contracts are generally cost
reimbursable contracts. Our earnings and marginsvagy materially depending on the types of longrgovernment and commercial
contracts undertaken, the nature of the producdymed or services performed under those contrthetgosts incurred in performing the w
the achievement of other performance objectived tha stage of performance at which the right teinee fees, particularly under incentive
award fee contracts, is finally determined.

Under fixed-price contracts, we receive a fixed@lirrespective of the actual costs we incur andsequently, any costs in excess of the fixed
price are generally absorbed by us. Under timeraatkrials contracts, we are paid for labor at riatgd hourly billing rates and for certain
expenses. Under cost-reimbursable contracts, dubjaccontract-ceiling amount in certain casesavgereimbursed for allowable costs and
paid a fee, which may be fixed or performance bakesvever, if our costs exceed the contract ceiingre not allowable under the provisions
of the contract or applicable regulations, we malybe able to obtain reimbursement for all suchiscaad may have our fees reduced or
eliminated. The failure to perform to customer estpgons and contract requirements can resultdnged fees and may affect our financial
performance for the affected period. Under eack tyfpcontract, if we are unable to control costsiveair in performing under the contract, our
financial condition and operating results couldvterially adversely affected. Cost over-runs atsy adversely affect our ability to sustain
existing programs and obtain future contract awards

We operate in highly competitive markets.

We compete against companies that often have greats volumes and financial, research, humanpeartleting resources than we have. In
addition, some of our largest customers could agveie capability to manufacture products or preddrvices similar to products that we
manufacture or services that we provide. This waoetdllt in these customers supplying their own potslor services and competing directly
with us for sales of these products or servicésfathich could significantly reduce our revenuEarthermore, we are facing increased
international competition and crobsfder consolidation of competition. Our managenietieves that the principal points of competitinrour
markets are product quality, performance, pricsigfeand engineering capabilities, service, cottiedderms, previous installation history,
technical expertise, investment “overall value'd aimeliness of delivery. If we are unable to cotepsuccessfully with existing or new
competitors in these areas, our business, finanoiaition, and results of operations could be niltg and adversely impacted.

Our future growth and continued success is depéngem our key personnel.

Our success is dependent upon the efforts of auoismanagement personnel and our ability to atead retain other highly qualified
management personnel. We face competition for nemnagt from other companies and organizations. Ttierewe may not be able to retain
our existing management personnel or fill new managnt positions or vacancies created by expansiturmmover at our existing
compensation levels. Although we have entereddhtinge of control agreements with some membersrebismanagement, we do not have
employment contracts with our key executives. Weehaade a concerted effort to reduce the effettiefoss of our senior management
personnel through management succession plannimgloBs of members of our senior management grould ©iave a material and adverse
effect on our business. In addition, competition
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for qualified technical personnel in our industrieintense, and we believe that our future groavttl success will depend upon our ability to
attract, train, and retain such personnel.

Our international operations are subject to risks wolatility.

During 2008, approximately 27% of our consolidatedenue was from customers outside of the UnitateSt and we have operating facilities
in foreign countries. Doing business in foreign mivies is subject to numerous risks, including withlimitation: political and economic
instability; the uncertainty of the ability of nd#h-S. customers to finance purchases; restrictagetipolicies; and complying with foreign
regulatory and tax requirements that are subjechémge. While these factors or the impact of tfiestrs are difficult to predict, any one or
more of these factors could adversely affect o@rafons in the future. To the extent that foresgles are transacted in foreign currencies and
we do not enter into currency hedge transactioesang exposed to risk of losses due to fluctuatiofsreign currency exchange rates,
particularly for the Canadian dollar, the euro, &nMranc, and the British pound. Significant flidtans in the value of the currencies of the
countries in which we do business could have amri@#veffect on our results of operations.

We may be unable to protect the value of our iat#llal property.

Our success depends in part on obtaining, maimgigind enforcing our intellectual property rigatsl avoiding infringing on the intellectual
property rights of others. While we take precaudignsteps to protect our technological advantagddraellectual property and rely in part on
patent, trademark, trade secret, and copyright, lex@scannot assure that the precautionary stegsawe taken will completely protect our
intellectual property rights. Because patent ajpfiims in the United States are maintained in sgauetil either the patent application is
published or a patent is issued, we may not beawfthird-party patents, patent applications, atter intellectual property relevant to our
products that may block our use of our intellecfuralperty or may be used in thipdwty products that compete with our products anodgsse:
When others infringe on our intellectual propeights, the value of our products is diminished, agdmay incur substantial litigation costs to
enforce our rights. Similarly, we may incur subsilritigation costs and the obligation to pay atties if others claim we infringed on their
intellectual property rights. When we develop ilgetual property and technologies in connectiomwitS. Government contracts, the
government has the royalty-free right to use thmaperty.

In addition to our patent rights, we also rely oypatented technology, trade secrets, and confelénformation. Others may independently
develop substantially equivalent information anthtéques or otherwise gain access to or disclos¢éectinology. We may not be able to
protect our rights in unpatented technology, treelerets, and confidential information effectivélye require each of our employees and
consultants to execute a confidentiality agreermaetite commencement of an employment or consulélaionship with us. However, these
agreements may not provide effective protectioawfinformation or, in the event of unauthorizee os disclosure, they may not provide
adequate remedies.

Our operations are subject to numerous domesti¢rdedhational laws, regulations, and restricticarsd noncompliance with these laws,
regulations, and restrictions could expose usresfi penalties, suspension, or debarment, whicld t@ve a material adverse effect on our
profitability and overall financial condition.

We have contracts and operations in many partseofvorld subject to U.S. and foreign laws and ragohs, including the False Claims Act,
regulations relating to impogxport control (including the International Traffic Arms Regulation promulgated under the Arms Ex@mntrol
Act), technology transfer restrictions, repatriatif earnings, exchange controls, the Foreign @oifPuactices Act, and the anti-boycott
provisions of the U.S. Export Administration Actikire by us or our sales representatives or ctargsito comply with these laws and
regulations could result in administrative, ciwatf,criminal liabilities and could, in the extremase, result in suspension or debarment from
government contracts or suspension of our expariigges, which could have a material adverse éfbecour business.

We are subject to liability under environmental $aw

Our business and facilities are subject to numefedisral, state, local, and foreign laws and regara relating to the use, manufacture,
storage, handling, and disposal of hazardous natgexnd other waste products. Environmental laweigdly impose liability for investigatiol
remediation, and removal of hazardous materialsoéimer waste products on property owners and tivbsedispose of materials at waste sites
whether or not the waste was disposed of legaltii@atime in question. We are currently addressimgronmental remediation at certain
current and former facilities, and we have beenethas a potentially responsible party along witreot
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organizations in a number of environmental clearsites and may be named in connection with futites. We are required to contribute to
costs of the investigation and remediation anéke reserves in our financial statements for fubmsts deemed probable and estimable.
Although we have estimated and reserved for futimgéronmental remediation costs, the final resolutif these liabilities may significantly
vary from our estimates and could potentially hameadverse effect on our results of operationsfiaadgcial position.

Unanticipated changes in our tax provisions or syp@to additional income tax liabilities couldeaff our profitability.

Our business operates in many locations under gowemt jurisdictions that impose income taxes. Cbkang domestic or foreign income tax
laws and regulations, or their interpretation, do@sult in higher or lower income tax rates asstss changes in the taxability of certain
revenues or the deductibility of certain expenteseby affecting our income tax expense and puoifity. In addition, audits by income tax
authorities could result in unanticipated incredasesur income tax expense.

Our current debt, and debt we may incur in thergitaould adversely affect our business and firsmmsition.

As of December 31, 2008, we had $517 million oftdmlistanding, of which $513 million is long-terraldt. Our debt consists primarily of
principal payable under our fixed rate senior nates principal payable at a variable rate of irgetmder our revolving line of credit. Our level
of debt could have significant consequences foboginess including: requiring us to use our césh fo pay principal and interest on our
debt, reducing funds available for acquisitions atiter investments in our business; making us valle to economic downturns and incre;

in interest rates; limiting us from obtaining adafital debt; and impacting our ability to pay dividis.

A percentage of our workforce is employed undelective bargaining agreements.

Approximately 9% of our workforce is employed undelective bargaining agreements, which from timéime are subject to renewal and
negotiation. We cannot assure you that we willlmxessful in negotiating new collective bargaindggeements, that such negotiations will
result in significant increases in the cost of lalwo that a breakdown in such negotiations will lesult in the disruption of our operations.
Although we have generally enjoyed good relatiorth Wwoth our unionized and non-unionized employdese are subject to labor actions, we
may experience an adverse impact on our operatsigts.

Substantial defaults by our customers related tcowats receivable or the loss of significant cusistould have a significanegative impact
on our business, results of operations, finan@abdion or liquidity.

A significant portion of our working capital consif accounts receivable from customers. If custemesponsible for a significant amount of
accounts receivable were to become insolvent aratise unable to pay for products and servicesjare to become unwilling or unable to
make payments in a timely manner, our businessltsesf operations, financial condition or liquiglitould be adversely affected. An economic
or industry downturn could adversely and materiaffgct the servicing of these accounts receivalhéch could result in longer payment
cycles, increased collection costs, and defaulexgess of management’s expectations.

We rely on certain suppliers as a sole source wipoments for some of our products.

Our manufacturing processes for our products aftarsist of the assembly of purchased componentatbayenerally available from a numl|

of different suppliers, though several suppliees@uir sole source of certain components. If a solece supplier should cease or otherwise be
unable to deliver such components, our operatiaglt®could be adversely impacted. In additionuif suppliers are unable to keep up with
demand for purchased components and we are uraldeate additional sources of supply, our opegatésults could be adversely impacted.

Our earnings and margins depend in part on subeoirperformance, as well as raw material and corapt availability and pricing.

Our businesses depend on suppliers and subcomigdotaaw materials and components. At times saotvaators perform services that we
provide to our customers. We depend on these stfaobors and vendors to meet their contractuabelithns in full compliance with customer
requirements. These supply networks can sometingerience price fluctuations. Our ability to perfoour obligations as a prime contractor
may be adversely affected if one or more of thegpléers is unable to provide the agreed-upon sepplr perform the agreed-upon services in
a timely and cost-effective manner. While we hatterapted to
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mitigate the effects of increased costs througbepricreases, there are no assurances that higbes pan effectively be passed through to our
customers or that we will be able to offset fullyom a timely basis the effects of higher raw miatercosts through price increases.

Our business involves risks associated with compiarufacturing processes.

Our manufacturing processes depend on certain stogdted and high-value equipment. Unexpectedrislof this equipment may result in
production delays, revenue loss, and significapairecosts. In addition, equipment failures codsdult in injuries to our employees. Moreover,
the competitive nature of our businesses requiseatinuously to implement process changes intttmachieve product improvements and
manufacturing efficiencies. These process changgsantimes result in production delays, qualitp@arns, and increased costs. Any
disruption of operations at our facilities due tpugment failures or process interruptions couldena material adverse effect on our business.

Our future success will depend, in part, on oulitglib develop new technologies.

Virtually all of the products produced and soldusyare highly engineered and require sophisticai@aufacturing and system-integration
techniques and capabilities. The commercial aneégowxent markets in which we operate are charaetéhy rapidly changing technologies.
The product and program needs of our governmentamunercial customers change and evolve reguladgordingly, our future
performance depends in part on our ability to idgm®merging technological trends, develop and nfacture competitive products, and bring
those products to market quickly at cost-effecpiviees.

Potential product liability risks exist from thegolucts that we sell.

Our businesses expose us to potential productitialisks that are inherent in the design, mantufeg; and sale of our products and the
products of third-party vendors that we use orlte¥éée currently maintain what we believe to betabie and adequate product liability
insurance. There can be no assurance, howevery¢haill be able to maintain our product liabilitysurance on acceptable terms or that our
product liability insurance will provide adequat®fgction against potential liabilities. In the avef a claim against us, a lack of sufficient
insurance coverage could have a material advefset @n our business, financial condition, and itssef operations. Moreover, even if we
maintain adequate insurance, any successful clairtd have a material adverse effect on our busjriigssicial condition, results of operatio
and on the ability to obtain suitable or adequasaiance.

Increasing costs of certain employee and retireefits could adversely affect our results of operst.

Our earnings may be positively or negatively impddty the amount of income or expense we recorddopension and other postretirement
benefit plans. GAAP requires that we calculate inemr expense for the plans using actuarial valnatiThese valuations reflect assumptions
relating to financial market and other economicditions. Changes in key economic indicators camghahe assumptions. The most
significant yearend assumptions used to estimate pension or otisérepirement benefit expense for the followingrya the discount rate, 1
expected long-term rate of return on plan assatsegapected future medical cost inflation. In aiddit we are required to make an annual
measurement of plan assets and liabilities, whial nasult in a significant change to equity throagieduction or increase to other
comprehensive income. For a discussion regardimgdw financial statements can be affected by penand other postretirement benefit
plans accounting policies, see “Management’s Dsioasand Analysis—Critical Accounting Estimates &ulicies—Pension and Other
Postretirement Benefits” in Part 1l, Item 7. AltigfluGAAP expense and pension or other postretiregmittibutions are not directly related,
the key economic factors that affect GAAP expensald/also likely affect the amount of cash the campwould contribute to the pension or
other postretirement plans. Potential pension dmutions include both mandatory amounts requiredeurfiederal law Employee Retirement
Income Security Act (ERISA) and discretionary cénitions to improve the plans’ funded status.

While we believe our control systems are effectitiere are inherent limitations in all control ges, and misstatements due to error or fraud
may occur and not be detected.

We continue to take action to assure complianck thi¢ internal controls, disclosure controls, atiteorequirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002. Our management, including our Chieéé&ixtive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, canigotarantee that our internal controls

and disclosure controls will prevent all possibiees or all fraud. A control system, no matter haell conceived and operated, can provide
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance thatjeetives of the control system are met. In additibe design of a
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control system must reflect the fact that thereraseurce constraints and the benefit of contralstrbe relative to their costs. Because of the
inherent limitations in all control systems, notsys of controls can provide absolute assuranceathabntrol issues and instances of fraud, if
any, within the Corporation have been detecteds@eherent limitations include the realities luatgments in decision-making can be faulty
and that breakdowns can occur because of simple @rmistake. Further, controls can be circumvete individual acts of some persons, by
collusion of two or more persons, or by managerogatride of the controls. The design of any systérmontrols also is based in part upon
certain assumptions about the likelihood of futewents, and there can be no assurance that amnoeidiisucceed in achieving its stated goals
under all potential future conditions. Over timesamtrol may become inadequate because of changesditions or the degree of compliance
with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Beeaisnherent limitations in a cost-effective cahtsystem, misstatements due to error or
fraud may occur and may not be detected.

Our operating results and financial condition mayabversely impacted by the current worldwide eatnaonditions.

We currently generate significant operating castv$l, which combined with access to the credit margeovides us with significant
discretionary funding capacity. However, currentenmainty in the global economic conditions resigitirom the recent disruption in credit
markets poses a risk to the overall economy thaltldonpact consumer and customer demand for owdymts, as well as our ability to manage
normal commercial relationships with our customstgpliers and creditors. If the current situatieteriorates significantly, our business ct
be negatively impacted, including such areas ascestidemand for our products from a slow-down énglneral economy, or supplier or
customer disruptions resulting from tighter creddrkets.

There are risks associated with owning our comntocks

Like any equity security, our common stock is sabje a number of risks that may adversely impactshare price including: there is a limi
trading market in our common stock; we may notiafuture be able to pay dividends on our commookstwe may issue common stock for
acquisitions or other purposes that could be d#utd current stockholders; and we have variouistakéover defenses such as our rights plan
and our ability to issue preferred stock that magalrage a potential acquirer.

| tem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
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Item 2. Properties.

At December 31, 2008, we had 170 facilities worldsyiincluding manufacturing, metal treatment sexvaerospace component overhaul,
engineering, selling, and other facilities and austiative offices. Of these, we owned 45 locatiand leased the remaining 125 facilities.

Our principal physical properties as of December28D8, are described below:

Location Description Segment Total Sq. Ft. Owned(®
Cheswick, Manufacturing Flow Control 688,000
Pennsylvanii
East Farmingdale Manufacturing Flow Control 270,000
New York @
Mississauga, Ontari Manufacturing Motion Control 220,000
Canads
Chester, Wale Metal Treatment Service- Shot Metal Treatmen 200,000
United Kingdom Peening and Wing Formir
Shelby, Manufacturing Motion Control 168,000

North Caroling

The aggregate remaining properties leased and gwyezhch business segment, are as follows:

Segment Description Total Sq. Ft. Owned® Total Sq. Ft. Leased?)
Metal Treatmen Metal treatment service and other facilities anchiadstrative 919,00( 961,00(
offices
Motion Control Manufacturing, aerospace component overhaul, eagimng 139,00( 951,00(
and other facilitie!
Flow Control Manufacturing, engineering, and other facilit 408,00( 1,030,001

(1) Sizes are approximate. Unless otherwise indicaédwned properties are owned in fee, are notesulip any major encumbrance, and
are occupied primarily by factory and/or warehoogerations

(2) In February 2003, we entered into a -traditional sale- leaseback transaction with the Town of Babylon stdal Developmen
Agency for our property located in E. Farmingd&leyw York. Pursuant to the terms of the Lease, thensy acquired fee simple title
the property, and we are obligated to make leagmeats through 2014 to the Agency in lieu of payiegl estate taxes on said
property. The Lease is subject to cancellation evittpenalty on 90 days notice, and title revertkhia us upon the repayment of any
tax savings realized by L

The Corporation also leases 23,500 square fedfioé ®pace for its corporate headquarters locetétbseland, New Jersey.

None of the properties listed above are individuaihterial to our business. The buildings on trapprties referred to in this Item are w
maintained, in good condition, and are suitable aaetjuate for the uses presently being made of. thtemagement believes the productive
capacity of our properties is adequate to meetaticipated volume for the foreseeable future.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, we and ouridigvges are subject to various pending claimsslaits, and contingent liabilities. We do not
believe that the disposition of any of these mafterdividually or in the aggregate, will have ateral adverse effect on our consolidated
financial position or results of operations.

We have been named in approximately 148 pendinguasvthat allege injury from exposure to asbedtoaddition, to date, we have secured
dismissals with prejudice and without prejudic@pproximately 103 and 110 lawsuits, respectivehg are currently in discussions for similar
dismissal of several other lawsuits, and have eenhldfound liable or paid any material sum of moinegettiement in any case. We believe that
the minimal use of asbestos in our past and cuaetations and the relatively non-friable conditad asbestos in our products makes it
unlikely that we will face material liability in grasbestos litigation, whether individually or retaggregate. We do maintain insurance
coverage for these potential liabilities and waedwal adequate coverage exists to cover any unpatéd asbestos liability.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securitydolders.
Not applicable
PART I
Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity And Related Stockholder Matters And Issuer Purchasesf Securities.

MARKET INFORMATION

Our Common stock is listed and traded on the NewkYstock Exchange under the symbol CW.

Stock Price Range 2008 2007

High Low High Low
Common
First Quartel $ 50.1¢ $ 37.65 $ 40.4¢ $ 32.7¢
Second Quarte 52.9¢ 41.3( 48.4¢ 37.7
Third Quartel 56.07 41.62 50.2¢ 42 .5
Fourth Quarte 45.37 24.8( 56.7¢ 47.1¢

We had approximately 6,200 registered shareholfe€ommon stock, $1.00 par value, as of Januarp309.

DIVIDENDS

In the third quarter of 2007, we increased our taubr dividend payment to $0.08 per share, a 338fteimse over the prior dividend of $0.06
share and the fourth increase in the dividend s9®.

2008 2007
Common

First Quarte! $ 0.08 $ 0.0¢
Second Quarte 0.0¢ 0.0€
Third Quartel 0.0¢ 0.0¢
Fourth Quarte 0.0¢ 0.0¢
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SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY CGMENSATION PLANS

The following table sets forth information regamgliour equity compensation plans as of Decembe?2@®18, the end of our most recently
completed fiscal year:

Number of options
remaining available for

Number of future issuance
securities to be Weighted average under equity
issued upon exercise of exercise price of compensation plans
outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan category warrants, and rights warrants, and rights reflected in the first column)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holder: 3,726,573(a $30.50 3,518,825(b
Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holder None Not applicable Not applicable

(@) Consists of 3,525,345 shares issuable upon exestmgtstanding options and vesting of performasitares, restricted shares,
restricted stock units under the 2005 Omnibus Léagn Incentive Plan and the 1995 Long-Term Incenilan, 139,151 shares
issuable under the Employee Stock Purchase PldG2077 shares outstanding under the 2005 StackfBt NonEmployee Director
and the 1996 Stock Plan for N-Employee Directors

(b)  Consists of 2,250,942 shares available for futptéoa grants under the 2005 Omnibus Long-Term IticerPlan, 1,199,811 shares
remaining available for issuance under the Empl@&teek Purchase Plan, and 68,072 shares remaindilglale for issuance under the
2005 Stock Plan for N-Employee Directors

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The data presented in the following table is detifrem the audited financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(In thousands, except per share data) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Net sales $ 1,830,141 $ 1,592,12. $ 1,282,15! $ 1,130,92 $ 955,03¢
Net earning: 109,39( 104,32¢ 80,56¢ 75,28( 65,06¢
Total asset 2,042,03! 1,985,56! 1,592,15i 1,400,28! 1,278,44i
Long-term debt 513,46( $ 510,98: 359,00( 364,01° 340,86(
Basic earnings per she $ 24t % 23t % 18  $ 174 3 1.5¢
Diluted earnings per sha $ 241 % 23z % 182 $ 17z % 1.51
Cash dividends per she $ 03z $ 0.2¢ % 022  $ 02C $ 0.1¢

All per share amounts have been adjusted to reflecg-for-1 stock split on April 21, 2006.

See notes to the consolidated financial statenfenesdditional financial information.
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Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

Analytical Definitions

Throughout management’s discussion and analydisaricial condition and results of operations, tirens “incremental” and “base” are used
to explain changes from period to period. The t&noremental” is used to highlight the impact actions had on the current year results, for
which there was no comparable prior-year periogréfore, the results of operations for acquisitiares“incremental” for the first twelve
months from the date of acquisition. The remairbnginesses are referred to as the “base” businessdgrowth in these base businesses is
referred to as “organic.” Additionally, on May 90@8, we sold our commercial aerospace repair arcthaul business located in Miami,
Florida. The results of operations for this busineave been removed from the comparable prioryednds for purposes of calculating
organic growth figures and are included as a réduaf our incremental results of operations froan acquisitions.

Therefore, for the year ended December 31, 2008pm@anic growth calculation does not include tperating results related to our 2008
acquisitions: Parylene Coatings, Mechetronics,\AMEETRO. Similarly, our organic growth calculatioarfthe year ended December 31, 2008
excludes a portion of our 2007 acquisitions, insigdour months of operating results for Scientdalg months of operating results of Valve
Systems and Controls, seven months of operatingtsesf Benshaw Inc., and eight months of operatesylts of IMC Magnetics.

Additionally, the organic growth calculations exad¢ufive months of our 2007 operating results fram @ommercial aerospace repair and
overhaul business, as noted above, and these asramgnincluded as a reduction of our incrementallte of operations.

COMPANY ORGANIZATION

Our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Firgn€ondition and Results of Operations begins @ittoverview of our company,
followed by economic and industry-wide factors imofirdg our company and the markets we serve, a slison of the overall results of
operations, and finally a more detailed discussibinose results within each of our reportable afierg segments.

We manage and evaluate our operations based @mdtacts and services we offer and the differesitigtries and markets we serve. Based on
this approach, we have three reportable segmelots: Eontrol, Motion Control, and Metal TreatmenarRurther information on our products
and services and the major markets served by oee tegments, see Item 1 Business Description albbegfollowing charts represent our
sales by market for 2008 and 2007:
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Market Analysis and Economic Factors

In 2008, Curtiss-Wright generated strong finanpefformance due to continuing demand for our adedmeoducts, improved operating
performance, and the diversification of our corekats: defense, energy, commercial aerospace, emerg industry. Despite the macro-
economic impacts of a significant U.S. financialrked decline as well as a volatile energy markat fubstantially impacted global demand,
Curtiss-Wright produced healthy sales and profitagh due to the contributions from each of its ¢hsegments and its highly diversified
product portfolio.
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Our organic sales growth was balanced between siefamd commercial market growth, including solidgrenances in each of our segments,
as well as contributions from our 2007 acquisitidngparticular, we experienced robust organic dho our power generation market of
nearly 50%. This growth was partially offset by Ewgrowth in commercial aerospace and lower salesii automotive and oil and gas
markets. Overall, our commercial markets providégd@ganic growth and 20% total growth, includingremental revenues from our 2007
acquisitions.

Our defense markets were equally strong in 20a8;iging 6% organic growth, driven by our aerospaed ground programs with 13% and
23%, respectively, while our naval market was etsaliynflat, primarily due to timing of the shipdding procurement cycle. Our growth was
driven by a combination of ongoing programs, depeiental programs, and current force repair andageg. In our naval market, ongoing
production programs provide a long-term revenue bisaddition, we increased our non-nuclear cdrdarthe next-generation DDG1000
destroyer, and we have been awarded funding fatiadal research and development programs. In paxses we benefited from solid positis
on nearly every U.S. fighter jet program, as wsllrecreased content on helicopters and unmannéd aehicles. Ground defense growth was
fueled primarily by increased need for upgradesraewd technology in support of our troops statioaszlind the world. There are indications
this spending will continue in the near-term asmequipment is being refurbished and replaced amttgeneration programs are entering full
production.

Economic Factors Impacting Our Marke

Looking forward, we believe that our commercial keds will experience pressure from a global ecoratoiwnturn, but our unique and higl
engineered products, which are typically providewtigh long-term programs, will continue to be @nthnd. U.S. defense spending levels are
expected to continue to grow moderately, as evidety the Fiscal Year 2010 budget proposal subditté-ebruary which requests a 4%
increase. We expect the commercial aerospace marketain stable in the near-term, despite anredidelays in new program deliveries,
due to the long-term goal for more fuel efficieesns, a globally balanced order backlog, andntipeoved health of legacy U.S. airlines. We
expect continued demand in our energy marketseduley global nuclear power construction, as wethasfocus on resource independence
environmental issues.

General Economy

Many of our industrial businesses are driven igdapart by global economic growth, especially i thited States. In 2008, the U.S. econc
as measured by real gross domestic product (G2@arbto decline in the second half of the yeaectifig the onset of an economic recession
sparked by continued declines in the housing magketassive downward correction in the financiatkats, and dramatic swings in energy
prices. As a stabilizing mechanism, Congress edabt Treasury Department’s Troubled Asset Reliefflam (TARP) in late September as a
$700 billion fund to provide limited liquidity tdhe market as well as stabilize interest rates aitigate inflation risk. Despite the government
intervention, considerable softness in the 200%ewuc outlook remains, because of the severelyicest access to capital, volatile energy
prices which impact airline industry operationaiibility and energy capital spending projects, arakcline in industrial production and
capacity utilization rates. While our commerciasimesses will experience significant challengeth@éupcoming year, we believe the strong
position of our defense programs, substantial lacfdr our commercial nuclear power solutions aedlthy demand for commercial aircraft
deliveries in the near-term should generate stabtditable returns.

Defense

Approximately 36% of our business is in the miltaector, predominantly in the United States, dmatacterized by long-term programs and
contracts driven primarily by the U.S. DepartmeihbDefense (DoD) budgets and funding levels. In 2008. military spending levels, as
measured by the U.S. DoD funding, provided solmgh. The U.S. defense budget, a leading indioaftour defense market, grew
approximately 11% in 2008, including supplemengedreling of approximately $170 billion. We have dlsdésersified portfolio of products
and services that supply all branches of the Uiltany and also participate in several foreignitaily programs, although they do not repre:
a significant portion of our military business.

We are well positioned on many high performancensé platforms including: aircraft carriers, subimes, destroyers, and 8 Hornet for th
U.S. Navy; the U.S. Coast Guard Deepwater progthenF-16 Falcon, F-22
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Raptor, V-22 Osprey, and Unmanned Aerial Vehiclgpams, such as the Global Hawk, for the U.S. AircE; and the UH-60 Black Hawk,
AH-64 Apache, and CH-47 Chinook helicopters, theakiis Tank, the Bradley Fighting Vehicle, and theyl&tr for the U.S. Army. We also
provide a variety of products to non-U.S. militgmpgrams in Europe, the Asia Pacific region, theldi® East, South America, and Canada. In
addition, we are involved in many of the futureitaily systems that are currently in developmenthsas the F-35 JSF, P-8 Poseidon, the
Expeditionary Fighting Vehicle, the Future Combgs$t8m, the CVN aircraft carrier shipboard airctaétnching and arresting systems, the
Electromagnetic (EM) Gun program, and a next-gdimradvanced motor.

The Fiscal Year 2009 Defense bill continued ongatl toward funding two Virginia class submarines year by 2011. In addition, the U.S.
Navy awarded General Dynamics Electric Boat a $llidt contract for the construction of eight Virga-class submarines, reaffirming its
commitment to provide stability to the submarinegyam, its workforce, and supplier base for thet Wexade after achieving significant cost
and construction schedule reductions. This increesdted in an initial $114 million in orders fGurtiss-Wright from the U.S. Navy and
should generate a long-term revenue stream.

Building on the 2008 Defense bill requirement tlafuture U.S. Navy surface combatant ships bdeaugowered, the 2009 Defense
Authorization added amphibious ships to the listubfire ship classes which must be nuclear powengléss the U.S. Navy determines builc
additional nuclear ships is not feasible. Whiledeenot expect funding for nuclear powered surfddpssin any near-term budgets, this new
requirement sustains a viable option which coutoinately lead to an increase in nuclear-poweregdsstBupport for this provision stemmed
from anticipated fuel cost efficiency and enhangeability due to reduced requirements for refueliag well as improvement in design
efficiency and safety due to lower signature vigipiAs a preferred supplier to the U.S. Navy otlear propulsion equipment, additional
nuclear-powered ships could have a favorable impactur business. However, the timing and finaniomigact remain uncertain.

In defense aerospace, F-22 funding continues omitedl basis, but the new administration will makdefinitive decision on future production.
We anticipate incremental funding on programs aagthe F-35, Global Hawk, and P-8 as they tramsftiom development to production
programs, as well as strong demand for helicopsersh as the Black Hawk, Seahawk, and Night Hawk&h continue to be in high
utilization in both Iraq and Afghanistan.

There are now indications that the new Administrais looking carefully at defense spending anbissidering future reductions to address
growing deficits. In the near-term, however, thebgll war on terror, emerging security challengesiad the globe, and the need to replace
worn-out equipment make precipitous reductionskehyi. While DoD funding fluctuates year-by-year gmmdgram-by-program, the primary
risk facing us would be the termination of a nucle@gram, such as the aircraft carrier or subnearithough we monitor the budget process
as it relates to programs in which we participate cannot predict the ultimate impact of future DmlRigets.

Commercial Aerospace

Approximately 14% of our revenue is derived frora tlobal commercial aerospace market. Our primaeys in this market is Original
Equipment Manufacturer (OEM) products and servioegommercial jets. However, we have expandedtimoregional and business jet
sectors with new content on the Cessna, Embraér_earjet platforms, and we are providing incregsiontent to commercial helicopters. (
Motion Control segment primarily provides flightrdool and utility actuation systems, sensors, ahérmelectronics to Boeing as well as
electronic products to Airbus. Our Metal Treatmsegment forms all of the wing skins for Airbus &aft and also services highly stressed
components on turbine engines, landing gear, andaffi structures. Demand for our commercial aegiosproducts and services is primarily
driven by increased customer production leveldutting new platforms for both Boeing and Airbus;rieased demand for Sikorsky
helicopters, and our successful introduction of peeducts for existing programs.

Our commercial aerospace business is expectednaimestable in 2009 as we are well positioned bofahe commercial aerospace platforms
in production and development. The largest drifesus commercial aerospace business is OEM pahighais highly dependent on new
aircraft production. Industry data reported a 448¢licie in 2008 in commercial aircraft sales, priflyadtue to the significant volume of orders
already in backlog. Global airline traffic is anethndicator for longerm growth in the commercial aerospace industig, economic growth
one of the primary drivers of global airline traffiemand. Economic growth slowed in 2008 due tdtirgeoning financial crisis, and global
traffic in particular softened in 2008 due to ardadic rise in
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fuel prices during the first half of the year. Whénergy prices began to recede late in the yseaation of the financial crisis and its impact
on the global economy will likely result in slowaffic in 2009 as well. However, we expect to sekd orders in 2009, led by our strong
positions on commercial jet programs and the sicgnift backlogs for the production of new aircraftaddition, our diversification into
business, regional, and helicopter markets showldige expanded opportunities in our aerospacenkssi

Oil and Gas

Approximately 18% of our revenue is derived frora il and gas market. We provide critical-functi@lves, process vessels, and control
electronics to this market through our Flow Conse§iment as well as metal treatment services diiyhéfressed metal components. Our
significant portfolio of advanced technologies flois market includes integrated systems technatodgeeloped for secondary refining
processes such as delayed coking, catalytic crackimd hydrotreating, as well as a large portfofisafety-related valve technologies and
digital process control electronics, which provjetection throughout the entire refinery, as vaslin petrochemical and other processing
plants.

The most prevalent driver impacting this marketapital spending by refiners for maintenance, uggsacapacity expansion, safety
improvements, and compliance with environmentalil&ipns. Refiner profitability and global crudé piices in general will impact their
capital spending levels. In 2008, refining margirese negatively impacted by a dramatic rise ircogts, which was not offset by slower rising
costs for gasoline. While oil prices later plumnagtié was primarily due to a significant global eomic recession which in turn slowed
demand for energy.

The dramatic shift in oil prices in 2008 and théicipated near term impact on exploration, productiand refining markets, suggest weaker
demand in these markets in 2009. However, we lekelvase level of maintenance capital spending@slilt in continued demand for our
products, in particular for our pressure-reliefweatechnologies and field services, as refinergsodunistically service or upgrade equipment
which has been operating at full capacity in regeatrs. Additionally, globally environmental coneemill drive incremental spending to
comply with more stringent emissions standardsaliinas global dependence on natural resourcesspgroil exploration deepens, and
transport requirements widen, we anticipate aduti@pportunities to provide our flow control pratsito meet these challenges. While we
temper our outlook for the oil and gas market baged number of current market and geopoliticahéseve take a long term view that energy
and energy production, transmission, and consumptith continue to provide a foundation of econorsteength domestically.

Power Generatiol

Approximately 17% of our revenues are derived ftbencommercial nuclear power market, where we supplariety of highly engineered
products and services, including reactor coolantgm) control rod drive mechanisms, valves, motnms, bolting solutions through our Flow
Control segment. In addition, we are one of a smathber of companies which provides N-stamp qualitsurance certification necessary for
supplying nuclear plant equipment. Many of the cames that originally participated in the nucleawpr plant construction market years ago
have since exited this market.

Our strong growth in recent years is a result efthS. plant recertification process. Nearly altred 104 operating U.S. nuclsear power plants
have applied for or will be applying for plant liéxtensions, as they reach the end of their cud@tear operating lives. As of December 31,

2008, approximately 51 plants have received pléaektensions, applications from 17 additionanpahave been submitted and are pending
approval, and letters of intent to apply have tadimitted from 31 more plants with expected appiboasubmittal dates from December 2008
through August 2013.

In addition to plant recertifications, there argeval emerging factors that could precipitate goe@sion in commercial nuclear power demand
over the next several years. Continued growth avgl demand for electricity, especially in devefgpcountries with limited supply, will
require increased capacity. The Nuclear Energytinstforecasts that electricity demand will ingedy 1% annually through 2030. In orde
meet this projected demand the Department of Enestgnates that the United States must increastrieley production by 25%, which is the
equivalent of adding approximately 260 new 1,00@aveatt power plants. Nuclear power is the most esovcal source for generating
electricity. Instability in the world petroleum nkats, where we have seen unprecedented high odgrinave fostered support for seeking
alternative, economical fuel sources globally. Bhieralso increased attention to environmentakissand nuclear power has proven to have
minimal impact on the environment as compared ¢ontlajority of current sources. Finally, the U.Ss radicated that it wants to decrease its
dependence on foreign oil imports, which accouatsifore than half its current supply.
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The continued supply constraints and environmerttaterns attributed to the current dependence ssil floels have led to a reassessment of
the value of nuclear technology as the most efiiicégad environmentally friendly source of energgitable today. As a result, we expect
growth opportunities both domestically and inteiorzlly. Domestically, plant life extensions aregoing and applications for approximately
30 new power plants have been submitted to theeduétegulatory Commission (NRC). Thus far, the \Wghbuse AP1000 reactor design
been selected for 14 of the potential new reactus.Flow Control segment has significant contantiee AP1000 reactor, the only Generation
Il1+ advanced design certified by the Nuclear Ragply Commission. In May, we were awarded a cohtaprovide reactor coolant pumps
(RCPs) for three AP1000 power plants to be buithi United States.

Internationally, new nuclear plant constructiomésive. Currently there are approximately 40 neacters under construction, 100 more
planned, and another 270 proposed. In particulainaintends to expand its nuclear power capadslisignificantly through the construction of
new nuclear power plants over the next severalkydarSeptember 2007, we were awarded contracts\Wistinghouse Electric Company and
China’s State Nuclear Power Technology Corporaf@hPTC) to provide RCPs and associated technolagfotir AP1000 power plants to be
built in China. With these developments underway,Flow Control segment is well positioned to takivantage of the expansion in this
industry over the next decade.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared with YeaedEb@cember 31, 2007

For the year ended December 31, 2008, we recomiesbtidated net sales of $1,830 million and netiegs of $109 million, or $2.41 per
diluted share. Sales for 2008 increased 15% ov@T 2@les of $1,592 million. Net earnings for 200&éased 5% from 2007 net earnings of
$104 million, or $2.32 per diluted share.

The increase in revenues was driven mainly by mergal sales of $152 million, while our base busses contributed solid organic sales
growth of 6% in 2008, led by the Flow Control segnevhich grew organically by 9%, followed by ouwokbn Control and Metal Treatment
segments, which experienced organic sales grondl§énd 3%, respectively over 2007. See Note Bedonsolidated Financial Statements
for further information regarding acquisitions.

In our base businesses, higher sales to the paevnargtion and defense markets drove our orgares ggbwth, partially offset by lower sales
to the general industrial and oil and gas markdigher organic sales of $91 million to the powengmtion market were primarily driven by
our Flow Control segment as a result of a $75 arilincrease in sales for our next generation reactolant pumps for the AP1000 nuclear
reactors for China and the United States. Sal#setdefense markets increased $34 million, witheased sales to the ground and aerospace
defense markets of $21 million and $16 million pestively, driven primarily by our Motion Controkgment’s embedded computing products.
The increased sales to the ground defense matkétserimarily to content on the Bradley FightMehicle, driven by the Improved Bradley
Acquisition System (“IBAS”) program, while the irgases in sales to the aerospace defense marketsaiwdg due to increased demand for
our embedded computing products used in various Air§-orce and U.S. Army programs. Partially offsey these increases was a decline in
sales to the general industrial and oil and gaketsuof $11 million each. The decrease in salésageneral industrial market was driven by a
decline in demand for shot peening services in\detal Treatment segment resulting from depressks gathe automotive industry. The
decrease in the oil and gas market was due toag drethe timing of new order placement for our ealeheading systems and fluidic catalytic
cracking units in our Flow Control segment as altesf a significant hurricane season, which stawd or limited operations in a number of
refineries along the Gulf Coast, followed by tighitey of the financing markets and general econamoiitions during the fourth quarter. In
addition, foreign currency translation had an unfable impact on sales of $5 million in 2008 as parad to 2007.

Operating income for 2008 totaled $197 million,ilmerease of 10% from $179 million in 2007. Ovemtjanic operating income, which
includes non-segment corporate expenses, incré&dseaaver the prior period driven primarily by ounfl Control segment, which experienced
organic operating income growth of 26%. Our Mot@ontrol and Metal Treatment segments experiencganic operating income growth of
3% and 2%, respectively. In addition, 2008 opetaiimtome benefited from $3 million of incrementpkoating income from our 2007 and
2008 acquisitions, net of our 2008 divestiture.
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Overall operating income margins declined 60 bpsists to 10.7% in 2008 from 11.3% in the priory€ur base businesses experienced
11.4% organic operating income margins in 2008)evbiir 2007 and 2008 acquisitions experienced ¢ipgrancome margins of 3.1% during
the same time period. Operating margins for ouf728d 2008 acquisitions were negatively impactethbgntory purchase accounting
adjustments and intangible amortization expensé&wdenerally run higher in the earlier years. lm base businesses, the organic operating
income growth is primarily attributable to the higtsales volume noted above and better cost pesfozenand improved profitability on seve
long-term contracts. In addition, the 2007 costrnwes on fixed price development contracts forth®. Navy and competitively bid
development contracts did not recur in 2008. Péyrtidfsetting these favorable impacts were deli@ysertain commercial aerospace programs,
a write-off of deferred contract costs after reteiipa contract cancellation in the fourth quadER008, and a increase in our inventory reserve
due to the change in status of the Eclipse ban&yupt

Our organic selling, general, and administrativeteancreased by 11% in 2008, ahead of our orgeaiés growth of 6%. Organically, our
research and development costs were down $2 mili@®08 when compared to 2007, as we completedebign phase of the reactor coolant
pumps for the AP1000 nuclear reactors. Selling rgpe increased 5% organically, essentially inwite our organic sales growth for the
period. Overall, our 2008 general and administeatixpenses increased $58 million over 2007, prlyndte to incremental expenses of $27
million. The remaining $31 million increase repnetsean organic growth of 15%, resulting from higtadyor and benefit costs to support our
growing infrastructure. In addition, foreign curogrtranslation had a favorable impact on operaticgme of $2 million.

Interest expense was higher in 2008 compared t@ @08 to higher average outstanding debt assoaidthdhe funding of our acquisitions,
which was partially offset by a decrease in interates. Tax expense increased $10 million in 200the prior year included certain
nonrecurring tax benefits totaling $4 million.

Backlog at December 31, 2008 reached $1,679 mimnpared with $1,304 million at December 31, 2@0W $876 million at December 31,
2006. Acquisitions made during 2008 representedriillibn of the backlog at December 31, 2008. Nedeos received in 2008 totaled $2,232
million, which represents a 19% increase over 288# orders of $1,870 million and a 67% increase aes orders received in 2006.
Acquisitions made during 2007 and 2008 contrib@&tl9 million in incremental new orders receive@@98. In 2008, we received a $355
million award from Westinghouse for reactor coolpamps for three new AP1000 power plants to be doinestically. In addition, we
received new orders in our Flow Control segmentlierVirginia class submarine and aircraft carpiergrams and strong orders in our Motion
Control segment for embedded computing products.

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared with YeaedEB@cember 31, 2006

For the year ended December 31, 2007, we recomiezbtidated net sales of $1,592 million and netiegs of $104 million, or $2.32 per
diluted share. Sales for 2007 increased 24% ov@ 2@les of $1,282 million. Net earnings for 2003tréased 30% from 2006 net earnings of
$81 million, or $1.82 per diluted share.

The increase in revenues in 2007 was mainly drbyeaur base businesses, which experienced orgalgis growth of 13% in 2007, led by the
Motion Control segment, which grew organically 4, followed by our Flow Control and Metal Treatrheagments, which experienced
solid organic sales growth of 13% and 12%, respelsti over 2006. Additionally, sales in 2007 betefifrom our 2006 and 2007 acquisitions,
which contributed $142 million in incremental saile2007. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Finar8alements for further information
regarding acquisitions.

In our base businesses, higher commercial sal®toil and gas, commercial aerospace, and powmrgion markets drove our organic sales
growth in 2007. Organic sales to the oil and gasketdancreased $75 million, mainly due to demandoiar Flow Control coker valve product,
which continued to penetrate the market and gastoooer acceptance as the initial product instaltaticontinued to perform well. The
remaining increase resulted from strong saleshwdrotalves, actuators, and engineering and fieldees as the oil and gas market continue
increase capital spending to expand capacity apdowe plant efficiencies in 2007. Sales from owsebbusinesses to the commercial aeros
market increased $27 million in 2007 because obtrezall growth of the market, driven by increageoduction requirements from our
customers in our Motion Control and Metal Treatm&sgments and content on new programs in our M@&@immtrol segment. Organic sales to
the power generation market increased $11 millioainly due to higher sales of our flow control \edyfasteners, and engineering design and
support services resulting from the timing of réfshment cycles and plant outages.
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Our defense businesses provided stable growth ofvBBtcontributions from each of our markets: apexse, naval, and ground. The primary
driver was organic growth in the defense aerospactr, which increased $20 million in 2007. Thrket improvement was mainly due to

higher sales of our Motion Control's embedded cotimguproducts, which have gained additional masketre and benefited from a stronger
backlog. In addition, our flight control actuat@les increased due to increased spares, engineeriviges, and production requirements on
existing and new platforms. Lastly, foreign curngtranslation had a favorable impact on sales @fi@illion in 2007 as compared to 2006.

Operating income for 2007 totaled $179 million,ilacrease of 27% from $141 million in 2006. Ovemtjanic operating income growth,
which includes non-segment corporate expenses20sfor 2007 compared to the prior year. Strongresag growth was driven by our Metal
Treatment and Motion Control segments, which exgpexed organic growth of 19% and 18%, respectivel2007 as compared to 2006.
Organic operating income growth in our Flow Consegment was 5% in 2007. The 2006 and 2007 adguisitontributed $10 million of
incremental operating income during 2007.

In our base businesses, the 2007 organic operatiogne growth was primarily attributed to highelesavolume and cost reduction initiatives,
even though gross margins slipped from 33.6% t8%2The gross margin percentage decline occurredrifrlow Control and Motion Conti
segments and was mainly due to increased work eel@j@ment contracts and new programs, which amegdrat lower margins to capture
potential follow-on long-term production and spameders; cost overruns on certain development aotgtand new programs; and higher
material and other production costs on fixed-plicey-term contracts. Our overall operating incormargins were up 30 basis points to 11.3%
as lower non-segment operating expenses were lhadftset by lower operating segment margins. ghess margins from the higher sales
volume were further reduced by a 21% increase frooganic research and development expenses maitlin our Motion Control and Flow
Control segments. In our Motion Control segmertréased spending within our embedded computinghbasion new product development
and product enhancements drove the increase. Highearch and development costs within our Flowt@bsegment resulted from increased
investment in product development in our power gatien and oil and gas markets. Our organic sellgameral and administrative costs grew
just under 10% in 2007 as compared to 2006. Cdsict®n initiatives across all segments and théimein redundant expenses due to
creation of a shared service center resulted inatipg expense growth less than sales growth. Lowarsegment corporate expenses also
helped improve our operating margins. In 2006 weldished a $7 million litigation reserve at thenrsegment level that did not repeat in 2!
Pension expense related to the Curtiss-Wright perf@an was down slightly as certain one-time cos2006 did not repeat and this savings
was partially offset by increased service and egecosts mainly related to our acquisitions. Epreurrency translation had an unfavorable
impact on operating income of $3 million for 2067@mpared to 2006. Although foreign currency tietien had a favorable impact on sales
for the segment, the net impact to operating incarag unfavorable mainly due to the Canadian opmrathaving a significant amount of sales
denominated in U.S. dollars and operating cos@anadian dollars. Thus, changes in the foreigreowasr rates directly impact the operating
costs with no offsetting impact on sales.

We incurred higher interest expense in 2007 contper@006. The increase was due to higher averatgamding debt associated with the
funding of our acquisitions and accounted for agpnately 80% of the increase. The remaining incee@as due to higher interest rates. Our
average borrowing rate increased 20 basis poir2807 as compared to 2006 while our average outistgrilebt increased 16% for the
comparable periods. Net earnings in 2007 and 2@€l@ded certain nonrecurring tax benefits totafpdgmillion and $5 million, respectively.

Page 35




Segment Performance

We operate in three principal operating segmentherbasis of products and services offered an#tetmserved: Flow Control, Motion
Control, and Metal Treatment. See Note 16 to thesBhidated Financial Statements for further segrfiranhcial information. The following
table sets forth revenues, operating income, ojpgratargin, and the percentage changes on thass,ifer 2008 as compared with the prior
year periods, by operating segme

Year Ended December 31, Percent Changes
2008 2007
(In thousands, except percentages) 2008 2007 2006 vs. 2007 vs. 2006
Sales
Flow Contro $ 928,05: $ 746,25 $ 548,12: 24..% 36.1%
Motion Contro 638,06¢ 591,03 509,46: 8.C% 16.(%
Metal Treatmer 264,02( 254,83¢ 224 ,57: 3.€% 13.5%
Total Curtiss-Wright $ 1,830,14 $ 1,592,122 $ 1,282,15! 14.% 24.2%
Operating Income:
Flow Contro $ 97,21« $ 73,47¢ $ 60,54: 32.2% 21.4%
Motion Contro 65,53¢ 64,837 55,24: 1.1% 17.4%
Metal Treatmer 52,14: 50,88( 42,38¢ 2.5% 20.(%
Total Segmen 214,89¢ 189,19: 158,16¢ 13.€% 19.€%
Corporate & Othe (18,339 (20,009 (17,54 83.2% (42.<%)
Total Curtiss-Wright $  196,56. $ 179,18 $ 140,62 9.7% 27.%%
Operating Margins:
Flow Contro 10.5% 9.8% 11.(%
Motion Contro 10.2% 11.(% 10.€%
Metal Treatmer 19.7% 20.(% 18.€%
Total Segmen 11.7% 11.% 12.5%
Total Curtiss-Wright 10.7% 11.2% 11.(%

Flow Control

Sales for 2008 were $928 million, an increase @b2er 2007 sales of $746 million. The sales ineeemas achieved through organic sales
growth of 9%, and contributions from our 2007 asgions of Scientech, Valve Systems and Contrald, Benshaw which contributed $116

million. Organic sales growth was driven by an @ase in sales to the power generation market ofiiién, which was partially offset by a

decrease in sales to the oil and gas and defendetnaf $12 million and $5 million, respectively.

Higher organic sales to the power generation mawkeé primarily driven by increased sales of $78ioni for our next generation reactor
coolant pumps for the AP1000 nuclear reactors fin&€and the United States. The remaining incrgasales to the power generation market
resulted from higher demand for our engineeringises and fasteners products related mainly to f@aénce projects for nuclear power ple
that were driven by timing of refurbishment cyclesth scheduled and unscheduled plant outageshwhit vary in timing from period to
period. The decrease in sales to the oil and gakenegesulted from a delay in the timing of newerdlacement for our coke deheading
systems, fluidic catalytic cracking units, and hotdeating equipment due to a significant hurrica@ason, which shut down or limited
operations in a number of refineries along the @alést, followed by a tightening in the financingnkets and general economic conditions
during the fourth quarter. Partially offsettinggliiecrease in the oil and gas market was incredesednd for our traditional valve products,
engineering services, and field service work aimeeiles increased their capital spending and miaamtee expenditures.

Within our defense markets, we experienced a dedfirsales to the ground defense market of $4anillelated to the diversion of funds away
from the U.S. Army’s EM Gun program in support loé twar effort and a decline

Page 36




in sales of $1 million to the naval and other defemarkets. Lower sales to the U.S. Navy of maorsgenerators for submarines and aircraft
carriers related to a wind-down in the funded cacts as well as a delay in funding for developmesrk on the electro-magnetic launching
system were partially offset by higher productioorkvon the DDG 1000 Destroyer and an increase impgsuand instrumentation control
devices related to the timing of procurement cycles

Operating income for 2008 was $97 million, an iase of 32% as compared to $73 million for the spered last year. The improvement is
mainly driven by organic operating income growt26#6, while the 2007 acquisitions contributed $4iam in incremental operating income.
The increase in the operating income from the baseesses resulted from an increase in gross nsadgie to the higher sales volume noted
above and better cost performance and improvedtgiodity on several long-term contracts in theaild gas and power generation markets.
Additionally, the operating income of the prior yeeas adversely impacted by a $4 million loss ardiprice pump development contracts
with the U.S. Navy.

Overall operating income margins increased by &Ashaoints to 10.5% in 2008 from 9.8% in 2007. Phienary driver was the improved gross
margins noted above, as 2008 operating expens@sadiuo base business increased 9% over 2007, whishimline with our organic sales
growth. The segment benefited from reduced researdidevelopment costs of $4 million primarily asated with the AP1000 design
completion in 2007. This reduction was offset bgré@ased general and administrative costs assodidtiedhe growing infrastructure to supg
our strategic initiatives. In addition, foreign cemcy translation had a $1 million unfavorable ictpan the segmerg’operating income in 20(

Backlog at December 31, 2008 was $1,102 million garad with $776 million at December 31, 2007 an85¥illion at December 31, 2006.
New orders received for the Flow Control segmer2da8 totaled $1,262 million, representing an inasgzof 30% over 2007 new orders
$969 million and an increase of 131% over new ardeceived in 2006. The acquisitions made in 2@pitributed $100 million in incremental
new orders received in 2008. The majority of th@éase in new order for 2008 is related to $35%aniin new orders for our domestic AP
1000 award as compared to $293 million of new ardeceived in 2007. In addition, we received $114lan in new orders for the submarine
and aircraft carrier programs in 2008.

Sales for 2007 were $746 million, a 36% increasr @006 sales of $548 million. The sales increaae achieved through organic sales grc
of 13% and sales from our 2006 acquisitions of Briystems and Swantech and our 2007 acquisitio8siefitech, Valve Systems and
Controls, and Benshaw, which contributed $130 millin incremental revenue. The increase in orgsalies was driven by higher sales to the
oil and gas market of $77 million, higher saleshte power generation market of $7 million, parjiaffset by lower sales to the U.S. Navy of
$17 million.

High demand for our coker valves continued in 288The products continued to gain greater marlagance because our installed base
continued to perform well. Coker valve sales actedifior 44% of the oil and gas market sales graw®007. Additionally, in 2007 refineries
continued to increase capital spending to increapacity and improve plant efficiencies and perfonore service and maintenance to support
their current capacity. As a result, sales of dhepproducts and services to the oil and gas maskeh as valves, actuators, and aftermarket
field services were up $41 million over the prieripd. We also benefited from additional repaiverss resulting from increased Gulf Coast
turnaround business. Strong product demand fovalves, fasteners, and engineering design and supgrwices from U.S. nuclear power
plants drove the increased sales in the power ggoemarket versus 2006. Demand from nuclear pghatts was driven by the timing of
refurbishment cycles and both scheduled and unsébeglant outages, which varies in timing and edutuctuations from period to period.
Power generation revenues were driven by highessa#lvalves, spare parts, fasteners, and engigesupport services, which increased by
$10 million over 2006. In addition, we had $8 naitliof sales for our new AP1000 reactor coolant ptoripe used in future Chinese power
plants. These increases to the power generatioketnaere partially offset by lower sales of our wohrod drive mechanisms and other rea
coolant pumps of $10 million due to the wind downsmme larger contracts. The lower sales to the NaSy were driven by decreased
electromechanical generator and pump sales andwables of $30 million due to the timing of prauent cycle on new aircraft carriers and
submarines. Lower sales of $6 million for our Jfet5uel valves used on Nimitz-class aircraft casiand ball valves used on Virginia-class
submarines were caused by delayed funding for ttves@rograms as funds are being diverted to sugperwar efforts. Partially offsetting
these declines in 2007 were higher development ¥arrk.S. naval surface ships (DDX) and NAVSEA marg and production work on the
EMALS and AAG programs of $23 million. Sales to tHeS. Navy are dependent on Navy procurement badget are subject to fluctuations
due to timing of funding releases. In additiongign currency translation favorably impacted tligraent’s sales by $1 million in 2007
compared to 2006.
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Operating income for 2007 was $74 million, an iase of 21% over 2006 operating income of $61 nnillibhe base business operating inc
grew 5% organically for the full year ended Decentfs 2007, while the 2006 and 2007 acquisitionstp@ly impacted operating income by
$10 million in 2007 due to strong performance ia dil and gas and power generation markets. Thease in the operating income from the
base businesses resulted from higher sales volpamicularly from our coker valve and other valveducts and services to the oil and gas
market. Favorable sales mix from other remker valve products, and engineering servicebamil and gas market for maintenance, repair
overhaul services which were due to the continngdstment by worldwide refineries, also contribuiethe higher operating income. In
addition, we experienced improved operating perforoe in our consolidated TapcoEnpro businesswhith commenced its consolidation
process in 2006. In the power generation marketpparating income improved due to favorable saleswith our valve and fastener produ
and production efficiency improvements with our tohrod drive mechanisms, which experienced appnately $3 million of cost overruns
2006. This segment also received approximately #mof recovery from the U.S. Government for @wmental remediation costs, which
benefited operating income in 2007.

The overall operating margin for this segment desed 120 basis points in 2007 versus the priorpge@od. The lower overall margins
resulted mainly from cost overruns on fixed-priceelopment contracts. We experienced a loss aiiibn on pump development contracts
with the U.S Navy for three newly designed pumpbdaised on CVN aircraft carriers. The other mass Idevelopment contract was for first
time design airlock doors to be used in Chineséean@ower plants. Coupled with these overruns \égker material, transportation, and
fabrication costs, particularly within the fixediqe coker valve contracts in the oil and gas mavkdditionally, this segment’s operating
margin was impacted by the continued investmettiéndevelopment of new commercial (mainly in oiflayas and power generation) and
military technologies which resulted in an increafeesearch and development costs of nearly $fBomis compared to the prior year, net of
reimbursements under joint projects with custom®@edling and administrative costs were up 17% adiggly in 2007, driven by increased
infrastructure costs incurred to support our orggmowth. In addition, foreign currency translatiomfavorably impacted operating income by
$2 million in 2007 as compared to 2006.

Motion Control

Our Motion Control segment reported sales of $68Bom for 2008, an 8% increase over 2007 sale$5%1 million. The sales increase was
achieved through organic sales growth of 4% antkimental revenue of $23 million. The increase gaaoic sales was driven mainly by higher
sales to the government in the ground and aerosjefease markets of $25 million and $14 milliorspectively. This was partially offset by
lower sales to the general industrial and commkagieospace markets of $4 million and $2 millicespectively.

Ground defense product sales were driven primasilhigher sales of embedded computing producttaftdes and light armored vehicles.
Upgrades on the Bradley Fighting Vehicle platforme@uinted for the majority of our sales increaseyaexperienced additional volume on the
IBAS program, while the remaining increase was tugigher sales on the TOW Improved Target AcquisiBystem, the amphibious
Expeditionary Fighting Vehicle, and the Armored @#y Vehicle programs. These increases were plgrtoéfset by reductions in ground
vehicle subsystems for the Future Combat Systethmsimiprovement in the aerospace defense markemnaasdy due to increased demand on
various U.S. Air Force and U.S. Army programs, sasthe F-22 Raptor, Global Hawk unmanned aeriaicles F-35 JSF, V-22 Osprey, F-16
Falcon, and various helicopter programs. Our embgdomputing products account for the majorityhef increase as our COTS market
continues to be strong, and our ability to offeanplete embedded computing solution has contribiat¢his increasing demand. The decline
in sales to the general industrial market was eel&d lower demand for our fuel control valves witthe engineered systems division, while
lower revenues in the commercial aerospace mar&et due to a realignment of production effortstenEclipse program. In addition, foreign
currency translation unfavorably impacted sale$bynillion as compared to the prior year period.

Operating income for 2008 was $66 million, an iase of 1% over 2007 operating income of $65 mill@rganic operating income growth
was 3%, while incremental operating income wasgatiee $1 million, primarily due to the lost openatincome of this segment’s 2008
divestiture and minimal contribution from our 20&7d 2008 acquisitions resulting from inventory fage accounting adjustments and
amortization expense, which generally run higheh@early periods of ownership. The increase imghgmens organic operating income v
driven by favorable foreign currency translatiomieh contributed $3 million. Although foreign cuney translation had an unfavorable impact
on sales for this segment, the net impact to ojpgyatcome was favorable mainly due to the Canadjzerations having a significant amount
of sales denominated in U.S. dollars and operatisgs in Canadian dollars. Thus, changes in theddgorcurrency rates directly impact the
operating costs with no offsetting impact on salé® remaining organic operating income growth dexsved primarily from the higher sales
volume noted above.
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Overall, this segment’s operating income margingelesed 70 basis points from 11.0% in 2007 to 10r82008. Excluding the favorable
impact of foreign currency translation and theinetemental operating loss, our operating margewdided 70 basis points from 10.9% in 2!
to 10.2% in 2008. Gross margin percentages remaisgehntially flat year over year, as margins im 2108 and 2007 were negatively
impacted by certain key events. In 2008, we expegd lower margins due to delays in commercialsgEoe programs such as the Eclipse
Boeing 700 series platforms, a writé-of deferred contract costs after receipt obatcact cancellation in the fourth quarter of 20d8rease i
inventory reserve due to a change in status otipse bankruptcy, and continued investment irettggment programs which carry lower
margins than our recurring business. In 2007, layvess margins were primarily the result of higtlevelopment work on key programs with
major suppliers, competitively bid contracts tophe$ gain entry into several new programs and nigrikked higher material and freight costs.
Operating expenses remained essentially flat @ @eptage of sales as higher legal costs relatad tmgoing litigation and increased bad ¢
expense associated with the Eclipse bankruptcy pentéally offset by cost reduction initiatives itemented through shared service centers.

Backlog at December 31, 2008, was $575 million carag with $526 million at December 31, 2007, an8%#hillion at December 31, 2006.

Acquisitions made during 2008 represented $15 anilbf the backlog at December 31, 2008. New ordersived in 2008 totaled $706 millic

up 9% over the 2007 new orders of $646 million ar&®5% increase over new orders received in 200&hwikas primarily a result of contract
wins for our embedded computing products. Increadergw orders accounted for $18 million of the ltotarease for 2008.

Our Motion Control segment reported sales of $54liom for 2007, a 16% increase over 2006 sale$5#0 million. The sales increase was
achieved mainly through organic sales growth of ¥ a partial-year sales contribution relateduo207 acquisition, IMC Magnetics,
which added $8 million of incremental revenue. Twease in organic sales was driven mainly by ériglales to the naval defense market of
$25 million, higher sales to the commercial aerospaarket of $19 million, higher sales to the apase defense market of $19 million, and
higher sales to the ground defense market of $Eomil

The naval defense market improvement was due teehigales of embedded computing products of apmibelly $15 million used on various
radar, processing, distribution, and display systamd related electronic communication devicesasious naval platforms. Additionally, we
had increased revenues for our shipboard helictytedling and door systems, higher spares, and rapa overhaul work, the total of which
increased $8 million in 2007. This improvement \wastially offset by lower revenue for our marindatese sonar products. The aerospace
defense market improvement was mainly due to irse@aemand for our embedded computing productsarsedrious U.S. Air Force and
U.S. Army programs, such as the F-15, F-16, F-3& Ririke Fighter Lightning Il, helicopters, andraanned aircraft systems. These
embedded computing products accounted for the ihaufrthe market increase. The COTS market comtinto be strong, and our ability to
offer a complete embedded computing solution hasribmited to this continuing improvement. The remirag change was due to higher sale
our actuation, air data, and flight recorder prag@and engineering services. This improvement wiggl by higher production ship-set work
on the V-22, F-22, F-18, and Blackhawk programslagtier spares for the Blackhawk an@Fprograms, partially offset by the wind down
our F-16 contracts. Our ground defense market teveras up slightly in 2007 as the higher salesuofgoound vehicles subsystems for the
Future Combat System were partially offset by réidns of additional spares and resets for the Bsaflighting Vehicle, as well as delays in
production orders for the Armored Security Vehicle.

The growth in the commercial aerospace market wiasrlargely by increased OEM sales of $9 millfonour actuation systems used on the
Boeing 700 series platforms, as assemblies that veenping up in 2006 entered full-production rate®007. New programs in 2007, such as
the cargo door system and aft struts for the 78gnam and trailing edge actuation systems useti®@37 series, also contributed to this
market growth. The remaining increase of approxétye$7 million in this market was driven by stroingernational orders for our flight data
recorders, other integrated sensors and comporsentke detection devices, and rotary ice protedjymtems. This improvement can be
attributed to new customer programs, expansiorxisfiag product lines, gaining market share frormpetitors, and new product offerings i
the regional jet markets, such as the EclipseafirdiVe also experienced an increase in the geimetastrial market resulting from the overh
of tilting train drives program in our Europeantumihich began in 2006 and reached normal antieglvels in 2007. In addition, higher se
of controllers, transformers, faders, and senshrs,to generally strong economic conditions inEbeopean manufacturing industry,
contributed to this market improvement. Commeraglospace aftermarket sales and repair and ovesbauites remained flat year-over-year.
Foreign currency translation favorably impacteeésdly $8 million as compared to the prior yearqukri
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Operating income for 2007 was $65 million, an iase of 17% over 2006 operating income of $55 mmiJlEll of which was organic. Our 2007
acquisition, IMC Magnetics, experienced a sliglssldue to purchase accounting adjustments andheytof new orders. The increase in
operating income for the base business was driydrigher sales volume, cost reduction initiativesd production efficiencies, mainly within
our embedded computing, naval defense, and Eurdpesgrated sensing businesses. This segment’s graggins were essentially flat year-
over-year as these improvements were offset byrdgness margins in both the commercial and defarsespace markets driven by higher
development work on key programs with major suppland investments in new programs, both of wharnydower margins. We also realiz
lower margins from the ground defense market agldgment work on the Future Combat System was cttivedy bid to gain entry into this
program. In addition, we recorded losses on devedy contracts within our embedded computing bssires we endeavor to gain entry into
several new market segments. Lastly, this segmastalso negatively impacted by higher materialfagidht costs in 2007.

This segment’s operating income margins were gh#i in 2007 as compared to 2006. We continuedoperating cost reduction initiatives
throughout the segment, which resulted in cost grdass than the sales rates. Shared service semee developed to reduce redundant
operations, resulting in lower operating costs beiter efficiencies. Research and development esqzeim 2007 grew by 25% over 2006 as
work moved from product support to new developménir embedded computing business drove the inceesaaaesult of increased spending
and additional headcount to support new strategfiafives. In addition, foreign currency transtetiunfavorably impacted operating income
$4 million in 2007 as compared to 2006.

Metal Treatmen

Our Metal Treatment segment reported sales of $&@fi®n in 2008, an increase of 4% over 2007 sale$255 million. The sales growth was
predominately organic and driven by increased saled of the segment’s major markets except figr general industrial market. Sales to the
commercial aerospace market drove the organic groxth a $9 million increase over the prior yearipeé followed by increased sales to the
power generation market of $4 million. In additidne aerospace defense and oil and gas marketseattbuted $2 million to the year-over-
year sales growth of the segment. The higher salt®e commercial aerospace market was driven dgiyenidemand for our European s
peening and North American coatings services to ®ENe to increased production requirements. Salégtpower generation market were
higher than the prior year due to a shot peeningldpment project and increased demand for our figan shot peening services in that
market. The increased sales to the aerospace dedadil and gas markets were driven by higherashehfior our North American and
European shot peening services, respectively. Thass increases were partially offset by a saefiree of $11 million to the automotive
market as a result of depressed sales in the ipddste decline was most prominent in our North Aicen shot peening business. In addition,
foreign currency translation had an unfavorabledotpn 2008 sales of $2 million when compared @720

Operating income for 2008 increased 2% to $52 amlfrom $51 million in 2007. The growth in operatimcome was mostly organic and due
primarily to the higher sales volume and highergiras generated by the shot peening developmerggir@pverall, this segment’s operating
margin decreased 30 basis points to 19.7% primduéy/to unfavorable foreign currency translatio$bdimillion. Excluding the unfavorable
foreign currency translation impact, 2008 operatmaygins were flat as compared to 2007. A slighgrimmement in gross margin was partially
offset by higher operating expenses. The improvenmegross margin was the result of favorable salesand productivity gains, partially
offset by increased labor costs and start up @sssciated with opening new facilities in Aust@éjna, and Spain. The operating expense
increase was primarily due to increased labor dosssipport the growth of the business.

Our Metal Treatment segment reported sales of $@8®n in 2007, an increase of 14% over 2006 sales225 million. Organic sales growth
of 12% contributed $26 million to the increase @02, while our 2006 acquisition of Allegheny Cogsrcontributed $4 million of incremental
revenue. The segment experienced organic salegtgiowll of its major markets and primary servidéerings during 2007, with increased
sales to the commercial aerospace and defense taflk&l1 million and $4 million, respectively ov006. Sales to the general industrial, oil
and gas, and power generation markets combineghfadditional $11 million in revenue during 2007campared to 2006. During 2007, sales
to the commercial aerospace market grew in eaduioimajor service lines due to higher productiaquieements of OEM manufacturers,
primarily shot peen forming services on wing comgras on the Airbus and Boeing families of aircreftatings services for engine
components on Boeing aircraft, and other shot agérlpeening, coating, finishing, and heat treagergices for various OEMs. Defense sales
increased in 2007 primarily from defense aerospeagairements due to the ongoing war on terror.0d72 the remaining increases over our
major markets occurred primarily in the Europeamkets, as the domestic market continued to soéispecially the automotive segment of
general
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industrial market. In addition, foreign currencgrislation had a favorable impact on sales of $8amiln 2007 compared to 2006.

Operating income for 2007 increased 20% to $5lianiirom $42 million during 2006, mainly due to hiy sales volume. Organic growth was
19%, while the 2006 acquisition generated increalesgerating income of $1 million during 2007. Caderour operating income margin for
2007 improved 110 basis points mainly as a regultareases in both gross margins and lower opegatbsts as a percentage of sales. The
improved gross margin of 60 basis points was dtre§the higher sales volume covering our fixeegdhead costs. Total operating expense
2007 increased approximately 10% over 2006 bufmkstias a percentage of sales by 50 basis poimtsigh currency translation had a
favorable impact of $3 million on operating income007 compared to 2006.

Corporate and Other Expenses

Non-segment operating costs consist mainly of pensimense associated with the Curtiss-Wright PerBians, environmental remediation
and administrative expenses, unallocated medics@ssociated with the pooling of self-insurarests; net foreign transaction gains/losses,
and other income and expense not directly assacwith the ongoing performance of the segmentshétenon-segment operating costs of
$18 million, $10 million, and $18 million in 2008007, and 2006, respectively.

Pension expense associated with the Curtiss-WFHghsion Plans was $8 million, $6 million, and $diori in 2008, 2007, and 2006,
respectively. The 2006 pension expense includesdtiesment charge resulting from the retirement kéy executive and his election to receive
his pension benefit as a single lump sum payoutspedial termination benefits offered for a limifgetiod of time to certain employees in the
Motion Control segment who were subject to a reidadn workforce. These two items totaled $2 milliccxcluding these one-time benefit
charges, the increasing pension expense over e ylear period was due to increased service @kt costs mainly resulting from our
acquisitions, as well as higher service cost.

Net foreign exchange transaction losses amount88 taillion, $3 million, and $1 million in 2008, 2@, and 2006, respectively. The hig|

2008 loss was primarily due to a forward curremeypsaction to provide downside protection of thehgaurchase price for the VMETRO
acquisition. As a result of this transaction arel dlgnificant strengthening of the U.S. dollar thalbsequently occurred, we realized a net cash
savings and reduction in the purchase price ofapmately $4 million and $7 million, respectivefyom the offer date and recorded a pretax
charge of $3 million during 2008. Unallocated medlimosts associated with our self-insurance plare®2 million higher in 2008 than 2007
and $3 million lower than 2006. Litigation reserwvesre $2 million, $1 million, and $7 million in 2802007, and 2006, respectively. In 2006,
we established a litigation reserve in the amo@i®Zamillion to reflect potential liabilities arisg from a jury verdict returned against us in a
lawsuit filed by a former employee.

Interest Expens

Interest expense increased $2 million in 2008 coepto 2007. The increase was due to higher averaanding debt associated with the
funding of our acquisitions, partially offset bylacrease in our average borrowing interest rate a@erage outstanding debt increased 21% in
2008 as compared to 2007, while our average bongwate decreased 80 basis points year over ygarekt expense in 2007 increased $4
million from 2006 due to higher average debt levelsich accounted for approximately 80% of the éase, associated with the funding of our
acquisitions. The remaining change in 2007 wastdwstightly higher interest rates. Our average twoing rate increased 20 basis points in
2007 as compared to 2006, while our average oulistgriebt increased 16% as compared to prior year.
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Provision for Income Taxe

Our effective tax rates for 2008, 2007, and 2006 ,35.3%, 32.3%, and 31.5%, respectively. Our 2@ tive tax rate represents a normal
blend of our effective income tax rates acrossghoipal operations and did not include any significdax benefits. Our 2007 effective tax rate
included tax benefits of $4 million, including $3lon related to the tax law changes in Canada,Uhited Kingdom, and Germany, and
research and development credits from our U.K.atpars of $1 million. Our 2006 effective tax rateluded tax benefits of $5 million
including $2 million relating to research and deyshent credits from our Canadian operations, ttpaghof a Canadian tax law change
enacted during the second quarter of 2006, whistlted in a $2 million favorable adjustment, anel thlease of a tax reserve associated with
the sale of a former facility following the expiiat of the statute of limitations, which resulteda $2 million favorable adjustment, net of tax.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources and Uses of Cash

We derive the majority of our operating cash inflfsam receipts on the sale of goods and servicdsash outflow for the procurement of
materials and labor; cash flow is therefore sutfieeharket fluctuations and conditions. A substrgortion of our business is in the defense
sector, which is characterized by long-term congradost of our long-term contracts allow for sedsilling points (progress or milestone)
that provide us with cash receipts as costs argried throughout the project rather than upon eatttompletion, thereby reducing working
capital requirements. In some cases, these payroantsxceed the costs incurred on a project.

Operating Activities

Our working capital was $350 million at December 3008, a decrease of $10 million from the workiagital at December 31, 2007 of $360
million. Our ratio of current assets to currenbliies was 1.8 to 1 at December 31, 2008 andd Pat December 31, 2007. Cash and cash
equivalents totaled $61 million in the aggregatBetember 31, 2008, down from $67 million at Decen®i, 2007. Excluding the impact of
cash and the working capital changes due to ouwisitigns and disposition, our working capital ieased $15 million due to increases in
inventory and receivables, offset by an increas#eiierred income payments. The inventory increagge the result of delayed customer
shipments and the stocking of long lead materiabfo long-term contracts. Accounts receivablegéased due to higher sales volume as sales
in December 2008 were higher than December 200&s@ Increases were partially offset by an increadeferred income mainly due to
advance payments received from Westinghouse refatde AP 1000 program.

Our short-term debt was $3 million at December28)8 and $1 million at December 31, 2007. Our l&1ga debt was $513 million at
December 31, 2008, an increase of $2 million fromlalance at December 31, 2007. The modest irccddsng-term debt is primarily due to
funds borrowed to purchase VMETRO and Parylenei@g&ervices offset by cash generated during 2D@§s sales outstanding at Decen
31, 2008 improved to 49 days from 51 days at Deeer@h, 2007, while inventory turnover improved t6 &urns at December 31, 2008 as
compared to 5.3 turns at December 31, 2007.

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $67 million énattigregate at December 31, 2007, down from $1R®mat December 31, 2006. Excludi
the impact on cash, working capital increased $8fom primarily due to the 2007 acquisitions. Tremainder of the increase during 2007
driven mainly by increases in inventory balancea assult of a build up for expected increasesiassin 2008, the stocking of material for r
programs, increased deferred contract costs, dilaystomer shipments and milestone billings, agtidr material costs. We also procured
additional material to hedge against rising steiels and the stocking of long lead material far long-term contracts. Accounts receivable
increased in 2007 due to higher sales volume,las BaDecember 2007 were 22% higher than Dece2i@8, the timing of milestone billing
and an increase in DSO, partially offset by stroaliection efforts of receivables from certain lafgrojects. These increases were partially
offset at that time by an increase in deferredimeanainly due to advance payments received frontiwggmuse related to the AP1000
program and higher advance payments from our dilgas customers. We also experienced an increaseaunts payable and accrued
expenses associated with the build-up of invendaaied higher accrued compensation.
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Investing Activities

We have acquired forty businesses since 2001 gmeceto continue to seek acquisitions that areisterg with our long-term growth strategy.
A combination of cash resources, funds availableuour credit agreement, and proceeds from ouioSBiotes were utilized to fund our
acquisitions, net of dispositions, which totale® $4illion and $289 million in 2008 and 2007, respealy. As indicated in Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, some of ourisitigm agreements contain purchase price adjugsnsnch as potential earn-out payments
and working capital adjustments. During 2008, weeieed a net amount of $1 million in such paymeaelative to prior year acquisitions.
Additional acquisitions will depend, in part, oretavailability of financial resources at a costapital that meet our stringent criteria. As such,
future acquisitions, if any, may be funded throtigd use of our cash and cash equivalents, throdditi@nal financing available under the
credit agreement, or through new financing altéveat

Our capital expenditures were $104 million in 20884 million in 2007, and $40 million in 2006. Cegiexpenditures relate primarily to new
and replacement machinery and equipment, the ekgaosnew product lines within the business segmemnd new facilities. During 2008,
we continued expansion of our facilities, with eglaportion of our capital expenditures made tgsuipthe construction of reactor coolant
pumps for the AP1000 power plants.

Financing Activities

On August 10, 2007, the Corporation and certaiitscgubsidiaries amended and refinanced its egistiadit facility and entered into a Second
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (“Credit Agrent”). The proceeds available under the Credie@ent are to be used for working
capital, internal growth initiatives, funding oftéwe acquisitions, and general corporate purpddes Corporation’s available credit under the
credit facility increased from $400 million to $48%llion from a syndicate of banks, led by BankAoherica, N.A. and JP Morgan Chase B:
N.A. as the c-arrangement banks. The Credit Agreement also tengan accordion feature which can expand the dvweredit line to a
maximum aggregate amount of $600 million. The caism membership has remained relatively the sarhe.Credit Agreement extends the
maturity from July 23, 2009 to August 10, 2012waich time all amounts then outstanding under thed@ Agreement will be due and
payable. In addition, the Credit Agreement proviftesmproved pricing and more favorable covenantns, reduced facility fees, and
increased availability of the facility for letten$ credit. Borrowings under the Credit Agreemerdtiaterest at a floating rate based on market
conditions. In addition, our interest rate and lefdacility fees are dependent on certain finahcatio levels, as defined in the Credit
Agreement. We are subject to annual facility feeshe commitments under the Credit Agreement. hmeation with the Credit Agreement,
we paid customary transaction fees that have befamrdd and are being amortized over the termefedit Agreement. We are required
under the Credit Agreement to maintain certainrfgial ratios and meet certain financial tests,ntost restrictive of which is a debt to
capitalization limit of 60% and a cross defaultyston with our other senior indebtedness. The Eegreement does not contain any
subjective acceleration clauses. As of Decembe2@08, we were in compliance with all covenants laad the flexibility to issue additional
debt of approximately $731 million without exceeglthe covenant limit defined in the Credit Agreem&¥e would consider other financing
alternatives to maintain capital structure balame ensure compliance with all debt covenants. Wke#155 million and $152 million in
borrowings outstanding (excluding letters of creditder the Credit Agreement at December 31, 20@8Cecember 31, 2007, respectively.
The unused credit available under the Credit Agesgrat December 31, 2008 was $208 million. In lighthe recent economic conditions and
liquidity environment, and given the current vdigtiwithin the credit markets, many lenders havesented unattractive terms and conditions
by seeking more restrictive lending provisions aigher interest rates that may limit our borrowaapacity and increase our cost of
borrowing. However, the Corporation has evaluategasition and believes that its Credit Agreenveittt the bank consortium provides
sufficient short-term access to financing shouldaperating cash flows be insufficient to fund operations.

On December 1, 2005, we issued $150 million of &=enior Series Notes (the “2005 Notes”). Our 280%s mature on December 1, 2017
and are senior unsecured obligations, equal irt adgpayment to our existing senior indebtedness, &Y our option, can prepay at any time all
or any part of our 2005 Notes, subject to a makelgvpayment in accordance with the terms of theeNRatrchase Agreement. In connection
with our 2005 Notes, we paid customary fees thaelimeen deferred and are being amortized oveethe ¢f our 2005 Notes. We are required
under the Note Purchase Agreement to maintainioditencial ratios, the most restrictive of whiisha debt to capitalization limit of 60%. T
note also contains a cross default provision withather senior indebtedness. As of December 318,20e were in compliance with all
covenants.
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In November 2005, we unwound our interest rate sagagpements with notional amounts of $20 milliod 60 million, which were originally
put in place to convert a portion of our fixed est on the $75 million 5.13% Senior Notes and $1#bon 5.74% Senior Notes, respectively,
to variable rates based on specified spreads ovenenth LIBOR. The unwinding of these swap agreetaeesulted in a minimal net loss,
which has been deferred and is being amortized threeremaining term of the underlying debt.

On September 25, 2003 we issued $200 million of@eyotes (the “2003 Notes”). The 2003 Notes cansis$75 million of 5.13% Senior
Notes that mature on September 25, 2010 and $1#6muf 5.74% Senior Notes that mature on Septar@be 2013. Our 2003 Notes ¢

senior unsecured obligations and are equal in ofpayment to our existing senior indebtedness, &/eur option, can prepay at any time all
or any part of our 2003 Notes, subject to a makelgrpayment in accordance with the terms of theeNRatrchase Agreement. In connection
with our 2003 Notes, we paid customary fees thaelmeen deferred and are being amortized oveethestof the 2003 Notes. We are required
under the Note Purchase Agreement to maintainioditeancial ratios, the most restrictive of whiisha debt to capitalization limit of 60% and
a cross default provision with our other seniomibiggdness. As of December 31, 2008, we were in kange with all covenants.

Our industrial revenue bonds, which are collateegliby real estate, were $9 million at Decembe2808 and December 31, 2007. The loans
outstanding under the 2003 and 2005 Notes, RewpRirdit Agreement, and Industrial Revenue Bondkvaaiable interest rates averaging
4.81% for 2008 and 5.58% for 2007.

Future Commitment

Cash generated from operations, which includesdstgayments of approximately $30 million to $3iliom, estimated income tax payments
of approximately $60 million to $70 million, andditional working capital requirements should besidared adequate to meet our planned
capital expenditures of approximately $95 milliorh105 million and expected dividend payments g@irapimately $15 million. Additionally,
we are committed to potential earn-out paymentthoege of our acquisitions dating back to 2001 amdeguired earn-out payment assumed
with the purchase of VMETRO, which are estimatetadetween approximately $12 million and $14 willin 2009. There can be no
assurance, however, that we will continue to gdeearash flow at the current level. If cash generéitem operations is not sufficient to support
these operating requirements and investing a&#jitive may be required to reduce capital expemdituefinance a portion of our existing d

or obtain additional financing.

In 2009, our capital expenditures are expecteddlude the construction of new facilities, expansib facilities to accommodate new product
lines, and new and replacement machinery and eauipm

The following table quantifies our significant fuéucontractual obligations and commercial committaes of December 31, 2008:

(In thousands) Total 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter
Debt Principal Repayment® $516,74: $ 3,24¢ $ 7506 $ 68 $154,57( $125,07: $158,71¢
Interest Payments on Fixed Rate D 114,29: 19,28¢ 18,25« 15,44( 15,44( 13,51« 32,35¢
Operating Lease 122,04: 22,67: 20,07¢ 18,31: 14,46¢ 12,17¢ 34,33¢

Total $753,07¢ $ 45,20¢ $113,39¢ $ 33,82. $184,47t $150,76. $22541:

W Amounts exclude a $0.1 million adjustment to thevalue of long-term debt relating to the Corparats interest rate swap

agreements that were settled in cash during 2

We do not have material purchase obligations. Mbsur raw material purchase commitments are magetty pursuant to specific contract
requirements.
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We enter into standby letters of credit agreemantsguarantees with financial institutions and @ugrs primarily relating to guarantees of

repayment on our Industrial Revenue Bonds, futeréopmance on certain contracts to provide prodantsservices, and to secure advance
payments we have received from certain internationstomers. At December 31, 2008, we had continliggilities on outstanding letters of
credit due as follows:

(In thousands) Total 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter @)

Letters of Credi $ 6251 $ 2824: $ 6541 $ 2,766 $ 414 $ 77z $ 23,78(

@ Amounts indicated as thereafter are letters ofitreldich expire during the revolving credit agreernterm, but will

automatically renew on the date of expiration.ddition, amounts exclude bank guarantees of apprately $5 million.
Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies

Our consolidated financial statements and acconipgmpotes are prepared in accordance with genesatigpted accounting principles in the
United States of America. Preparing consolidatedrfcial statements requires us to make estimateassumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and esggiThese estimates and assumptions are affgctad hpplication of our accounting polici
Critical accounting policies are those that reqaipelication of managemeastmost difficult, subjective, or complex judgmerafien as a resu
of the need to make estimates about the effeatsatters that are inherently uncertain and may chamgubsequent periods. We believe that
the following are some of the more critical judgrhareas in the application of our accounting peBdhat affect our financial condition and
results of operations:

Revenue Recognitic

The realization of revenue refers to the timingt®fecognition in our accounts and is generallysidered realized or realizable and earned
when the earnings process is substantially compledeall of the following criteria are met: 1) paasive evidence of an arrangement exists; 2)
delivery has occurred or services have been redg8jeur price to our customer is fixed or deteratile; and 4) collectability is reasonably
assured.

We record sales and related profits on producti@hservice type contracts as units are shippedit@and risk of loss have transferred or as
services are rendered. This method is used in @ialM reatment segment and in some of the busurésswithin the Motion Control and
Flow Control segments that serve non-military megke

For certain contracts in our Flow Control and Moti@ontrol segments that require performance ovexxéended period before deliveries
begin, sales and estimated profits are recordeapplying the percentage-of-completion method obaoting. The percentage-of-completion
method of accounting is used primarily for our aeke contracts and certain long-term commercialrectd. This method recognizes revenue
and profit as the contracts progress towards cdiopleFor certain contracts that contain a sigaificnumber of performance milestones, as
defined by the customer, sales are recorded bgsmedachievement of these performance milestonesp&hformance milestone method is an
output measure of progress towards completion rimatsgms of results achieved. For certain fixed@ontracts, where none or a limited
number of milestones exist, the cost-to-cost metbased, which is an input measure of progresstdwompletion. Under the cost-to-cost
input method, sales and profits are recorded baseble ratio of costs incurred to an estimate stxat completion. Under our percentage-of-
completion methods of accounting, a single estith&d&al profit margin is used to recognize prodit €ach contract over its entire period of
performance.

Application of percentage-of-completion methodsexMenue recognition requires the use of reasoratdalependable estimates of the future
material, labor, and overhead costs that will lmelired and a disciplined cost estimating systemhich all functions of the business are
integrally involved. These estimates are determbeesbd upon industry knowledge and experience oégineers, project managers, and
financial staff. These estimates are significamt saflect changes in cost and operating performé#moaighout the contract and could have a
significant impact on our operating performancejustiments to original estimates for contract rewerastimated costs at completion, and the
estimated total profit are often required as wadgpesses throughout the contract and as experamtenore information is obtained, even
though the scope of work under the contract maychahge. These changes are recorded on a cumlasi®in the period they are determ
to be necessary.
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Under the percentage-of-completion method of actiegnprovisions for estimated losses on uncomgletantracts are recognized in the
period in which the likelihood of such losses aetedmined. However, future costs associated wisttscdeferred in anticipation of future
contract sales and certain loss development cdstnaay be deferred if follow-on production orders deemed probable. Amounts
representing contract change orders are includegvienue only when they can be estimated reliabtiytheir realization is reasonably assured.
Certain contracts contain provisions for the regeteation of price and, as such, management defpration of the revenue from those
contracts until such time as the price has beelified.

Some of our customers withhold certain amounts fileenbillings they receive. These retainages aneigdly not due until the project has been
completed and accepted by the customer.

Inventory

Inventory costs include materials, direct labod anrchasing and manufacturing overhead costs,hadrie stated at the lower of cost or mal
where market is limited to the net realizable vale estimate the net realizable value of our itmees and establish reserves to reduce the
carrying amount of these inventories to net reblza&alue, as necessary. We continually evaluaadequacy of the inventory reserves by
reviewing historical scrap rates, on-hand quastiéie compared with historical and projected usageld, and other anticipated contractual
requirements. The stated inventory costs are afective of the estimates used in applying the@etage-of-completion revenue recognition
method.

We purchase materials for the manufacture of coraptafor sale. The decision to purchase a set iyafta particular item is influenced by
several factors including: current and projectddeprfuture estimated availability, existing andjpcted contracts to produce certain items, and
the estimated needs for our businesses.

For certain of our long-term contracts, we utilregress billings, which represent amounts bileedustomers prior to the delivery of goods
and services and are recorded as a reduction émtomy and receivables. Amounts are first appleedrtbilled receivables and any remainder is
then applied to inventory. Progress billings areegeally based on costs incurred, including dirests, overhead, and general and
administrative costs.

Pension and Other Postretirement Bene

In consultation with our actuaries, we determiredppropriate assumptions for use in determiniedi#bility for future pension and other
postretirement benefits. The most significant efséhassumptions include the number of employeesmithieceive benefits, their tenure, their
salary levels, the expected return on plan asttetgjiscount rates used to determine plan obligatiand the trends in the costs of medical and
other health care benefits in the case of the ptitment benefit obligations. Changes in theseraptions, if significant in future years, may
have an effect on our pension and postretiremererese, associated pension and postretirement asgklisibilities, and our annual cash
requirements to fund these plans.

The discount rate used to determine the benefigatibns of the plans as of December 31, 2008 t@@nnual periodic costs for 2008
remained at 6.0% for all the U.S. pension planstaetEMD postretirement benefit plan to reflectreat economic conditions. The rate refle
the hypothetical rate at which the projected bemdfiigations could be effectively settled or paidt to participants on that date. We determ
our discount rate based on a range of factors,diry) the rates of return on high-quality, fixed@éme corporate bonds available at the
measurement date and the related expected dufatitime obligations. The discount rate for the @sHWright postretirement benefit plan
increased to 6.0% in 2008 to better reflect curemanomic conditions. This change caused a dectedke benefit obligation. The rate of
compensation increase for the pension plans rem@iné.0% which reflects the experience over trst paars and the Corporation’s
expectation of future salary increases. We aldizedi the RP 2000 mortality tables for the U.S.g9en and postretirement benefit plans.

The overall expected return on assets assumptioasisd on a combination of historical performarfdh® pension fund and expectations of
future performance. The historical returns aremeitged using the market-related value of assetg;wik the same value used in the
calculation of annual net periodic benefit coste Tinarket-related value of assets includes the retiog of realized and unrealized gains and
losses over a five-year period, which effectivelgrages the volatility associated with the actwafgrmance of the plan’s assets from year to
year. Over the last ten years the me-related value of assets had an average annudlgfié.9%, whereas the actual returns averaged 3.4%
during the same period. These averages were signify impacted by 2008 underperformance. Expeftienle performance is determined by
weighting the expected returns for each
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asset class by the plan’s asset allocation. Theatep returns are based on long-term capital madsatmptions utilizing a ten-year time
horizon. We have consistently used the 8.5% ratelasg-term overall average return, and althobghfinancial markets underperformed in
2008, we consider the 8.5% rate to be a reasomablemption of the future long-term investment regur

The long-term medical trend assumptions start witlurrent rate that is in line with expectationstfee near future. It then grades the rates
down over time until it reaches an ultimate rata {b close to expectations for growth in GDP. Téesoning is that medical trends cannot
continue to be higher than the rate of GDP growtthe long term. Any change in the expectatiorheké rates to return to a normal level
should have an impact on the amount of expenseeagnize.

The timing and amount of future pension incomexgremse to be recognized each year is dependeheatetmographics and expected earr
of the plan participants, the expected interestsrat effect in future years, and the actual aqeeted investment returns of the assets in the
pension trust.

Given the current economic environment and the @hpa the financial markets, the funded statusunfdmmestic qualified pension plan was
reduced by $146 million. This decline has expeditedfuture cash funding requirements and increaseduture pension expense. We expect
to contribute approximately $130 million to thisaplover a four year period beginning in 2010. Aiddilly, we expect the pension expense
associated with this plan to increase in 2009 byn@Ron to $13 million.

The following table reflects the impact of changeselected assumptions used to determine the €usid¢us of the Corporation’s pension
plans as of December 31, 2008 (in thousands, efaepercentage point change):

Increase in

Percentage Benefit Increase in
Assumption Point Change Obligation Expense
Discount rate (0.25%) $ 10,79¢ $ 72€
Rate of compensation incree 0.25% 2,95¢ 544
Expected return on asst (0.25%) — 89C

See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statesrfenfurther information on our pension and pdg&enent plans, including an estimate of
future cash contributions.

Environmental Reservt

We provide for environmental reserves on a sitsitg/basis when, in conjunction with internal amteenal legal counsel, it is determined that
a liability is both probable and estimable. In maages, the liability is not fixed or capped whenfikst record a liability for a particular sitd.
only a range of potential liability can be estinth#snd no amount within the range is more probdide ainother, a reserve will be established at
the low end of that range. At sites involving mpikéi parties, we accrue environmental liabilitiesdzhupon our expected share of the liability,
taking into account the financial viability of oather jointly liable partners. Judgment is requivdten we make assumptions and estimate
expected to be incurred for environmental remealia#ictivities because of, among other factorsidtities in assessing the extent and type of
environmental remediation to be performed, the ichpdcomplex environmental regulations and remmhiatechnologies, and agreements
between potentially responsible parties to shathédrcost of remediation. In estimating the futiiability and continually evaluating the
sufficiency of such liabilities, we weigh certaictors including our participation percentage dua settlement by or bankruptcy of other
potentially responsible parties, a change in thérenmental laws requiring more stringent requiretsean increase or decrease in the
estimated time required to remediate, a chandecirestimate of future costs that will be incurredemediate the site, and changes in
technology related to environmental remediation.denot believe that continued compliance with emwnental laws applicable to our
operations will have a material adverse effect onfimancial condition or results of operation. Hower, given the level of judgment and
estimation used in the recording of environmereaérves, it is reasonably possible that materiiffgrent amounts could be recorded if
different assumptions were used or if circumstamoe® to change, such as environmental regulatonsmediation solution remedies.
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As of December 31, 2008, our environmental resetotaded $22 million, the majority of which is lomgrm. Approximately 75% of the
environmental reserves represent the current \afloar anticipated remediation costs and are rextadinted primarily due to the uncertainty
timing of expenditures. The remaining environmen¢akerves are discounted to reflect the time vafuroney since the amount and timing of
cash payments for the liability are reasonably meitgable. We use a discount rate of 4%, which ayxprates an amount at which the
environmental liability could be settled in an asrféngth transaction with a third party. All enviroental reserves exclude any potential
recovery from insurance carriers or third-partyalegctions.

Purchase Accountin

We apply the purchase method of accounting to oguigitions. Under this method, the purchase pireguding any capitalized acquisition
costs, is allocated to the underlying tangible iat@hgible assets acquired and liabilities assubzesd on their respective fair market values,
with any excess recorded as goodwill. We deterrtiedair values of such assets and liabilities egalty in consultation with third-party
valuation advisors. Such fair value assessmentgreegignificant judgments and estimates such eggted cash flows, discount rates, royalty
rates, and remaining useful lives that can diffaterially from actual results. The fair value ofets acquired (net of cash) and liabilities
assumed of our 2008 acquisitions were estimatée 8133 million and $75 million, respectively. Tihéial fair values assigned to certain of
these acquisitions are preliminary and may be ee\vsior to finalization, which is to be completsithin a reasonable period, no later than
twelve months from the acquisition date.

See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentarther information on our purchase accounting
Goodwill

We have $609 million in goodwill as of December 2@08. The recoverability of goodwill is subjectaiw annual impairment test based on the
estimated fair value of the underlying busines$es.test is performed in the fourth quarter, whioincides with the completion of our five-
year strategic operating plan. Additionally, gooltivgi tested for impairment when an event occurg circumstances change that would m
likely than not reduce the fair value of a repagtumit below its carrying amount. Fair value iSrasted using an income approach which
discounts future net cash flows to their presehievat a rate that reflects both the current retaguirements of the market and the risks
inherent in the reporting unit. These estimatedvalues are based on estimates of future castsftdthe businesses. Factors affecting these
future cash flows include the continued market ptargce of the products and services offered byptisinesses, the development of new
products and services by the businesses and theglyimg cost of development, the future cost suitef the businesses, and future
technological changes. In addition to the incomgregch, we corroborated our results with the usaarket multiples for comparable
companies to our reporting units. Estimates are @ded for the Corporation’s cost of capital incdisnting the projected future cash flows. If it
has been determined that impairment has occurreanay be required to recognize an impairment ofasget, which would be limited to the
difference between the book value of the asseitaridir value. Any such impairment would be reciagd in full in the reporting period in
which it has been identified.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets are generally the reswdtqtiisitions and consist primarily of purchaseshtmlogy, customer related intangibles, and
trademarks. Intangible assets are recorded atfdieiralues as determined through purchase actwuridefinite-lived intangible assets are
amortized on a straight-line basis over their eatéd useful lives, which range from 1 to 20 yeats]e indefinite-lived intangible assets are
not amortized. Indefinite-lived intangible assets eviewed for impairment annually based on tisealinted future cash flows. Additionally,
we review the recoverability of all intangible asséncluding the related useful lives, whenevesrgs or changes in circumstances indicate
the carrying amount might not be recoverable. Wealdioecord any impairment in the reporting perindvhich it has been identified.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncem

New accounting pronouncements have been issudiebiyASB which are not effective until after Decem®&, 2008. For further discussion
new accounting standards, see Note 1 to the Calaged Financial Statements.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk.

We are exposed to certain market risks from chamgeserest rates and foreign currency exchantgsras a result of our global operating and
financing activities. We seek to minimize any mienisks from foreign currency exchange rate fuattons through our normal operating and
financing activities and, when deemed approprifit@ugh the use of derivative financial instrumelt® do not use such instruments for
trading or other speculative purposes. We useddgaiforeign currency contracts to manage our coyreate exposures during the year ended
December 31, 2008. Information regarding our actingrpolicy on financial instruments is containedNote 1t to the Consolidated Financ
Statements.

The market risk for a change in interest ratedeslarimarily to our debt obligations. Our intereste exposure was 68% and 69% fixed at
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, resplyctiee variable rates on the Industrial Revenuaddoare based on market rates. As of
December 31, 2008, a change in interest rates af/@etd have an impact on consolidated interest esp@f approximately $2 million.
Information regarding our 2005 and 2003 Notes, Rang Credit Agreement, and Interest Rates Swapsigained in Note 10 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Financial instruments expose us to counter-pasgglitrisk for non-performance and to market riskdbanges in interest and foreign currency
rates. We manage exposure to counter-party cisllithrough specific minimum credit standards, dification of counter-parties, and
procedures to monitor concentrations of credit.i&e monitor the impact of market risk on the fafue and cash flows of our investments by
investing primarily in investment grade interesaiieg securities, which have short-term maturiti¥e. attempt to minimize possible changes
in interest and currency exchange rates to amdhatsare not material to our consolidated resultgperations and cash flows.

Our acquisitions of VMETRO and Mechetronics havar@ased our exposure to foreign currency exchaatgefluctuations related primarily to
the British pound and Norwegian kroner. Althougé thajority of our sales, expenses, and cash fleevsransacted in U.S. dollars, we do have
market risk exposure to changes in foreign currenahange rates, primarily as it relates to theeaf the U.S. dollar versus the Canadian
dollar, the British pound, the euro, the Norwediapner, and the Swiss franc. Any significant chaagainst the U.S. dollar in the value of the
currencies of those countries in which we do busireuld have an effect on our business, finacoiadlition, and results of operations. If
foreign exchange rates were to collectively wealkestrengthen against the dollar by 10%, net egeimould have been reduced or increased,
respectively, by approximately $3 million as itaigls exclusively to foreign currency exchange eafgosures.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datz
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

For the years ended December 31, (In thousands, except per share data)

2008

2007

2006

Net sales $ 1,830,141 $ 1,592,12. $ 1,282,15
Cost of sale: 1,214,06. 1,068,501 851,07¢
Gross profil 616,07¢ 523,62: 431,07¢
Research and development cc (49,615 (47,929 (38,84)
Selling expense (207,309 (92,129 (76,54")
General and administrative expen (262,59 (204,387 (175,067
Operating incom 196,56: 179,18 140,62¢
Interest expens (29,045 (27,382 (22,899
Other income (expense), r 1,58¢ 2,36¢ (112
Earnings before income tax 169,10: 154,17 117,62:
Provision for income taxe (59,712 (49,849 (37,059

Net earning: $ 109,39 $ 10432¢ $  80,56¢
Net earnings per shat

Basic earnings per she $ 248 % 238 % 1.8¢4

Diluted earnings per sha $ 241 % 23z % 1.82

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



C ONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

At December 31, (In thousands, except share data)

2008

2007

Assets:
Current assett

Cash and cash equivale $ 60,70¢ $ 66,52(
Receivables, ne 395,65¢ 392,91¢
Inventories, ne 281,50¢ 241,72¢
Deferred tax assets, r 37,31« 30,20¢
Other current asse 26,83: 26,80’
Total current asse 802,01¢ 758,18:
Property, plant, and equipment, | 364,03: 329,65
Prepaid pension cos — 73,94°
Goodwill 608,89¢ 570,41
Other intangible assets, r 234,59¢ 240,84
Deferred tax assets, r 23,12¢ 52¢€
Other asset 9,351 11,98¢
Total asset $ 2,042,031 $ 1,985,56!
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Shor-term debt $ 324¢ % 92:
Accounts payabl 140,95 137,40:
Accrued expense 103,97: 103,20°
Income taxes payab 8,21: 13,26(
Deferred revenu 138,75: 105,42:
Other current liabilitie: 56,54: 38,40
Total current liabilities 451,68« 398,61!
Long-term debt 513,46( 510,98:
Deferred tax liabilities, ne 26,85( 62,41¢
Accrued pension and other postretirement beneits 125,76. 39,50:
Long-term portion of environmental resen 20,371 20,85¢
Other liabilities 37,13t 38,40¢
Total liabilities 1,175,26! 1,070,77!
Contingencies and Commitments (Notes 10, 13, 113N
Stockholder’ Equity:
Common stock, $1 par value, 100,000,000 share®anti at December 31, 2008 and 2007; 47,903, 1!
and 47,714,719 shares issued at December 31, 2008087, respectively; outstanding shares were
45,064,839 at December 31, 2008 and 44,593,01keeber 31, 200 47,901 47,71t
Additional paic-in capital 94,50( 79,55(
Retained earning 899,92¢ 807,41:
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) ince (72,55)) 93,32°
969, 78( 1,028,00!
Less: Common treasury stock, at cost (2,838,348stet December 31, 2008 and 3,121,708 sha
December 31, 200° (103,019 (113,22()
Total stockholder equity 866,76: 914,78!
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 2,042,031 $ 1,985,56

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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C ONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31, (In thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net earning: $ 109,39( $ 104,32t $ 80,56¢
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cashiged by operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic 74,25 62,69¢ 50,79:
Net loss on sales and disposals of -lived asset: 804 38¢ 48€
Deferred income taxe (6,370 (8,149 (11,419
Shar-based compensatic 13,66 10,91: 6,621
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, nbusfnesses acquired and disposed
Increase in receivablt (20,230 (63,999 (20,489
Increase in inventorie (46,564 (50,290 (11,249
Increase (decrease) in progress paym 8,22 (2,274 (7,024
Increase in accounts payable and accrued exp 8,58: 31,07¢ 15,64
Increase in deferred reven 33,33 53,06¢ 32,647
(Decrease) increase in income taxes pay (4,044 (6,020 1,207
Increase in net pension and postretirement liaksl 11,41¢ 5,54( 2,98:
Decrease (increase) in other current and-term asset 2,25( (2,66¢) (2,667)
(Decrease) increase in other current and-term liabilities (4,88¢) 4,52( 5,76¢
Total adjustment 70,43 34,80¢ 63,30:
Net cash provided by operating activit 179,82: 139,13t 143,87
Cash flows from investing activitie
Proceeds from sales and disposals of -lived asset: 8,14: 174 77€
Acquisitions of intangible asse (311 (3,722) (1,664)
Additions to property, plant, and equipm (103,65) (54,439 (40,207
Acquisition of new businesses, net of cash acqt (48,559 (289,349 (39,529
Net cash used for investing activiti (144,387 (347,329 (80,617
Cash flows from financing activitie
Borrowings of deb 598,00( 751,50( 240,00(
Principal payments on de (622,58() (604,56() (240,059
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 9,90¢ 9,661 8,61¢
Dividends paic (14,38 (12,440 (10,53%)
Excess tax benefits from sh-based compensatic 1,54« 2,59( 1,88¢
Net cash (used for) provided by financing actig (27,517 146,75 (95
Effect of exchanc-rate changes on ca (13,749 3,44t 2,33
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (5,815 (57,99) 65,49¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 66,52( 124,51° 59,02:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 60,708 $ 6652( $ 12451
Supplemental disclosure of investing activiti
Fair value of assets acquired from current yeauiadipns $ 133,15¢ $ 315,84 $ 42,41°
Additional consideration (received) paid on prieay acquisition (1,447 9,43: 4,54¢
Liabilities assumed from current year acquisiti (75,15¢) (35,70¢) (7,424
Cash acquire (7,999 (221) a7
Acquisition of new businesses, net of cash acqt $ 48557 $ 289,34t $ 39,52

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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C ONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands)

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Comprehensive
Treasury
Income (Loss) Stock

January 1, 2006

$25,493

$ 59,794

$ 667,892

$

20,655

$(135,614)

Comprehensive incom
Net earning:

Minimum pension liability adjustment, n
Foreign currency translation adjustments,

(1,750)
22,215

$ 80,569 —

(1,750) —
22,215 —

Total comprehensive income

$ 101,034

Adjustment for initial application of FAS 158, r

Dividends paic

Stock options exercised, r

Two-for-one common stock split effected in the

form of a 100% stock divider
Shar-based compensatic

Other

147

21,893

2,962

6,480
651

(10,538)

(21,893)

14,686

8,021

141
270

December 31, 2006

$47,533

$ 69,887

$ 716,030

$

55,806

$(127,182)

Comprehensive incom:
Net earning:
Pension and postretirement adjustments
Foreign currency translation adjustments,

104,328

11,587
25,934

$ 104,328 —
11,587 —
25,934 —

Total comprehensive income

$ 141,849

Adjustment for initial application of FIN 48, n

Dividends paic
Stock options exercised, r
Shar-based compensatic

Other

2,198
7,816
(351)

(505)
(12,440)

10,515
3,096
351

December 31, 2007

$ 79,550

$ 807,413

$

93,327

$(113,220)

Comprehensive incom
Net earning:
Pension and postretirement adjustments
Foreign currency translation adjustments,

109,390

(87,313)
(78,743)

$ 109,390 —
(87,313) —
(78,743) —

Total comprehensive loss

$ (56,666)

Adjustment for SFAS No. 158 measurement date

change, ne
Dividends paic
Stock options exercised, r
Shar-based compensatic

Other

6,050
9,278
(378)

(2,494)
(14,381)

178

5,439
4,385
378

December 31, 2008

$47,903

$ 94,500

$ 899,928

$

(72,551)

$(103,018)



See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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N OTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Curtiss-Wright Corporation and its subsidiarie® (t@orporation”) is a diversified multinational maacturing and service company that
designs, manufactures, and overhauls precision coemis and systems and provides highly enginegagtlipts and services to the aerospace,
defense, automotive, shipbuilding, processing,pgitrochemical, agricultural equipment, railroaolhvpr generation, security, and metalwort
industries. Operations are conducted through 6lufaaturing facilities and 65 metal treatment ses\ficilities

A. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tle®ants of Curtiss-Wright and its majority-ownedbsidiaries. All significant intercompany
transactions and accounts have been eliminated.

B. Use of Estimates

The financial statements of the Corporation havent@repared in conformity with accounting princgtgenerally accepted in the United States
of America, which requires management to make esémand judgments that affect the reported anwfuadsets, liabilities, revenue, and
expenses and disclosure of contingent assets abitities in the accompanying financial statememtse most significant of these estimates
includes the estimate of costs to complete longrtewntracts under the percentage-of-completionwattony methods, the estimate of useful
lives for property, plant, and equipment, cash festimates used for testing the recoverabilityssiess, pension plan and postretirement
obligation assumptions, estimates for inventoryobdscence, estimates for the valuation and usieg bf intangible assets, warranty reserves,
legal reserves, and the estimate of future enviertad costs. Actual results may differ from thesgneates.

C. Revenue Recognition

The realization of revenue refers to the timingt®fecognition in the accounts of the Corporatoil is generally considered realized or
realizable and earned when the earnings procesdbhigantially complete and all of the followingteria are met: 1) persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists; 2) delivery has occurred asiges have been rendered; 3) the Corporation’pddts customer is fixed or determinable;
and 4) collectability is reasonably assured.

The Corporation records sales and related prafitsroduction and service type contracts as unéshipped and title and risk of loss have
transferred or as services are rendered, netiafiasid returns and allowances. Sales and estinpatdits under certain long-term contracts are
recognized under the percentage-of-completion nastiod accounting, whereby profits are recordedrpta, based upon current estimates of
direct and indirect costs to complete such cordrdntaddition, the Corporation also records sateter certain long-term government fixed
price contracts upon achievement of performancestidhes as specified in the related contracts.elsoss contracts are provided for in the
period in which the losses become determinableidites in profit estimates are reflected on a cuativg basis in the period in which the bz
for such revision becomes known. The excess obillirgs over cost and estimated earnings on l@rgitcontracts is included in deferred
revenue.

D. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of money market fundscantmercial paper that are readily convertible taeh, all with original maturity dates of
three months or less.

E. Inventory

Inventories are stated at lower of production ¢pencipally average cost) or market. Productiosts@re comprised of direct material and
labor and applicable manufacturing overhead.
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F. Progress Payments

Certain long-term contracts provide for the intehiings as costs are incurred on the respectirgracts. Pursuant to contract provisions,
agencies of the U.S. Government and other custoanergranted title or a secured interest in théllealcosts included in unbilled receivables
and materials and work-iprocess included in inventory to the extent of pesg payments. Accordingly, these progress paymect¢$ved hav
been reported as a reduction of unbilled receisabiel inventories, as presented in Notes 3 and 4.

G. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are carried atlesstaccumulated depreciation. Major renewals &gt tments are capitalized, while
maintenance and repairs that do not improve omelxtiee life of the asset are expensed in the péhieyl are incurred. Depreciation is compt
using the straight-line method based upon the astichuseful lives of the respective assets.

Average useful lives for property, plant, and equémt are as follows:

Buildings and improvemen 5 to 40 year:
Machinery, equipment, and otr 3 to 15 year

H. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are generally the result of attipms and consist primarily of purchased techggl@ustomer related intangibles, trademarks
and service marks, and technology licenses. Deflivied intangible assets are amortized on a sttdige basis over their estimated useful
lives, which range from 1 to 20 years, while indéé lived intangible assets are not amortizedefimite lived intangible assets are reviewed
for impairment annually based on the discountedréutash flows. See Note 7 for further informatonother intangible assets.

[. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Corporation reviews the recoverability of alhd-term assets, including the related useful Jindgenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount lohg-lived asset might not be recoverable. Iz, the Corporation compares the
estimated undiscounted future net cash flows todlaed asset’s carrying value to determine whethere has been an impairment. If an asset
is considered impaired, the asset is written dawfiair value, which is based either on discounteshdlows or appraised values in the period
the impairment becomes known. There were no suitk-downs in 2008, 2007, or 2006.

J. Goodwill

Goodwill results from business acquisitions. Thepg@eoation accounts for business acquisitions hgcaling the purchase price to tangible and
intangible assets and liabilities. Assets acquéned liabilities assumed are recorded at theinalnes, and the excess of the purchase price
the amounts allocated is recorded as goodwill. rfEgeverability of goodwill is subject to an annirapairment test or whenever an event
occurs or circumstances change that would moréylitkan not result in an impairment. The impairmesst is based on the estimated fair value
of the underlying businesses. Goodwill impairmests performed as of October 31, 2008, 2007, afd 206d July 31, 2006 concluded that no
impairment charges were required as of those datesNote 6 for further information on goodwill.

K. Pre Contract Costs

We may, from time to time, incur costs to begitiflihg the statement of work under a specific aitated contract that we have yet to obtain
from a customer. If we determine that the recowgetiethese costs are probable, we capitalize thests, excluding any staup costs which ar
expensed as incurred. When circumstances changthamdntract is no longer deemed probable thealggid costs will be recognized in
earnings. There were $1.6 million in capitalizedtsdhat were deemed not probable and recognite@amnings at December 31, 2008. No
costs were written off during 2007 and 2006. Cédigiéd pre contract costs were $5.3 million and $4illion at December 31, 2008 and 20
respectively.
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L. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SPA$3. 107 Disclosure About Fair Value of Financial Instrumentequires certain
disclosures regarding the fair value of finananstiuments. Due to the short maturities of cashcastt equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable, and accrued expenses, the revhle of these financial instruments is deemeabfaroximate fair value.

The estimated fair values of the Corporation’sdixate debt instruments at December 31, 2008 agtge$314.0 million compared to a
carrying value of $350.0 million. The carrying ambof the variable interest rate debt approximéaesvalue because the interest rates are
reset periodically to reflect current market cordis. Fair values for the Corporation’s fixed rdébt were estimated by management.

The fair values described above may not be indieadf net realizable value or reflective of futaé& values. Furthermore, the use of different
methodologies to determine the fair value of carfaiancial instruments could result in a differestimate of fair value at the reporting date.

M. Research and Development

The Corporation funds research and developmentanagfor commercial products and independent reBeard development and bid and
proposal work related to government contracts. greent costs include engineering and field supfmrhew customer requirements.
Corporation-sponsored research and developmers acsiexpensed as incurred.

Research and development costs associated withneesisponsored programs are charged to inventatyasnrecorded in cost of sales when
products are delivered or services performed. Foecksived under shared development contracts mr@uation of the total development
expenditures under the shared contract and arershetias research and development costs.

N. Environmental Cosi

The Corporation establishes a reserve for a patfegrivironmental remediation liability on a site dite basis when it concludes that a
determination of legal liability is probable ana thmount of the liability can be reasonably estaddtased on current law and existing
technologies. Such amounts, if quantifiable, réftae Corporation’s estimate of the amount of tizddility. If only a range of potential liability
can be estimated and no amount within the rangeig probable than another, a reserve will be éskeda at the low end of that range. At
sites involving multiple parties, the Corporatiagtaues environmental liabilities based upon itseeted share of the liability, taking into
account the financial viability of other jointhalble partners. Such reserves, which are reviewadeyly, are adjusted as assessment and
remediation efforts progress or as additional imfation becomes available. Approximately 75% of@eporation’s environmental reserves as
of December 31, 2008 represent the current valamtifipated remediation costs and are not diseabiptimarily due to the uncertainty of
timing of expenditures. The remaining environmengakerves are discounted to reflect the time vafuroney since the amount and timing of
cash payments for the liability are reliably detirable. All environmental reserves exclude any pié recovery from insurance carriers or
third-party legal actions. See Note 13 for addiilanformation.

O. Accounting for Share-Based Payments

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Corporation appliedintrinsic value method of Accounting PrincipBsard Opinion No. 25Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employeesnd related interpretations in accounting focktbased employee awards as allowed under SFAS2B.
Accounting for Stoc-Based Compensation (“SFAS 123"Accordingly, the Corporation did not recognizemmensation expense for the
issuance of non-qualified share options with anr@ge price equal to the market value of the uryileaglcommon stock on the date of grant or
for options granted under the employee stock pwelpdan. As the requisite service period for penfomce shares, restricted stock units, and
performance restricted shares did not begin ufiér danuary 1, 2006, no compensation cost wasdeddn prior periods. Effective January 1,
2006, the Corporation adopted SFAS No. 123R (rev2¥4),Share-Based PaymefiSFAS 123(R)”) using the modified prospective
transition method and therefore has not restatied periods. Under this transition method, compéosacost associated with employee stock
options recognized in 2008, 2007, and 2006 includ@spensation expense related to the remainingstedgortion of non-qualified share
options granted prior to January 1, 2006. See lptor further information on this standard.
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P. Capital Stock

On February 7, 2006, the Board of Directors dedar@-for-1 stock split in the form of a 100% stalikidend. The split, in the form of 1 share
of Common stock for each share of Common stock@autling was payable on April 21, 2006. To effeauhe stock split, the Corporation
issued 21.9 million shares of Common stock, atGp#r value from capital surplus, with a correspogdeduction in retained earnings of
$21.9 million. Accordingly, all references throughohis Annual Report on Form 10-K to number ofrslsaper share amounts, stock options
data, and market prices of the Corporation’s comstook have been adjusted to reflect the effeth@ktock split for all periods presented,
where applicable.

The Corporation is authorized to repurchase 900sb@bes under its existing stock repurchase pragpamchases are authorized to be made
from time to time in the open market or privategotiated transactions depending on market and otimelitions, whenever management
believes that the market price of the stock doesdequately reflect the true value of the Corponeand, therefore, represents an attractive
investment opportunity. The shares are held atadtreissuance is recorded at the weighted-ave@sieThrough December 31, 2008, the
Corporation had repurchased 210,930 shares undgrdigram. There was no stock repurchased dufg,2007, and 2006 and the
Corporation does not intend to repurchase any sttaneng 2009.

Q. Earnings Per Share

The Corporation is required to report both basiniegs per share (“EPS”), based on the weighteda@enumber of Common shares
outstanding, and diluted earnings per share, bais¢de basic EPS adjusted for all potentially dieishares issuable. The calculation of EPS is
disclosed in Note 11.

R. Income Taxes

The Corporation applies SFAS No. 1@&counting for Income Taxes (“SFAS No. 1090nder the asset and liability method of SFAS No.
109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are reieeglrfor future tax consequences attributable fieidinces between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilitiad their respective tax bases. The effect orrefdax assets and liabilities of a change il
laws is recognized in the results of operationth@period the new laws are enacted. A valuatitmwaince is recorded to reduce the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets unless it is mkedylthan not that such assets will be realized.

S. Foreign Currency Translation

For operations outside the United States of Amedheaprepare financial statements in currenciesrahan the U.S. dollar, the Corporation
translates assets and liabilities at period-enth@xge rates and income statement amounts usingtedigverage exchange rates for the
period. The cumulative effect of translation adjushts is presented as a component of accumuldied @@mprehensive income within
stockholders’ equity. This balance is affected dmgign currency exchange rate fluctuations anchbyacquisition of foreign entities. Gains/
(losses) from foreign currency transactions aruighed in results of operations, which amountedlé.$ million, $(6.5) million, and $(1.0)
million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 260d 2006, respectively.

T. Derivatives

The Corporation uses financial instruments, sudlo@gard exchange and currency option contracthettge a portion of existing and
anticipated foreign currency denominated transastid he purpose of the Corporation’s foreign cuwyenisk management program, which
began in 2007, is to reduce volatility in earnirgised by exchange rate fluctuations. All of thévadive financial instruments are recorded at
fair value based upon quoted market prices for @vatge instruments, with the gain or loss on thiesesactions recorded into earnings in the
period in which they occur. These (losses)/gaiesctassified as general and administrative expensie Consolidated Statements of Earn
and amounted to $(19.1) million and $3.4 million flee years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 ctesgg. The Corporation does not use
derivative financial instruments for trading or epkative purposes.
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U. Recently Issued Accounting Standards
Adoption of New Standart

Effective January 1, 2008, the Corporation adofdement of Financial Accounting Standards No, Eait Value MeasurementsSFAS

No. 157). SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishéseework for measuring fair value in generally guted accounting principles, and
expands disclosures about fair value measuremerascordance with Financial Accounting Standardar Staff Position No. FAS 157-2,
Effective Date of FASB Statement No. , the Corporation will delay by one year the effeztdate of SFAS No. 157 to all non-financial asset
and non-financial liabilities, except those recagui or disclosed at fair value in the financiatet@ents on a recurring basis (at least annually).
SFAS No. 157 enables the reader of the finandéstents to assess the inputs used to develophtessurements by establishing a hierarchy
for ranking the quality and reliability of the infoation used to determine fair values. SFAS No. rEgjlires that assets and liabilities carrie
fair value be classified and disclosed in one efftiilowing three categories:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active marketsdentical assets or liabilitie
Level 2: Observable market based inputs or unolbsésvinputs that are corroborated by market ¢

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corrotear&y market dat:

As of December 31, 2008, the Corporation has valisedierivative instruments in accordance with SF¥&S 157. The fair value of these
instruments is ($2.4) million and $0.4 million, Heeinstruments are classified as other currenilitiab and other current assets, respectively, at
December 31, 2008. The Corporation utilizes thedsikl pricing that is common in the dealer markett® dealers are ready to transact at these
prices using the mid-market pricing convention #melprices therefore are considered to be at fafket value. Based upon the fair value
hierarchy, all of our foreign exchange derivativeNards are classified at a Level 2. The adoptioBFAS No. 157 did not have a material
impact on the Corporation’s consolidated finanstatements. On January 1, 2009, the company willément the previously deferred
provisions of SFAS No. 157 for nonfinancial assetd liabilities recorded at fair value, as requirBide Corporation does not anticipate thai
adoption of the previously deferred provisions wdlve a material impact on the Corporation’s respiltoperations or financial condition.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. E&#loyers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit and Pensind Other Postretirement Plans
(“SFAS No. 158"). The initial provisions of SFAS Nb58 were adopted for Fiscal Year ended Decembe2(®6. On January 1, 2008, the
Corporation adopted the measurement date provisib85AS No. 158, which is a requirement to meagplae assets and benefit obligation

of the date of the employer’s fiscal year-end stetet of financial position. The Corporation hastdd to utilize the second approach as
provided in SFAS No0.158 in implementing this présis This approach allows an employer to use eamigasurements determined for prior
year-end reporting to allocate a proportionate amofimied benefit expense for the transition periode Tiet transition amount was recorded as
a charge to beginning retained earnings of $2.bamjlnet of tax. See Note 14 for additional infatin on the effect of SFAS No. 158 on the
Corporation.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. I3 Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Fioal Liabilities-Including an
amendment of FASB Statement No. $5AS No. 159”). SFAS No. 159 permits entitiesctwose to measure eligible items at fair value at
specified election dates and report unrealizedsgaind losses on items for which the fair valueaplias been elected in earnings at each
subsequent reporting date. SFAS No. 159 becametigiidor the Corporation as of January 1, 2008yéner, the Corporation did not elect to
measure any additional financial instruments atvalue as a result of this statement. Thereftwe adoption of SFAS No. 159 did not have an
effect on the Corporation’s consolidated finanstatements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 168¢e Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Biptes(“SFAS No. 162"). SFAS No. 162
identifies the sources of accounting principles tiredframework for selecting the principles to Isediin the preparation of financial statemt
of nongovernmental entities that are presente@ificzmity with generally accepted accounting priobes. SFAS No. 162 is effective 60 days
following the Securities and Exchange Commissiapproval of the Public Company Accounting Oversigbard Auditing amendments to
AU Section 411, The Meaning of Present Fairly imfoomity with Generally Accepted Accounting Prinlep. The adoption of this statement
did not have a material impact on the Corporatioe&ults of operations or financial condition.
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Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement ofneinhAccounting Standards No. 141(Revised 20Biégsiness Combinatior{sSFAS No.
141(R)"). SFAS No. 141(R) will change the accougtireatment for certain specific items, includibgt not limited to: acquisition costs will
be generally expensed as incurred; noncontrollibgrésts will be valued at fair value at the adtjois date; acquired contingent liabilities will
be recorded at fair value at the acquisition datesubsequently measured at either the higherabf amount or the amount determined under
existing guidance for non-acquired contingenciegriocess research and development will be recatitadr value as an indefinite-lived
intangible asset at the acquisition date; restrutgLcosts associated with a business combinatibib&generally expensed subsequent to the
acquisition date; and changes in deferred tax asdeation allowances and income tax uncertairdfeer the acquisition date generally will
affect income tax expense. SFAS No. 141(R) alsluites several new disclosure requirements. SFASLAI(R) applies prospectively to
business combinations for which the acquisitiore deds on or after the beginning of the first anmapbrting period beginning on or after
December 15, 2008, as well as recognizing adjudsrteruncertain tax positions through earningslbacguisitions regardless of the
acquisition date. The impact that the adoptiorhif statement will have on the Corporation’s resaftoperations or financial condition will
depend on future acquisitions.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. Nefhcontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financ&thtements, an amendment to ARB No.
51 (SFAS No. 160). SFAS No. 160 amends the accoutigreporting for noncontrolling interests in a salidated subsidiary and the
deconsolidation of a subsidiary. Included in th&eament is the requirement that noncontrollingriests be reported in the equity section of the
balance sheet. SFAS No. 160 is effective for figears, and interim periods within those fiscalrgeeginning on or after December 31, 2(
Earlier adoption is prohibited. The Corporation sloet anticipate that the adoption of this stateameéihhave a material impact on the
Corporation’s results of operations or financiahdiion.

In March 2008, the FASB issued Statement No. 164¢lBsure about Derivative Instruments and Heddintivities, an amendment of FASB
Statement No. 133 (“SFAS No. 161"). SFAS No. 16quiges disclosures of how and why an entity usewalive instruments, how derivative
instruments and related hedged items are accotfmteaind how derivative instruments and relatedgeeldtems affect an entity’s financial
position, financial performance, and cash flowsASMo. 161 will be effective for financial statentemssued in 2009, with early adoption
permitted. The adoption of this statement will hate an impact on the Corporation’s results of afp@ns or financial condition.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff PositidASP”) No. 142-3Determination of the Useful Life of the IntangiBleset{“FSP 142-

3"). FSP 1423 amend the factors an entity should consider ireldping renewal or extension assumptions usee@terchining the useful life .
recognized intangible assets under FASB Statemeni#2,Goodwill and Other Intangible Assefhis new guidance applies prospectively to
intangible assets that are acquired individuallyvith a group of other assets in business comhinatand asset acquisitions. FSP 142-3 was
effective for financial statements issued for flsg=ars and interim periods beginning after Decanilse 2008. Early adoption is prohibited.
The Corporation does not anticipate that the adaogif this statement will have a material impacttos Corporation’s results of operations or
financial condition.

In December 2008, the FASB issued FSP 132(FEriployers’ Disclosures about Postretirement Berldfin Asset$‘'FSP 132(R)-1"),
amending FASB Statement No. 132(Einployers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Othetieteement Benefitseffective for fiscal years
ending after December 15, 2009. FSP 132(R)-1 reguain employer to disclose investment policiesstradegies, categories, fair value
measurements, and significant concentration ris@regits postretirement benefit plan assets. The@ation does not anticipate that the
adoption of this statement will have a material &wipon the Corporation’s results of operationsrarfcial condition.

V. Correction of Immaterial Error Related to Priggriods

In the second quarter of 2007, the Corporationndemban adjustment of $2.8 million to increaséadss reserve associated with certain long-
term contracts within the Flow Control segment. TQuporation determined that certain loss contraetie not fully accrued for in the fourth
quarter of 2006. This error resulted in an undéestant of approximately $2.8 million in our losseeves, which are classified in other current
liabilities, and cost of goods sold at December2RD6.
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The Corporation reviewed the impact of this ermopoior periods in accordance with Statement ofRaial Accounting Standards No. 154,
Accounting for Changes and Error Correctic, Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 99, Matefity, and SAB No. 108, Considering the
Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifyiisstatements in current Year Financial Statesearid determined that the adjustment
was not material to the Corporation’s financiatest@ents for the year ended December 31, 2007 abél 20

2. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITION OF LONG LIVED ASSET

The Corporation acquired four businesses and désboEone business in 2008. Three of the acquivsthbsses and the disposition are
described in more detail below. The remaining agitjon had a purchase price of $2.4 million and pachased by our Motion Control
segment. The Corporation also acquired four buseeei 2007 and three businesses in 2006, all mfwere described in more detail below.
All acquisitions have been accounted for as puehasth the excess of the purchase price overdtimated fair value of the net tangible and
intangible assets acquired recorded as goodwilt. Cbrporation makes preliminary estimates of threlmase price allocations, including the
value of identifiable intangibles with a finitedif and records amortization based upon the estinesful life of those intangible assets
identified. The Corporation will adjust these esttes based upon input of third party appraisalgnndeemed appropriate, and the
determination of fair value, when finalized, ncelathan twelve months from the acquisition date.

The results of the acquired businesses have bekrmléd in the consolidated financial results of @@poration from the date of acquisition in
the segment indicated as follows:

FLOW CONTROL
Benshaw, Inc.

On July 31, 2007 the Corporation acquired all #saiéd and outstanding stock of Benshaw, Inc. (“Bawg). The purchase price of the
acquisition, subject to customary adjustments asiged for in the Stock Purchase Agreement, wasroximately $102.6 million in cash.
Under the terms of the Stock Purchase AgreemeaCthrporation deposited $7.9 million into escrovsesurity for potential indemnification
claims against the seller. Any amount of holdbamkaining after the claims for indemnification hdoge=n settled, will be paid as follows: (i)
initial release of ondwalf of the holdback less amounts held in resesveter pending claims for indemnification in 12nttts after the closin
date and (ii) a final release of the remaining bedaof the holdback less amounts held in resereever pending claims for indemnification in
18 months after the closing date. A claim has bmade against the full escrow balance pending satizfy resolution of preacquisition tax
liabilities of the seller. Furthermore, the Corpara had deposited an additional $2.5 million ieszrow in consideration for the potential
receipt of a material sales order within calend=ary2007. This sales order was not received, andrtiount in escrow was returned to the
Corporation in 2008 as a reduction of purchaseepfanagement funded the acquisition from the Qapan’s revolving credit facility.

The purchase price of the acquisition has beegatka to the net tangible and intangible assetsismt with the remainder recorded as
goodwill, on the basis of estimated fair valueefiBecember 31, 2008, as follows:

(In thousands)

Accounts receivabl $ 16,05¢
Inventory 13,29(
Property, plant, and equipme 7,75(
Other current asse 43¢
Intangible assel 36,641
Current and nc-current liabilities (11,859
Net tangible and intangible ass 62,322
Purchase price, including capitalized acquisitioats 102,69¢
Goodwill $ 40,37¢

The excess of the purchase price over the fairevafuhe net assets acquired is $40.0 million atebeer 31, 2008, including foreign currency
translation adjustment losses of $0.4 million. Tweporation has determined that the goodwill alledao the U.S. entities of $37.1 million
will be tax deductible.
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Benshaw designs, develops, and manufactures misstaral motor control and protection product g@us for leading OEMs and industrial
customers. Benshaw provides turnkey motor and maatontrol and protection solutions for OEM custmnB8enshaw is headquartered in

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania and has nine facilitiethenUnited States and two in Canada. Revenudwedaidquired business were $82.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Valve Systems and Controls

On June 1, 2007, the Corporation acquired cerseta and certain liabilities of Valve Systems @odtrols, L.P. (“VSC”).The purchase pric
of the acquisition, subject to customary adjustmeastprovided for in the Asset Purchase Agreemea#,$78.0 million in cash and the
assumption of certain liabilities of VSC. Under teems of the Asset Purchase Agreement, the Caipordeposited $3.8 million into escrow
as security for potential indemnification claimsatst the seller. Any amount of holdback remairafigr the claims for the indemnification
have been settled less amounts held in reservaver pending claims for indemnification would bedo@ 12 months after the closing date.
Since no claims were made the funds held in eserere released to the seller. Management fundeputehase from the Corporation’s
available cash and revolving credit facility.

The purchase price of the acquisition has beegatkal to the net tangible and intangible assetsismt with the remainder recorded as
goodwill, on the basis of estimated fair valuese Eitcess of the purchase price over the fair vafltiee net assets acquired is $52.1 million at
December 31, 2008. The Corporation has determimatdthie goodwill will be tax deductible.

VSC, is a provider of critical valve, automationdacontrols solutions for all facets of flow cortoperations to the oil and gas market. VSC is
headquartered in Houston, Texas, with satelliteetfin Baton Rouge, Louisiana and Seoul, Soutte&dincremental revenues of the acquired
business were approximately $40.0 million for tlearyended December 31, 2006.

Scientech, LLC

On May 8, 2007, the Corporation acquired certagetssand certain liabilities of Scientech, LLC (f{&tech”). The purchase price of the
acquisition, subject to customary adjustments asiged for in the Asset Purchase Agreement, wasl$®#lion in cash and the assumption of
certain liabilities of Scientech. Under the termishe Asset Purchase Agreement, the Corporationgiesal $5.8 million into escrow as security
for potential indemnification claims against thlese Any amount of holdback remaining after thaigis for indemnification have been settled
will be paid as follows: (i) an initial release afie-half of the holdback less amounts held in kesty cover pending claims for indemnification
in 12 months after the closing date and (ii) alfiredease of the remaining balance of the holdibesk amounts held in reserve to cover pending
claims for indemnification in 18 months after tHesing date. Since no claims were made within thigal 12 month holdback period, one-half
of the holdback was released to the seller. Howevetaim has been made prior to the expiratioth®fL8 month holdback period against the
remaining full amount of the holdback pending gati®ry resolution of such claim with the sellerabhgement funded the purchase from the
Corporation’s available cash and revolving crealdilfty.

The purchase price of the acquisition has beewcathal to the net tangible and intangible assetsiseszty with the remainder recorded as
goodwill, on the basis of fair values. The estimat&cess of the purchase price over the fair vafuke net assets acquired is $31.1 million at
December 31, 2008. The Corporation has determimegdb30.9 million of the goodwill will be tax dedilie.

Scientech is a global provider of commercial nucfgaver instrumentation, electrical componentscigy hardware, process control systems,
and proprietary database solutions which are amb@uproving safety and plant performance, efficigmreliability, and reducing costs.
Scientech is headquartered in Idaho Falls, |dakichas multiple facilities throughout the Unitedt8ta Revenues of the acquired business
$45.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Techswan, Inc.

On September 1, 2006, the Corporation acquireciceassets and liabilities of Techswan, Inc., whiakiness is now operated as Swantech.
The purchase price, subject to customary adjussm@owided for in the Asset Purchase Agreement,$828 million in cash and the
assumption of certain liabilities to acquire thtellectual
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property and assets of Swantech. The purchasewsdsdunded from credit available under the Corponés revolving credit facility. The
excess of the purchase price over the fair valubehet assets acquired is $3.2 million at Decergbe2008.

Swantech is a designer and manufacturer of higtWaaced health monitoring and prognostics systardssaftware for critical-service
machinery. Swantech is the technology leader itesi&the-art stress wave analysis based progrosyistems, with the capability to predict
critical machinery failure far in advance of contienal vibration and temperature based monitoriygjesms. The core technology is fully
developed, and Swantech is building its applicaitmase and channels to market in the commerciatima, power, oil and gas, and defense
and aerospace markets. Swantech has significargramdng penetration in monitoring luxury cruisedr critical systems. Swantech is located
in Ft. Lauderdale, Florida.

Enpro Systems, Ltd.

On April 17, 2006, the Corporation acquired certsets and liabilities of Enpro Systems, Ltd. (¥ri), which has subsequently been mei
with Tapco International. The combined businessatps as TapcoEnpro International. The purchase pubject to customary adjustments
provided for in the Asset Purchase Agreement, vidsSbmillion in cash and the assumption of cerliaibilities to acquire the assets of Enpro.
The purchase price was funded from credit availahtder the Corporation’s revolving credit line. Tdeess of the purchase price over the fair
value of the net assets acquired is $6.6 milliobetember 31, 2008.

Enpro is a designer and manufacturer of highly mesjied sliding gate, plug, block, butterfly, dieertand variable orifice flue gas valves.
Enpro also manufactures, repairs, and modifies ASklde pressure vessels, primarily for the petrodétednrefining, and utility markets.
Enpro provides engineering services, subcontraatufaaturing services, shop repairs, and field sewio support customers’ operations.
Enpro is headquartered in Channelview, Texas.

MOTION CONTROL
VMETRO ASA

On October 15, 2008, the Corporation completedlantary cash tender offer for all of the issued antstanding capital stock of VMETRO
ASA (“WVMETROQ") at Norwegian Kroner (“NOK™) 12.06 peshare. The purchase price of the acquisitionM@K 292.3 million ($46.3
million) in cash and the assumption of NOK 148 ioill ($23.5 million) of net debt. Management fundleel acquisition from the Corporation’s
revolving credit facility. VMETRO will become paof the Corporation’s Motion Control segment wittiire Embedded Computing division.
Revenues of the purchased business were 307 mNI@K ($52.5 million) for the period ended DecemBiy 2007.

The purchase price of the acquisition has beeinprerily allocated to the net tangible and intdigiassets acquired, with the remainder
recorded as goodwill, on the basis of estimatadvidies. The excess of the purchase price ovefathealue of the net assets acquired is NOK
344 million ($54.5 million) at December 31, 200&eTgoodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

As part of the acquired liabilities of VMETRO, wave established a $7.1 million restructuring adcagaof the acquisition date for costs to
the activities of certain facilities, including E&acancellation costs and external legal and cbngudkes, as well as severance and relocation
costs for certain employees of the acquired busingse major activities of these closed facilitigh be integrated into our other existing
embedded computing facilities. Employees identifeadinvoluntary termination consist of engineesales personnel, and administrative and
executive staff. The exit activities are schedutedle completed by the third quarter of 2009. Sete8 for further financial information
regarding this restructuring accrual.

Founded in 1986, VMETRO is a leading supplier ahaeercial off-the-shelf (“COTS") board and systemdeembedded computing products
for applications in aerospace, defense, industr@hmunication, and medical markets. Key productsige real-time computing capabilities,
high-density radar processing, data recording,retdiork storage systems. Application of these petglas components or subsystems enables
improved response time and critical protectiongrver and storage appliances, utility mapping, gnodind penetrating radar.

Page 62




VMETRO operates globally with its headquarters pridcipal engineering located in Oslo, Norway. Adilial sales, engineering, and
distribution networks are established in Swedenn@ay, France, Italy, the United States, Unitedg€iom, and Singapore.

Mechetronics Holdings Limited

On October 1, 2008, the Corporation acquired alhefissued and outstanding capital stock of Meohé&ts Holding Ltd. and all subsidiaries
(“Mechetronics”). The purchase price of the acdigisi subject to customary adjustments providedrfdhe Stock Purchase Agreement, was
£1.3 million ($2.3 million) in cash and the assuimptof certain liabilities. Under the terms of tBock Purchase Agreement, the Corporation
deposited £0.2 million ($0.4 million) into escrow security for potential indemnification claims e the seller. Any amount of the holdback
remaining after the claims for the indemnificatiwave been settled less amounts held in resena/gr pending claims for indemnification
will be paid 14 months after the closing date. Mggraent funded the acquisition from the Corporasavailable cash. The business will
become a part of the Corporation’s Motion Contegireent within the Integrated Sensing division. Rews of the purchased business were
approximately £5.0 million ($10.0 million) for theeriod ended July 31, 2008.

The purchase price of the acquisition has beernprerily allocated to the net tangible and intdolgiassets acquired, with the remainder
recorded as goodwill, on the basis of estimatedvidues. The excess of the purchase price ovdathealue of the net assets acquired is £2.3
million ($4.0 million) at December 31, 2008. Theogwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

Mechetronics is a global supplier of solenoids solénoid valves to original equipment manufactu(@sMs). A solenoid is an
electromagnetic actuator used as a mechanicallsaitmtegrated with a valve to provide contropimeumatic or hydraulic systems. The
Mechetronics products are used in a variety ofiagfibns including business machines, switchgedneshicle braking systems.

Mechetronics was founded in 1918 and is a leaddhgneid supplier in the United Kingdom. Operati@ms headquartered in a 27,000 square-
foot facility in Bishop Auckland, United Kingdomnd include a new production facility opened in ZayiChina in 2007.

Curtiss-Wright Accessory Services

On May 9, 2008, the Corporation sold its third-paxdmmercial aerospace repair and overhaul busloeated in Miami, Florida for $8.0
million. The determination was made to divest thsibess because third-party repair work was nasidered a core business of the
Corporation. This business was part of our Moti@mi@ol segment and contributed $18.5 million iresand $1.8 million in pretax income for
the year ended December 31, 2007. On the datdepftea business had assets of $8.7 million ardilies of $1.1 million, which combined
with transaction costs of $0.7 million, resultedai$0.3 million loss, which is classified as a rtéhn of Other Income, net on the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Earnings. The Corpaoratio not report the disposal as discontinued dmersias the amounts are not considered
significant. On March 31, 2008, the Corporationfpened a goodwill impairment test of the portiontioé reporting unit that will be retained
and concluded that no impairment charges were medjui

IMC Magnetics Corporation

On September 1, 2007, the Corporation acquirethalissued and outstanding stock of IMC Magnetiogp@Gration (“IMC”). The purchase
price of the acquisition, subject to customary atipents as provided for in the Stock Purchase Agee¢ was for approximately $37.5 milli
in cash. Under the terms of the Stock Purchaseehgeat, the Corporation deposited $3.8 million iesorow as security for potential
indemnification claims against the seller. Any amioof holdback remaining after the claims for indgfication have been settled, will be paid
as follows: (i) an initial release of $0.5 millitess amounts held in reserve to cover pending slémindemnification in 12 months after the
closing date and (ii) a final release of the rermgjrbalance of the holdback less amounts heldsarxe to cover pending claims for
indemnification in 24 months after the closing d&tewever, a claim has been made prior to the atipin of the 18 month holdback period
against the remaining full amount of the holdbaekdging satisfactory resolution of such claim whk seller. Management funded the
acquisition from the Corporation’s revolving crefditility.
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The purchase price of the acquisition has beewcathal to the net tangible and intangible assetsiseszt with the remainder recorded as
goodwill, on the basis of estimated fair valuese Eixcess of the purchase price over the fair vailtiee net assets acquired is $17.6 million at
December 31, 2008. The goodwill is not deductibletéx purposes.

IMC produces solenoids, fans, motors, and speeidlproducts for numerous aerospace, commercialnaogtrial applications. IMC’s
products are used by leading original equipmentufanturers (OEMS) in a variety of applications sashuel control systems, engine bleed,
landing gear, wheel brake systems, and aircraftaujit directional controls. IMC is headquarteradlempe, Arizona and has a production
facility in Nogales, Mexico. Revenues of the acgdibusiness were $14.4 million for the year endedeinber 31, 2006.

METAL TREATMENT
Parylene Coating Services

On September 4, 2008, the Corporation acquireciceassets and certain liabilities of Parylene Bgabervices, Inc. (“PCS”). The purchase
price of the acquisition, subject to customary atipents as provided for in the Asset Purchase Ageee (“APA”), was $7.6 million in cash
and the assumption of certain liabilities of PC8der the terms of the APA, the Corporation heldkdE@% of the sale price as security for
potential indemnification claims against the selfemy amount of the holdback remaining after thedrak for the indemnification have been
settled less amounts held in reserve to cover pgradaims for indemnification will be paid in eigign months after the closing date.
Management funded the purchase from the Corporatiemolving credit facility.

The purchase price of the acquisition has beelnprerily allocated to the net tangible and intdigiassets acquired with the remainder
recorded as goodwill on the basis of estimatedviaines. The estimated excess of the purchase @raethe fair value of the net assets
acquired is $5.0 million at December 31, 2008. Teporation has estimated that the goodwill willtée deductible and the Corporation will
adjust these estimates based upon final inputiaf garty appraisals.

PCS applies parylene coatings primarily for the iaddevice industry. PCS applies parylene coatingsedical devices, including coronary
artery stents, rubber/silicone seals, and wire fiognmandrels used in the manufacture of cathetdrs.conformal coating provides lubricity;
resistance to solvents, radiation, and bacterid;isalso biocompatible. In addition to medical lagggions, parylene coatings are uniquely
suited for use in niche electronic, oil and gasl general industrial applications. PCS is headguedtand operates one facility in Katy, Texas.
Revenues of the acquired business were $2.6 milliothe year ended December 31, 2007.

Allegheny

On May 9, 2006, the Corporation purchased the sigget certain liabilities of two units of Diversifl Coatings, Inc. (“Allegheny”). The
purchase price was $14.9 million in cash and tiseragtion of certain liabilities. The purchase pricas funded from credit available under the
Corporation’s revolving credit facilities. The esseof the purchase price over the fair value ohteassets acquired is $4.9 million at
December 31, 2008.

Allegheny’s services include the spray applicattba variety of high performance coatings to autoweometal braking components. There are
numerous specialty high performance coatings availan the market, which are specified on a parpént basis by the automotive OEMs.
These high performance coatings are typically Beehby the coating material manufacturer to quaifipplicators on a geographic basis.
Allegheny is located in Fremont, Indiana and Inglty€anada.

3. RECEIVABLES

Receivables include current notes, amounts bitbeclistomers, claims, other receivables, and urhiBgenue on long-term contracts,
consisting of amounts recognized as sales butiled bSubstantially all amounts of unbilled recailes are expected to be billed and collected
in the subsequent year.
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Credit risk is generally diversified due to theg@mumber of entities comprising the Corporatianistomer base and their geographic
dispersion. The Corporation is either a prime ator or subcontractor of various agencies of ti& Government. Revenues derived directly
and indirectly from government sources (primairig tJ.S. Government) were 36%, 38%, and 45% of dimfaded revenues in 2008, 2007, and
2006, respectively. As of December 31, 2008 and’286counts receivable due directly or indirectfni these government sources
represented 34% of net receivables. No single must@accounted for more than 10% of the Corporasioet receivables as of December 31,
2008 and 2007.

The Corporation performs ongoing credit evaluatiohiés customers and establishes appropriate athees for doubtful accounts based upon
factors surrounding the credit risk of specifictousers, historical trends, and other informatione Tomposition of receivables is as follows:

(In thousands) December 31 2008 2007

Billed receivables

Trade and other receivabl $ 286,12¢ $ 288,66
Less: Allowance for doubtful accour (4,824 (5,347%)
Net billed receivable 281,29¢ 283,31

Unbilled receivables

Recoverable costs and estimated earnings not | 135,51: 123,69!

Less: Progress payments app! (21,15) (24,09)
Net unbilled receivable 114,36( 109,60
Receivables, ne $ 395,65¢ $ 392,91¢

The net receivable balance at December 31, 206Bided $17.8 million related to the Corporation38 acquisitions.
4. INVENTORIES

Inventoried costs contain amounts relating to lterga contracts and programs with long productiotiesy, a portion of which will not be
realized within one year. Inventories are valuethatiower of cost (principally average cost) orked The composition of inventories is as
follows:

(In thousands) December 31 2008 2007
Raw materia $ 126,79¢  $ 97,58(
Work-in-process 63,19¢ 58,70(
Finshed goods and component p. 82,65: 70,631
Inventoried costs related to U.S. Government ahdrdbn¢-term contract: 60,72: 62,21¢
Gross inventorie 333,36 289,13t
Less: Inventory reserve (34,289 (30,999
Progress payments applied, pradbipelated to lon-term contract: (17,57¢ (16,409
Inventories, ne $ 281,506 $ 241,72¢

The net inventory balance at December 31, 2008ided $9.4 million related to the Corporation’s 2@@8uisitions.

Page 65




5. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

The composition of property, plant, and equipmeras follows:

(In thousands) December 31, 2008 2007

Land $ 19,62( $ 21,45:
Buildings and improvemen 127,59 132,64°
Machinery, equipment, and otr 533,80( 473,58
Property, plant, and equipment, at ¢ 681,01! 627,68!
Less: Accumulated depreciati (316,98)) (298,029)
Property, plant, and equipment, | $ 364,03 $ 329,65

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@088, 2007, and 2006 was $47.2 million, $43.Bioni and $38.8 million, respectively.
6. GOODWILL
Goodwill consists primarily of the excess purchpsee of acquisitions over the fair value of the agsets acquired.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwillZ668 and 2007 are as follows:

Flow Motion Metal
(In thousands) Control Control Treatment Consolidatec
December 31, 200 $ 130,060 $ 257,15¢ $23,88: $ 411,10:
Goodwill from 2007 acquisition 123,08! 17,14¢ 140,23(
Change in estimate to fair value of net assetsiesdjin prior year: 87t (1,309 304 (1249
Additional consideration of prior ye¢ acquisitions 8,46( 903 10 9,37:
Foreign currency translation adjustm 1,96t 7,667 207 9,83¢
December 31, 200 $ 264,44 $ 281,56¢ $24,40¢ $ 570,41
Goodwill from 2008 acquisition — 58,58¢ 5,061 63,641
Change in estimate to fair value of net assetsiegdjin prior year: 58C 343 — 923
Additional consideration of prior ye¢ acquisitions, net of dispositic 61¢ (1,199 — (579
Foreign currency translation adjustm (4,769 (19,759 (99%5) (25,519
December 31, 200 $ 260,88 $ 319547 $2847( $ 608,89¢

During 2008, the Corporation finalized the allooatbf the purchase price for all businesses acdjyirior to 2008. Approximately $5.0 million
and $120 million of the goodwill on acquisitions aeaduring 2008 and 2007, respectively, is deduefidt tax purposes.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Corporatiomgleted its annual goodwill impairment testing &®otober 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006
and July 31, 2006. During the quarter ended Dece®be2006, the Corporation changed the date @fitaial goodwill impairment testing to
October 31 in order to better align with the Cogtimn’s normal business process for updating the@@ation’s strategic plan and forecasts.
The Corporation believes that the resulting changecounting principle related to the annual testiate will not delay, accelerate, or avoi
impairment charge. Goodwill impairment tests pearfed as of October 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 and31yl2006, concluded that no
impairment charges were required as of those datesCorporation determined that the change inwattdog principle related to the annual
testing date is preferable under the circumstaandsioes not result in adjustments to the Corporatifinancial statements when applied
retrospectively.
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7. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Intangible assets are generally the result of attippiis and consist primarily of purchased techgp@ustomer related intangibles, and
trademarks. Intangible assets are amortized owfulus/es that range between 1 and 20 years.

The following table summarizes the intangible assetjuired (including their weighted-average uskfak) by the Corporation during 2008
and 2007. No indefinite lived intangible assetseygurchased in 2008 or 2007.

(I'n thousands, except years data) 2008 2007

Amount Years Amount Years
Technology $ 7,60¢ 11.2 $25,23] 12.5
Customer related intangibl 20,11¢ 10.1 51,417 11.¢
Other intangible asse 3,39¢ 9.1 22,55! 15.5
Total $31,12: 10.2 $99,20° 12.¢

The following tables present the cumulative comgasiof the Corporation’s acquired intangible asset of December 31:

(In thousands) Accumulated

2008 Gross Amortization Net
Technology $121,94¢ $ (33,867 $ 88,08
Customer related intangibl 153,11 (38,440 114,67
Other intangible asse 37,96¢ (6,127 31,84
Total $313,02¢ $ (78,43() $ 234,59¢
(In thousands) Accumulated

2007 Gross Amortization Net
Technology $121,02¢ $ (26,46) $ 94,56¢
Customer related intangibl: 140,06 (25,359) 114,70
Other intangible asse 34,99¢ (3,427%) 31,56
Total $ 296,08 $ (55,24H $ 240,84.

The following table presents the changes in thébaktnce of other intangible assets during 2008:

Customer Other

Related Intangible
(In thousands) Technology Intangibles Assets Total
December 31, 200 $ 94,56¢ $ 114,700 $ 31,567 $ 240,84
Acquired during 200: 7,60¢ 20,11¢ 3,39¢ 31,12:
Change in estimate of fair value related to pureh@gce allocatiol 187 14 (8 19¢
Amortization expens (9,011 (14,939 (3,060 (27,009
Net foreign currency translation adjustm (5,27J) (5,230) (55) (10,55¢)
Total $ 88,08 % 114,67 $ 31,84: $ 234,59

Included in other intangible assets at DecembeB@8 and 2007, are $9.9 million of intangible &ss®t subject to amortization. In
accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Corporation cetegl its annual test of impairment of indefiniteetl intangible assets during the fourth
guarter of 2008, 2007, and 2006, and concludee: thas no impairment of value.
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Amortization expense for the years ended Decembe2@®8, 2007, and 2006 was $27.0 million, $19.lioni and $11.9 million, respectivel

The estimated future amortization expense of puethantangible assets is as follows:

(In thousands)

2009 23,72

2010 20,42(

2011 19,43:

2012 18,14

2013 16,717

8. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

(In thousands) December 31, 2008 2007
Accrued compensatic $ 68,91t $ 61,99¢
Accrued commission 7,88 9,961
Accrued interes 5,40¢ 5,324
Accrued taxes other than income ta 5,31¢ 5,17¢
Accrued insuranc 4,41z 5,38
Other 12,03¢ 15,36¢
Total accrued expens $ 103,97 $ 103,20°
Other current liabilities consist of the following:

(In thousands) December 31 2008 2007
Warranty reserve $ 10,77t  $ 10,77¢
Litigation reserve: 9,78: 8,022
Additional amounts due to sellers on acquisiti 9,53¢ 1,971
Restructuring accrui 6,14¢ —
Reserves on loss contra 4,20t 8,791
Current deferred tax liabilit 3,087 69C
Current portion of pension and other postretirenfiabilities 2,87¢ 2,35¢
Loss on forward foreign currency contra 2,43¢ 421
Current portion of environmental resen 1,80¢ 2,09«
Other 5,89: 3,27¢
Total other current liabilitie $ 56,54: $ 38,40!

The accrued expenses and other current liabibti€december 31, 2008 included $7.5 million and $12illion respectively, related to the
Corporation’s 2008 acquisitions.

The Corporation provides its customers with waliesndn certain commercial and governmental prodissmated warranty costs are char
to expense in the period the related revenue tgrézed based on the terms of the product warréidyrelated estimated costs, and
guantitative historical claims experience. Thegereses are adjusted in the period in which actesililts are finalized or additional informat
is obtained. The following table presents the clearig the Corporation’s warranty reserves:

(In thousands) 2008 2007

Warranty reserves at January $ 10,77« % 9,957
Provision for current year sal 7,38¢ 3,99:
Current year claim (4,697 (3,039
Change in estimates to |-existing warrantie (2,059 (1,51¢)
Increase due to acquisitio 97 1,027

Foreign currency translation adjustm (730 352




Warranty reserves at December $ 10,77t  $ 10,77
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In connection with the acquisition of VMETRO in ©ber 2008, the Corporation established a restrimgt@ccrual of $7.1 million in
accordance with EITF No. 95-3 Recognition of Ligldk in Connection with a Purchase Business Coatluin. The restructuring accrual
consists of costs to exit the activities of cerfaicilities, including lease cancellation costs amternal legal and consulting fees, as well ass
to relocate or involuntarily terminate certain eoygdes of the acquired business. As of Decembe2@®18, the Corporation has not finalized its
plans associated with the restructuring and hasetgd the costs noted above. These costs arecstbdjustment upon finalization of the
plan, and will be accounted for as an adjustmetitegurchase price of the acquisition. We intenddmplete these activities by the third

quarter of 2009.

The following table shows the details of the restining cost accruals included in other currerttilibes for the year ended December 31,

2008.

Severance anc Facility Relocation
(In thousands) Benefits Closing Costs Costs Total
October 15, 200 $ 442;:  $ 2,03 $ 62¢  $7,08¢
Cash Paic (604) — — (604)
Currency Translation Adjustme (202) (13€) — (33¢)
December 31, 200 $ 3,61¢ % 1,902 $ 62¢  $6,14¢
9. INCOME TAXES
Earnings before income taxes for the years endegmbker 31 consist of:
(In thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Domestic $ 71,97¢ $ 89,42 $ 74,27*
Foreign 97,12¢ 64,74¢ 43,34,
169,10: 154,17: 117,62:
The provision for income taxes for the years erddedember 31 consist of:
(In thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Current:
Federal $28,64¢ $35177 $ 29,64(
State 8,90¢ 3,602 4,72¢
Foreign 28,53: 19,20¢ 14,10¢
66,08 57,98 48,47:
Deferred:
Federal (5,410 (4,109 (5,397
State (1,709 337 (930
Foreign 38¢ (4,3772) (5,097)
(6,726 (8,144 (11,419
Valuation allowanct 35€ — —
Provision for income taxe $59,71: $49,84: $ 37,05:
The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. fedstatutory tax rate for the years ended Decembgpr@icipally:
2008 2007 2006
U.S. federal statutory tax ra 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%



Add (deduct).

State and local taxes, net of federal ber 2.6 1.8 2.C
Enacted future rate chanc 0.1 (2.3 (1.4
R&D tax credits 1.2 (1.9 (3.0
Foreign rate differentic 1.3 0.2 (0.8
All other, net 0.1 (0.7) 0.3
Effective tax rate 35.2% 32.% 31.5%
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During 2008, a valuation allowance of $5.0 millwas established through purchase accounting ak eésurecent acquisition. An additional
valuation allowance $0.4 million was establishedtigh income tax provision. Our 2007 effective tabe included tax benefits of $4.1 millic
including $3.2 million related to the tax law chasgn Canada, the United Kingdom, and Germany eselarch and development credits from
our U.K. operations of $0.9 million. Our 2006 efige tax rate included tax benefits of $5.1 millimeluding $2.0 million relating to research
and development credits from our Canadian opersitibie impact of a Canadian tax law change enalitedg the second quarter of 2006,
which resulted in a $1.6 million favorable adjustiheand the release of a tax reserve associatédivgtsale of a former facility following the
expiration of the statute of limitations, which uéted in a $1.5 million favorable adjustment, nktax.

The components of the Corporation’s deferred taet@sand liabilities at December 31 are as follows:

(In thousands) 2008 2007

Deferred tax asset

Environmental reserve $ 897C $ 9,62¢
Inventories 10,83 9,98
Postretirement/postemployment bene 16,31( 16,38:
Incentive compensatic 5,18¢ 5,19¢
Accrued vacation pa 4,781 4,37(
Warranty reserv 3,28t 2,35¢
Legal reserve 3,66¢ 2,79i
Sharw-based paymen 4,64¢ 3,03¢
Retirement plan 40,67¢ —
Other 17,70: 9,68:
Total deferred tax asse 116,06( 63,43:
Deferred tax liabilities
Retirement plan — 19,36¢
Depreciatior 19,93¢ 18,45¢
Goodwill amortizatior 25,331 20,19¢
Other intangible amortizatic 31,97( 31,67¢
Cumulative translation adjustme — 4,087
Other 2,937 2,02:
Total deferred tax liabilitie 80,18( 95,80¢
Valuation allowanct 5,37t —
Net deferred tax assets (liabilitie $ 30,50t  $(32,37)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflectedhe Corporation’s consolidated balance sheeeae®ber 31 as follows:

(In thousands) 2008 2007

Net current deferred tax ass $ 37,31« $ 30,20¢
Net current deferred tax liabilitie 3,087 69C
Net noncurrent deferred tax ass 23,12¢ 52€
Net noncurrent deferred tax liabiliti 26,85( 62,41¢
Net deferred tax assets (liabilitie $ 30,50  $(32,37))

As of December 31, 2008, the Corporation had stateforeign net operating loss carryforwards oR3$8illion, after tax. The state net
operating loss carryforwards expire through the Y823. The foreign net operating loss carryforwgdiat Mexico expire through the year 2(
and Norway has no expiration date.

Income tax payments of $65.3 million were maded@& $62.1 million in 2007, and $45.4 million inG&

No provision has been made for U.S. federal origoréaxes on that portion of certain foreign sulzsids’ undistributed earnings considered to
be permanently reinvested, which at December 308 2@as $111.0 million. It is not practicable toimstte the amount of tax that would be
payable if these amounts were repatriated to thieediStates; however, it is expected there woulchbemal or no additional tax because of
the availability of foreign tax credit
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Effective January 1, 2007, the Corporation adoghedorovisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Acering for Uncertainty in Income Taxes
— an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (“F4Bl"). FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold atmeasurement attribute for the
financial statement recognition and measuremetgopositions taken or expected to be taken irxaeturn. For those benefits to be
recognized, a tax position must be more-likely-thahto be sustained upon examination by taxingaittes. As a result of the
implementation of FIN 48, the Corporation recogdize$0.5 million increase in the liability for uemgnized tax benefits, which was accoui
for as a reduction to January 1, 2007 balancetainmed earnings. At December 31, 2008 and 2007Ctrporation had a liability for
unrecognized tax benefits of $4.4 and $4.5 milli@spectively (of which $3.4 and $3.3 million, écognized, would favorably affect the
Corporation’s effective tax rate).

Interest costs related to unrecognized tax beref@slassified as a component of “Interest expemst® in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. Penalties are recogaiz@dcomponent of “Selling, general and adminisgaxpenses.” Upon the implementation
of FIN 48, the Corporation recognized $0.2 millmiinterest expense and $0.2 million of penalfigd®e Corporation recognized $0.2 and $0.5
million of interest expense for the years endeddbdwer 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and $0.Bomibf penalties related to unrecognized
tax benefits for the year ended December 31, 2007.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoofntinrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

(In thousands) 2008 2007

Balance at January $4,50: $3,261
Additions based on tax positions taken during argeriod 59t 80z
Additions based on tax positions taken during threent perioc 35¢ 581
Reductions related to settlement of tax mat (347) (10
Reductions related to a lapse of applicable statiienitations (39¢) (349
Foreign currency translatic (265) 217
Balance at December & $4,44  $4,50:

In many cases the Corporation’s uncertain tax jpositare related to tax years that remain subjeek&mination by tax authorities. The
following describes the open tax years, by majeijugisdiction, as of December 31, 2008:

United State— Federa 2005- presen
United State-— State 1998- presen
Canade 2005- presen

The Corporation does not expect any significanhgea to the estimated amount of liability assodiatéh its uncertain tax positions through
the next twelve months.

10. DEBT

Debt consists of the following:

(In thousands) December 31, 2008 2007
Industrial Revenue Bonds, due from 2008 througts: $ 9,05¢ $ 9,12
Revolving Credit Agreement, due 20 154,50( 152,00(
5.13% Senior Notes due 20 74,90( 74,84:
5.74% Senior Notes due 20 125,06¢ 125,08(
5.51% Senior Notes due 20 150,00( 150,00(
Other deb 3,18¢ 861
Total debi 516,70¢ 511,90¢
Less: Sho-term debi 3,24¢ 923
Total Lon¢-term debt $513,46( $510,98:

The weighted-average interest rate of the Corpmméilndustrial Revenue Bonds was 2.32% and 3.582008 and 2007, respectively. The
weighted-average interest rate of the Corporati®®golving Credit Agreement was 3.80% and 6.13%008 and 2007, respectively.
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The fair value of the Corporation’s debt is prepareaccordance with the requirements of SFAS NG, &s noted above. The estimated fair
value amounts were determined by the Corporatigrgwsvailable market information which is primaridased on quoted market prices for the
same or similar issues. The carrying amount ofrilestrial Revenue Bonds approximates fair valuthasnterest rates on this variable debt
are reset periodically to reflect market conditians rates. Fair values for the Corporation’s fixate debt totaled $313.9 million and $343.9
million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectivEhese fair values were estimated by managemaéstfdir values described above may
be indicative of net realizable value or reflectofduture fair values. Furthermore, the use ofedi#nt methodologies to determine the fair vi

of certain financial instruments could result idifierent estimate of fair value at the reportirajed

Aggregate maturities of debt are as folldWs

(In thousands)

2009 $ 3,24¢
2010 75,06¢
2011 68
2012 154,57(
2013 125,07:
Thereaftel 158,71¢
Total $516,74:

(1 Amounts exclude a $0.1 million adjustment to thealue of long-term debt relating to the Corparats interest rate swap agreements that wereesdttlcash during 2005.

Interest payments of $26.5 million, $25.3 milli@md $21.3 million were made in 2008, 2007, and 208&pectively.

On August 10, 2007, the Corporation and certaiitsacgubsidiaries amended and refinanced its egistiadit facility and entered into a Second
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (“Credit Agrent”). The proceeds available under the Credie@gent are to be used for working
capital, internal growth initiatives, funding oftéwe acquisitions, and general corporate purpddes Corporation’s available credit under the
credit facility increased from $400.0 million to 280 million from a syndicate of banks, led by Bafildmerica, N.A. and JP Morgan Chase
Bank, N.A. as the co-arrangement banks. The CAgtitement also contains an accordion feature wbachexpand the overall credit line to a
maximum aggregate amount of $600.0 million. Thescotium membership has remained relatively the sdine Credit Agreement extends
the maturity from July 23, 2009 to August 10, 2042which time all amounts then outstanding untderGredit Agreement will be due and
payable. In addition, the Credit Agreement proviftgsmproved pricing and more favorable covenantnis, reduced facility fees, and
increased availability of the facility for letten$ credit. Borrowings under the Credit Agreemerdtiaterest at a floating rate based on market
conditions. In addition, our interest rate and lefdacility fees are dependent on certain finahcatio levels, as defined in the Credit
Agreement. We are subject to annual facility feeshe commitments under the Credit Agreement. hmeation with the Credit Agreement,
we paid customary transaction fees that have befamrdd and are being amortized over the termefedit Agreement. We are required
under the Credit Agreement to maintain certainrfgial ratios and meet certain financial tests,ntost restrictive of which is a debt to
capitalization limit of 60% and a cross defaultyston with our other senior indebtedness. The Egreement does not contain any
subjective acceleration clauses. As of Decembe@a8, the Corporation was in compliance with altfenants and had the flexibility to issue
additional debt of approximately $731.0 million héut exceeding the covenant limit defined in thediirAgreement. We would consider ot
financing alternatives to maintain capital struetbalance and ensure compliance with all debt aowsnWe had $154.5 million and $152.0
million in borrowings outstanding (excluding lettesf credit) under the Credit Agreement at Decendie2008 and 2007, respectively. The
unused credit available under the Credit Agreeraéecember 31, 2008 and 2007 was $208.0 milli@h$224.4 million, respectively.

On December 1, 2005, the Corporation issued $15@lidn of 5.51% Senior Notes (the “2005 Notes"heT2005 Notes mature on December
1, 2017. The Notes are senior unsecured obligadodsare equal in right of payment to the Corporesi existing senior indebtedness. The
Corporation, at its option, can prepay at any tather any part of the 2005 Notes, subject to aenskole amount in accordance with the te
of the Note Purchase Agreement. In connection thighNotes, the Corporation paid customary feesitaaeé been deferred and will be
amortized over the terms of the Notes. The Corpmras required under the Note Purchase
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Agreement to maintain certain financial ratios, thest restrictive of which is a debt to capitaliaatlimit of 60% and a cross default provision
with the Corporation’s other senior indebtednessoADecember 31, 2008, the Corporation was in diamge with all covenants.

In November 2005, the Corporation unwound its egerate swap agreements with notional amount2@iillion and $60 million, which
were originally put in place to convert a portidrtlee fixed interest on the $75 million 5.13% Serimtes and $125 million 5.74% Senior
Notes, respectively, to variable rates based ooifspe spreads over s-month LIBOR. The unwinding of these swap agreemseggulted in a
net loss of $0.2 million, which has been deferred is being amortized over the remaining term efuhderlying debt.

On September 25, 2003, the Corporation issued 820Dlion of Senior Notes (the “2003 Notes”). Thed3 Notes consist of $75.0 million of
5.13% Senior Notes that mature on September 2% a80d $125.0 million of 5.74% Senior Notes thaturabn September 25, 2013. The 2
Notes are senior unsecured obligations and ard eqright of payment to the Corporati's existing senior indebtedness. The Corporation, a
its option, can prepay at any time all or any péthe 2003 Notes, subject to a make-whole amauatcordance with the Note Purchase
Agreement. The Corporation paid customary feestthaé been deferred and will be amortized ovetahas of the 2003 Notes. The
Corporation is required under the Note Purchasedément to maintain certain financial ratios, thestmestrictive of which is a debt to
capitalization limit of 60% and a cross defaultypston with the Corporation’s other senior indebtesss. As of December 31, 2008, the
Corporation was in compliance with any covenants.

At December 31, 2008, substantially all of the istthial revenue bond issues are collateralized ayestate, machinery, and equipment. Ce
of these issues are supported by letters of cnellith total $8.5 million. The Corporation had vars other letters of credit totaling $54.0
million. Substantially all letters of credit arecladed under the Credit Agreement.

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Corporation is required to report both basiniegs per share (“EPS”), based on the weightedagenumber of Common shares
outstanding, and diluted earnings per share, baisede basic EPS adjusted for all potentially ditishares issuable.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Corporationnteedqualified share options outstanding of 1,078 8fares and 357,984 shares,
respectively, which were not included in the conagion of diluted EPS because to do so would haea batidilutive. Earnings per share
calculations for the years ended December 31, 22087, and 2006, are as follows:

Weighted-Average Earnings

(In thousands, except per share data) Net Income Shares Outstanding Per Share
2008:
Basic earnings per she $ 109,39( 44,71¢ $  2.4%
Effect of dilutive securities

Employee sha-based compensation awal 59¢€

Deferred director sha-based compensatic 62
Diluted earnings per sha $ 109,39( 4537 $ 241
2007:
Basic earnings per she $ 104,32¢ 4431 $ 2.3t
Effect of dilutive securities

Employee sha-based compensation awal 602

Deferred director sha-based compensatic 64
Diluted earnings per sha $ 104,32¢ 4497¢ $ 2.3
2006:
Basic earnings per she $ 80,56¢ 43,82¢ $  1.8¢
Effect of dilutive securities

Employee sha-based compensation awal 44&

Deferred director sha-based compensatic 63
Diluted earnings per sha $ 80,56¢ 4433¢ $ 1.8:

Page 7:






12. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

The Corporation maintains three share-based comafienglans under which it utilizes six differeotins of employee and non-employee
share-based compensation awards, as explainedherfdetail below, which include napsalified share options, employee stock purchaze
options, performance shares, performance restridtaces, restricted stock, and restricted stods.u@ertain awards provide for accelerated
vesting if there is a change in control. Prioraauary 1, 2006, the Corporation applied the initimalue method of Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock IssuedEmployees,” and related interpretations in aotiog for share-based employee awards.
Accordingly, the Corporation did not recognize camgation expense for the issuance of non-quakfiedte options with an exercise price
equal to the market value of the underlying commstmeck on the date of grant or for options granteden the employee stock purchase plan.
Effective January 1, 2006, the Corporation ado®EAS 123(R) using the modified prospective traasithethod and therefore has not resi
prior periods. Under this transition method, congadion cost associated with employee stock optieosgnized in 2008, 2007, and 2006
includes compensation expense related to the rémgaimvested portion of non-qualified share optigremted prior to January 1, 2006.

The compensation cost charged against income fptog@e and non-employee director shaased compensation programs during 2008, :
and 2006 is as follows:

(In thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Non-qualified share option $ 564t  $ 6,25¢ $ 3,55¢
Employee stock purchase optic 2,78 1,557 1,387
Performance shart 2,027 1,63( 1,011
Performance restricted sha 26E 26C 26C
Restricted stock and restricted stock u 2,34¢ 82z 56
Other shar-based paymen 59¢ 384 34¢
Total shar-based compensation expense before income 13,66: 10,91: 6,621
Income tax benef 4,29 3,741 1,98¢
Net income impac $ 9,366 $ 7171 % 4,63

Other share-based payments include unrestrictee shizards to employees and restricted stock avwandsn-employee directors, who are
treated as employees as prescribed by SFAS 1ZBlie)compensation cost recognized follows the cbgteoemployee, which is primarily
reflected as general and administrative expenstgeinonsolidated statements of earnings. No castoapitalized during 2008, 2007, or 2006.

1995 Long-Term Incentive Plan and 2005 Long-Tercettive Plan

Awards under the 1995 Long-Term Incentive Ridue “1995 LTI Plan”) consisted of three components — performance uratshj, non-
qualified stock options, and non-employee diregrants. Under the 1995 LTI Plan approved by stolddrs in 1995 and as amended in 2002
and 2003, an aggregate total of 4,000,000 shar€smimon stock were approved for issuance. Issuafd@emmon stock to satisfy employee
option exercises will be made from the Corporasanéasury stock. The Corporation does not expefurchase any shares in 2009 to
replenish treasury stock for issuances made tefgatiock option exercises.

Effective May 19, 2005, stockholders approved tB@32Long-Term Incentive Plgthe “2005 LTI Plan”) (collectively with the 1995T1L Plan,
the “LTI Plans”) , which superseded the 1995 LTI Plan. The shagsihre registered and not yet issued under the L99Plan were
deregistered and then registered under the 200%°lan. There are no new awards being granted uhder995 LTI Plan and no remaining
allowable shares for future awards under the 19B5Hlan. As of December 31, 2008 there were optiepsesenting a total of 0.8 million
shares outstanding under the 1995 plan.

Awards under the 2005 LTI Plan consist of six comgias — performance units (cash), non-qualifiedkstptions, performance shares,
performance restricted shares, restricted stoekyastricted stock units. Under the 2005 LTI PEmaggregate total of 5,000,000 shares of
Common stock were registered. Issuances of CommaaR 0 satisfy employee option exercises will bede from the Corporation’s treasury
stock. The Corporation does not expect to repuchay shares in 2009 to replenish treasury stactis$oances made to satisfy stock option
exercises. No more than 200,000 shares of Comnoak st 100,000 shares of restricted stock may terded in any year to any one
participant in the 2005 LTI Plan.
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Under the LTI Plans, the Corporation awarded tpgaformance units of 13.6 million, 11.4 million,da8.5 million in 2008, 2007, and 2006,
respectively, to certain key employees. The peréree units are denominated in dollars and arergenit upon the Corporation’s satisfaction
of performance objectives keyed to achieving pabfit growth over a period of three fiscal years m@mncing with the fiscal year following
such awards. The anticipated cost of such awarelgpisnsed over the three-year performance peribighvamounted to $9.4 million, $7.3
million, and $7.7 million in 2008, 2007, and 20@&spectively. The actual cost of the performandesunay vary from the total value of the
awards depending upon the degree to which the &dpnmance objectives are met.

Under the LTI Plans, the Corporation grants nonlifjed share options to key employees in the fouytlarter of each year. Stock options
granted under the LTI Plans expire ten years #fiedate of the grant and are generally exercisabfellows: up to one-third of the grant after
one year, up to two-thirds of the grant after tveans, and in full three years from the date of gran

Under the 2005 LTI Plan, the Corporation grantedgomance shares, performance restricted shargtsicted stock, and restricted stock units
to certain of the Corporation’s officers and certiaéy executives, which are denominated in shaassdon the fair market value of the
Corporation’s Common stock on the date of grane pérformance shares were granted to officerseoCibrporation in the fourth quarter of
2008, 2007, and 2006 and are contingent upon tiefegdion of performance objectives keyed to acimig profitable growth over a period of
three fiscal years commencing with the fiscal yfedowing such award. The performance restrictearsh were granted to certain key
employees in the first quarter of 2006 and werdingent upon the satisfaction of performance objestkeyed to achieving certain operating
income statistics in 2006. For those who satidttesir objectives, the performance restricted sha® issued but restricted for an additional
two years. The Corporation granted restricted stoits to two officers in September 2007 and 2@@tich, under the terms of the agreements,
will vest in 2016, and restricted stock to officared certain key executives in November 2008, 280d,2006, which, under the terms of the
agreements, will completely vest in 2011, 2010, 2009, respectively.

In May 2003, the Corporation’s Board of Director&latockholders approved an amendment to the 139®lan to authorize non-employee
directors to participate in the plan. The amendnpeovided that each non-employee director couléikecthe equivalent of $15,000 of the
Corporation’s Common stock per year. The Board ioédors approved and issued stock grants of 5&#estof the Corporation’s Common
stock in 2005 to each of the eight non-employeeadars. The stock grants were valued at $15,008cbas the market price of the
Corporation’s Common stock on the grant date ane\wgpensed at the time of issuance.

As of December 31, 2008, there are 2.3 million ri@amg allowable shares for issuance under the 2009°lan.
Nor-Qualified Share Options

The fair value of the non-qualified share optiorasvestimated at the date of grant using a Blacloi8stoption pricing model with the
assumptions noted in the following table. Expecteldtilities are based on historical volatility thie Corporation’s stock and other factors. The
Corporation uses historical data to estimate tipeeted term of options granted. The risk-free fatgeriods within the contractual life of the
option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curveffact at the time of grant.

2008 2007 2006
Risk-free rate 2.72% 3.88% 4.5%
Expected volatility 29.3% 23.6t% 22.1%%
Expected dividend 1.0€% 0.5% 0.65%
Expected term (in year 6 7 7
Weighte-average gra-date fair value of optior $ 8.9¢ $ 17.5C $ 12.0¢
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A summary of employee stock option activity under LTI Plans is as follows:

Weighted-
Average Aggregate
Weighted- Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Average Contractual Term Value
(000’s) Exercise Price in Years (000’s)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,99¢ $ 29.26
Granted 74¢ 30.17
Exercisec (154) 17.15
Forfeited (25 40.12
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 2,56¢ $ 30.15 7.3 $ 8,31
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 1,46¢ $ 25.84 5.6 $ 11,08:

The total intrinsic value of stock options exerdiskiring 2008, 2007, and 2006 was $5.1 million7$8illion, and $6.4 million, respectively.
The table above represents the Corporation’s estiofeoptions fully vested and/or expected to esseéxpected forfeitures are not material to
the Corporation and therefore are not reflectethéntable above.

As noted above, non-qualified stock option awaralgeha graded vesting schedule. Compensation castagnized on a straighire basis ove
the requisite service period for each separatedyirvg portion of each award as if each award wasilvstance, multiple awards. During 2008,
2007, and 2006, compensation cost associated withgnalified stock options of $5.6 million, $6.3lloin, and $3.6 million respectively, was
charged to expense. The Corporation has appliedeitiire assumption of 7% in the calculation offsexpense. As of December 31, 2008,
there was $5.7 million of unrecognized compensatiust related to nonvested stock options, whiaxjEected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 1.6 years.

Cash received from option exercises during 2008728nd 2006 was $2.6 million, $4.4 million, and1$+illion, respectively. The total tax
benefit generated from options exercised during32@007, and 2006, was $1.6 million, $3.0 milliand $2.4 million, respectively. Tax
benefits received on exercised options which wabgest to expense under SFAS 123(R) have beentedetdi deferred taxes up to the amount
of benefit recorded in the income statement, withdifference charged to additional paid in capitdile tax benefits received on exercised
options that were not subject to expense have beslited to additional paid in capital.

Performance Shares, Performance Restricted ShRestricted Stock, and Restricted Stock L

Since 2005, the Corporation granted performanceeshand performance restricted shares to certgtogees under the 2005 LTI Plan, whi
vesting is contingent upon meeting various depantel@nd company-wide performance goals, inclugiegincome targets against budget and
as a percentage of sales against a peer grouppanatiog income as a percentage of sales agaidgehulhe nonvested shares are subject to
forfeiture if established performance goals aremet, or employment is terminated other than dwtettth, disability, or retirement. The shares
are nontransferable while subject to forfeiturestReted stock and restricted stock units have latésmn granted to key executives during 2008,
2007, and 2006. The nonvested restricted stockestdcted stock units are subject to forfeiturenfployment is terminated other than due to
death or disability, and the units are nontrangferavhile subject to forfeiture. A summary of ther@oration’s nonvested performance share,
performance restricted share, restricted stockresigicted stock unit activity for 2008 is as fwlls:

Shares Weighted-Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Units Average Contractual Term Intrinsic Value
(000’s) Fair Value in Years (000’s)
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 62¢ % 37.21
Granted 34z 30.1Z
Vested — —
Forfeited (10 48.7¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 961 $  34.5] 2.8 $ 32,088
Expected to vest at December 31, 2 631 $  35.0¢ 3.7 $ 21,077

Page 76



The grantdate fair values of performance shares are baséteoriosing market price of the stock on the détgrant, and compensation cos
amortized to expense on a straight-line basis thesthreeyear requisite service period and assumes thabvziopately 50% of the performan
shares will be forfeited. As forfeiture assumptiehsinge, compensation cost will be adjusted omautative basis in the period of the
assumption change. During 2006, it was determihati27,000 performance restricted shares wouldtaa#y vest, and, therefore, the
Corporation had expensed $0.3 million in 2008, 2@0id 2006. These shares will vest on January9.2Zlhe grant date fair values of the
restricted stock and restricted stock units aredas the closing market price of the stock atiéte of grant. The restricted stock and restr
stock units contain only a service condition, amastcompensation cost is amortized to expensestriaightline basis over the requisite serv
period, which ranged from 3.0 years to 10.1 ye&ssof December 31, 2008, there was $13.6 millionmiecognized compensation cost rel:
to nonvested performance shares, restricted stmekrestricted stock units, which is expected todsegnized over a period of 3.7 years.

Employee Stock Purchase P!

The Corporation’s 2003 Employee Stock Purchase (@en*ESPP”) enables eligible employees to puretias Corporation’s Common stock
at a price per share equal to 85% of the loweheffair market value of the Common stock at thartrégg or end of each offering period. Ei
offering period of the ESPP lasts six months, i first offering period commencing on JanuargdQ4. Participation in the offering is
limited to 10% of an employee’s base salary (na@xceed amounts allowed under Section 423 of tteerial Revenue Code), may be
terminated at any time by the employee, and auticaist ends on termination of employment with ther@oration. A total of 2,000,000 shares
of Common stock have been reserved for issuanceriuhd ESPP. The Common stock to satisfy the gtackhases under the ESPP will be
newly issued shares of Common stock. During 2088,468 shares were purchased under the ESPP.Paceinber 31, 2008, there were 1.2
million shares available for future offerings ahe Corporation has withheld $1.5 million from enygdes, the equivalent of 140,000 shares.
Compensation cost is recognized on a straightdases over the six-month vesting period during Wwhemployees perform related services.
The Corporation recognized $0.2 million of tax bféresssociated with disqualifying dispositions digi2008, all of which was credited to
additional paid in capital.

The fair value of the employee stock purchase pfations was estimated at the date of grant usiBlgaek-Scholes option pricing model with
the weighted-average assumptions noted in theviollp table. Expected volatilities are based ondnisél volatility of the Corporation’s stock.
The Corporation uses historical data to estimatesttpected term of options granted. The risk-fege for periods within the contractual life of
the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield eimeffect at the time of grant.

2008 2007 2006
Risk-free interest rat 2.74&% 4.22% 4.82%
Expected volatility 33.9%% 30.02% 23.2%
Expected dividend yiel 0.35% 0.2%% 0.472%
Weightec-average option life (in year 0.5 0.t 0.5
Weighte-average gra-date fair value of option $ 115C $ 1161 $ 6.52

1996 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors and 28tk Plan for Non-Employee Directors

The 2005 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (2@&tock Plan”), approved by the stockholders i32@rovided for the grant of stock
awards and, at the option of the non-employee ttirecthe deferred payment of regular stipulatadmensation and meeting fees in equivalent
shares. Under the 2005 Stock Plan, the Corporatioonhemployee directors each receive an annual restrtteek award, which is subject t
three-year restriction period commencing on the dgéthe grant. For 2008, 2007, and 2006, the valuke award granted in the first quarter
was $50,000 per director. These restricted stocrdsvare subject to forfeiture if the nemployee director resigns or retires by reasorisbt
her decision not to stand for re-election priottte lapsing of all restrictions, unless the retitits are otherwise removed by the Committee on
Directors and Governance. The cost of the resttisteck awards will be amortized over the three yestriction period from the date of grant,
or such shorter restriction period as determinethbyremoval of such restrictions. Newly elected-employee directors also receive a one-
time restricted stock award, which during 2008, 20thd 2006 was valued at $25,000. The total numbghnares of Common stock available
for grant under the 2005 Stock Plan may not exd€@&d000 shares. During 2008, 2007 and 2006, thpdZation awarded 11,628, 10,642, and
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15,320, respectively, shares of restricted stodeuthe 2005 Stock Plan, of which 6,120, 7,512, %480 shares, respectively, have been
deferred by certain directors.

The 1996 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors @8 $tock Plan”), approved by the stockholders 86l @uthorized the grant of restricted
stock awards and, at the option of the non-emplajf@etors, the deferred payment of regular stifgal@ompensation and meeting fees in
equivalent shares. Pursuant to the terms of thé $88ck Plan, non-employee directors received #ialinestricted stock grant of 7,224 shares
in 1996, which became unrestricted in 2001. Adddity, on the fifth anniversary of the initial gtathose non-employee directors who
remained a non-employee director received an additirestricted stock grant equal to the produéhafeasing $13,300 at an annual rate of
2.96%, compounded monthly from the effective ddtidhe 1996 Stock Plan. In 2001, the amount percthirewas calculated to be $15,419,
representing a total additional grant of 3,110rietstd shares. The cost of the restricted stock@svia being amortized over the five-year
restriction period from the date of grant. Priothe effective date of the 2005 Stock Plan, newdgted non-employee directors received
similar compensation under the terms of the 1996kPlan upon their election to the Board.

Pursuant to election by non-employee directoreteive shares in lieu of payment for earned anedrdef compensation under the 2005 and
1996 Stock Plans, the Corporation had providedfoaggregate additional 62,077 and 63,808 shams aterage price of $25.51 and $25.96,
respectively, as of December 31, 2008 and 200pertively. During 2008 and 2007, the Corporaticuésd 11,407 and 13,002 shares,
respectively, in compensation pursuant to sucltieles:

13. ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

The Corporation has continued the operation ofjtloeind water and soil remediation activities at\Weod-Ridge, New Jersey, site through
2008. The cost of constructing and operating tigsvgas provided for in 1990 when the Corporatistablished a reserve to remediate the
property. The reserve balance as of December 3B, 2@as $6.0 million, which was a slight decreager éhe prior year balance due to
continuing payments against the established ligbliven though this property was sold in Decen#t¥Y1, the Corporation retained the
responsibility for this remediation in accordandéhwhe sale agreement.

The Corporation has been named as a potentialppnsible party (“PRP”), as have many other corponatand municipalities, in a number of
environmental clean-up sites. The Corporation cmets to make progress in resolving these clainmaigir settlement discussions and
payments from established reserves. Significaes sgmaining open at the end of the year are: Galdwucking landfill superfund site,
Fairfield, New Jersey; Sharkey landfill superfuite, sParsippany, New Jersey; and Chemsol, Inc.rfupe site, Piscataway, New Jersey. The
Corporation believes that the outcome for any egéhremaining sites will not have a materially ageeffect on the Corporation’s results of
operations or financial condition.

In the first quarter of 2005, the Corporation sitéd-airfield, New Jersey, property, which was ferty an operating facility for the
Corporation’s Motion Control segment. Under thesadreement, the Corporation has retained the megplity to continue the ongoing
environmental remediation on the property. At theedf the sale, remediation costs associatedthatffrairfield site were anticipated to be
incurred over three to five years with an estimatest of $1.5 million. During 2006, the Corporatiogreased the remediation reserve by $0.7
million based upon revised operating cost projectidAs of December 31, 2008, the reserve balanseb@& million.

In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Corporation @aged the remediation reserve related to the CAldivweking landfill superfund site by $4.4
million. The increase related to the estimated gdoater remediation for this site, which could spaar 30 years. During 2006, the
Corporation increased the remediation reserve by #fllion based upon revised operating projectidiisough 2007, the majority of the costs
for this site have been for the soil remediatios.ohDecember 31, 2008, the reserve balance wdsdiflion.

The Corporation maintains several Nuclear RegwaBmmmission (“NRC”) licenses necessary for thetiowred operation of one operating
facility. In connection with these licenses, the®lRequires financial assurance from the Corpordtiche form of a parent company guarar
representing estimated environmental decommisgioan remediation costs associated with the comalengerations covered by the
licenses. In addition, the Corporation has oblmaifor additional environmental remediation c@stthis facility, which are ongoing. As of
December 31, 2008, the balance in this reserveb@asmillion. In 2007 the Corporation recorded eeieable of $1.9 million for the recovery
from the U.S. Government and was based on a peséitigment for environmental remediation costeeiased with our EMD facility in
Cheswick, Pennsylvania. The Corporation deemedet@very probable per SOP 96-1 “Environmental Reatiexh Liabilities,” and
subsequently received
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the funds in the fourth quarter of 2008. The Coagion obtained partial environmental insurance cage specifically for this facility. The
policy provides coverage for losses due to on bsité pollution conditions, which are pre-existiagd unknown.

The Corporation’s aggregate environmental obligatibDecember 31, 2008 was $22.2 million compavekl8.0 million at December 31,
2007. Approximately 75% of the Corporation’s enwnimental reserves as of December 31, 2008 représentrrent value of anticipated
remediation costs and are not discounted primdrily to the uncertainty of timing of expenditurelse Temaining environmental reserves are
discounted using a rate of 4% to reflect the tiraki® of money since the amount and timing of cashents for the liability are reliably
determinable. All environmental reserves excludg @otential recovery from insurance carriers ordfparty legal actions. As of December
2008, the undiscounted cash flows associated Witdiscounted reserves were $9.2 million and atieipated to be paid over the next 30
years.

14. PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Corporation maintains thirteen separate artthdigpension and other postretirement benefit glaonsisting of five domestic pension and
other postretirement benefit plans and eight sepdoacign pension plans. The Corporation mainttliesfollowing domestic plans: a qualified
pension plan, a non-qualified pension plan, andsirptirement health-benefits plan (the “Curtissghir Plans”). As a result of the acquisition
of EMD in 2002, the Corporation obtained three wmdfed pension and postretirement benefit plans*BMD Plans”), similar in nature to tho:
listed above. The EMD qualified plan was subseduanérged into the Curtiss-Wright plan, as desatibelow. The unfunded status of the
acquired EMD Plans was recorded as a liabilithatdate of acquisition. During 2003, the funds eisdéed with the qualified pension plans of
both the Curtiss-Wright Plans and EMD Plans weaed under a master trust fund, from which the @@ation directs the investment strategy
for both plans.

In February 2007, a plan amendment was executdédanieffective date of January 1, 2007 merginghetiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical
Corporation (“EMD”) Pension Plan into the Curtisgigit Pension Plan, hereafter named the CurtisghiPension Plan (“CW Pension
Plan”). The merger has no effect on the level ahgdenefits provided to participants or the managerof plan assets since the funds for both
plans were historically managed under one masist.tAs a result of the merger, the assets andlitiied of the respective plans have been
combined in the consolidated balance sheet, raguilti a reclassification of accrued EMD pensiobility of $32.9 million to reduce the
Curtiss-Wright prepaid pension asset.

The foreign plans consist of three defined benmfitsion plans in the United Kingdom, two in Mexassumed in a 2007 acquisition, and one
plan each in Canada, Switzerland, and Norway. Towvidy plan and one of the plans in the United Korgdvere assumed in 2008
acquisitions. The total projected benefit obligatrelated to all foreign plans is $55.8 millionaDecember 31, 2008. Each plan is further
described below.

Domestic Plans
The Curtiss-Wright Plans

As a result of the qualified plan merger, the Cogion maintains a defined benefit pension plae,GW Pension Plan, covering all employees
under four benefit formulas: a non-contributory aomon and union formula for all Curtiss-Wright ¥C) employees except for those of the
Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation (“EM@nd a contributory union and non-union beneditfiula for participants of the former
EMD Pension Plan.

The formula for CW non-union employees is basegears of credited service, the five highest conseeyears’ compensation during the last
ten years of service, and a “cash balarmiefit. CW union employees who have negotiateenefit under the CW Pension Plan are entitle

a benefit based on years of service multiplied byoathly pension rate. Employees become particgpantler the CW Pension Plan after one
year of service and, due to recent changes in pefeaiv, are vested after three years of service.féhmula for EMD employees covers b
union and non-union employees and is designedtisfysthe requirements of relevant collective bangey agreements. Employee
contributions are withheld each pay period andegpgal to 1.5% of salary. The benefits for the EMiptyees are based on years of service
and compensation.

At December 31, 2008, the Corporation had a noeatipension liability of $72.5 million, while in @ the Corporation had prepaid pension
costs of $73.9 million. The Corporation did not trdyute funds to the CW Pension Plan in 2008 anekdwt expect to make contributions in
20009.
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The Corporation also maintains a non-qualifiedaegton plan (the “CW Restoration Plan”) coverihgse employees whose compensation or
benefits exceed the IRS limitation for pension ligneBenefits under the CW Restoration Plan arefmeded, and, as such, the Corporation
had an accrued pension liability of $11.7 millionde$3.8 million as of December 31, 2008 and 20€83pectively. The Corporation’s
contributions to the CW Restoration Plan are exgktd be $0.9 million in 2009.

The Corporation provides postretirement health bien® certain employees (the “CW Retirement P)ahi 2002, the Corporation restructul
the postretirement medical benefits for certaiivactmployees, effectively freezing the plan. Thégation associated with these active
employees was transferred to the CW Pension Plaaplan continues to be maintained for retired eyg#s. As of December 31, 2008 and
2007, the Corporation had an accrued postretiretvemefit liability of $0.7 million and $0.7 milligmespectively. Benefits under the plan are
not funded. The Corporation’s contributions to @\& Retirement Plan are not expected to be mater2009.

The EMD Plans

The Corporation maintains the Curtiss-Wright Eleditechanical Corporation Non-Qualified Plan (theB Supplemental Plan”), a non-
qualified, non-contributory, non-funded suppleméngéirement plan for eligible EMD key executivBfie EMD Supplemental Plan provides
for periodic payments upon retirement that are dhasetotal compensation (including amounts in exedgjualified plan limits) and years of
service and are reduced by benefits earned frotaioesther pension plans in which the executivetigipate. At December 31, 2008 and 2(
the Corporation had an accrued pension liabilitg2# million and $2.5 million, respectively. Thei@oration’s contributions to the EMD
Supplemental Plan are not expected to be matar009.

The Corporation, through an administration agreemath Westinghouse, maintains the WestinghouseeBuwment Services Group Welfare
Benefits Plan (the “EMD Retirement Plan”), a regiteealth and life insurance plan for substantialllyf the Curtiss-Wright Electro-
Mechanical Corporation employees. The EMD Retirenfdan provides basic health and welfare coverage woneontributory basis. Benefi
are based on years of service and are subjecttairceaps. The Corporation had an accrued pastne¢int benefit liability at December 31,
2008 and 2007 of $28.1 million and $30.5 millioespectively. Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agnegrie Corporation has a discounted
receivable from Washington Group Internationaldimburse the Corporation for a portion of thesenetisement benefit costs. At December
31, 2008 and 2007, the discounted receivable irclud other assets was $3.5 million and $4.0 nmijlr@spectively. The Corporation expects
to contribute $1.8 million to the EMD RetiremenaRIduring 2009.

Foreign Plans
Indal Technologies Hourly Plan (Canad

The Pension Plan for Hourly Employees of Indal Texdbgies, Inc. (“Indal Plan”) commenced on Marct2@05 in connection with the
acquisition of Indal by the Corporation. This namtributory defined benefit plan provides monthgnkfits to eligible members equal to a
member’s credited service multiplied by a fixedldoamount. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, ttqp&@ation had an accrued pension
liability of $0.2 million and $0.4 million, respeéeely. The Corporation’s contributions to the Inddhn are expected to be $0.3 million in 2009.

Metal Improvement Compar Salaried Staff Pension Scheme (U.K.)

The Corporation maintains the Salaried Staff Pensaihneme (“MIC Plan”) for the benefit of Metal Theeent employees in the U.K. This
contributory plan provides defined benefits to iblig members equal to one-sixtieth of final penalde salary for each year of pensionable
service. Members contribute at the rate of 6% eirthensionable salary, and the Corporation fuhdstalance of the cost to provide benefits.
Members are eligible for early retirement with reeld benefits. The plan provides for early retiretranmeduced benefits and was closed to
entrants as of January 1, 2004. As of Decembe2@18 and 2007, the Corporation had an accrued @ehability of $4.6 million and $3.1
million, respectively. The Corporation’s contribariis to the MIC Plan are expected to be approxim&@lI9 million in 2009.
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Penny & Giles Pension Plan (U.k

The Penny & Giles Pension Plan (“P&G Plan”) is atdbutory plan that provides for both defined bi#rend defined contribution benefits.
Defined benefit members are entitled to final satatated benefits equal to one-sixtieth of finahpionable salary for each year of pensionable
service. The P&G Plan provides for early retiremegmeduced benefits and was closed to new entaatitve of acquisition in 2002. The
following disclosures include information for therhy & Giles defined benefit section only, whicpnesents the majority of the P&G Plan’s
costs. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Catiporhad an accrued pension liability of $1.4 imilland $0.8 million, respectively. The
Corporation’s contributions to the P&G Plan areeotpd to be approximately $1.0 million in 2009.

Mechetronics Limited Retirement Benefits Schemg

The Corporation assumed defined benefit obligatama result of the acquisition of MechetronicgOmtober 1, 2008. The plan, which covers
20 employees as of December 31, 2008 and is ctoseelw entrants, is based on Final Pensionableysaal years of service. As of Decem
31, 2008, the Corporation had an accrued pensadility of $3.8 million. The Corporation’s contribans to the plans are expected to be $0.4
million in 2009.

Curtiss Wright Antriebstechnik GmbH (“CWAT") PensiBlan (Switzerland)

CWAT sponsors a defined contribution plan coveBdgemployees as of December 31, 2008. Under Sveias there is a guaranteed minim
benefit requirement which must be valued as a ddflyenefit obligation for US GAAP purposes. As @cBmber 31, 2008, the Corporation
had an accrued pension liability of $1.3 milliorhile as of December 31, 2007 the Corporation reizegha pension asset of an immaterial
amount. The Corporation’s contributions to the plare expected to be $0.7 million in 2009.

Power Systems Inc'PSI”) de Mexico Pension Plans (subsidiary of IMCalyhetics, Inc.)

The Corporation assumed defined benefit obligatama result of the acquisition of IMC Magnetic2007. Under Federal Labor Law in
Mexico, all full-time employees of PSI de Mexiceantitled to benefits under two plans: Senioritgrfium and Termination Indemnity. The
Seniority Premium plan enables employees to rededwefits in the event of death, disability, dissals voluntary separation, and retirement.
Benefits under voluntary separation and retirenaeatsubject to certain requirements. The beneditjigal to 12 days of salary per year of
accreditable service, payable or in lump sum. Téenination Indemnity enables employees to rece@reehts in the event of dismissal or
retirement. The benefit is equal to three monthsatdiry plus bonuses, plus twenty days of salary pbnus per year of accredited service,
payable in lump sum. As of December 31, 2008 arfi¥ 2the Corporation had an accrued pension lighokit$0.1 million and $0.2 million,
respectively. The Corporation’s contributions te fllans are expected to be immaterial in 2009.

VMETRO ASA Pension Plan

The Corporation assumed defined benefit obligatama result of the acquisition of VMETRO on Octob®, 2008. The group pension plan
entitles the employees of the Norwegian compani#s fwture benefits based on years of servicewthge level at time of retirement, and
benefits from the national insurance plan. As of@eber 31, 2008, the Corporation had an accruesiguehability of $1.8 million. The
Corporation’s contributions to the plan are expadtebe approximately $0.4M in 2009.

In the following table, the pension benefits infation is a consolidated disclosure of all domeatid foreign plans described above. The
postretirement benefits information includes thendstic CW and EMD postretirement benefit planghase are no foreign postretirement
benefit plans. All plans were valued using a Decendi, 2008 measurement date to comply with theireapents of SFAS No0.158 to measure
plan assets and benefit obligations as of the afatee employer’s fiscal year-end statement oftitial position.
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Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
(In thousands) 2008 2007 2008 2007
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $ 368,890 $ 32582t $ 31,14¢ $ 29,63
Service cos 23,19% 20,23¢ 684 62:
Interest cos 21,06¢ 19,08¢ 1,77¢ 1,744
Plan participan’ contributions 2,24¢ 1,702 43C 35¢
Amendment: 1,89¢ 382 — —
Actuarial (gain) los: (11,12 9,27¢ (3,200 1,07¢
Benefits paic (22,224 (22,53)) (2,684 (2,33))
Acquisitions/transferred liabilitie 16,46¢ 14,06¢ — —
Retiree drug subsidy receiv — 251 43

Settlement: (1,17¢) — — _



Plan measurement date chal 10,63: — 414 —
Currency translation adjustmet (11,169 84¢ — —
Benefit obligation at end of yeat 398,711 368,89: 28,81¢ 31,14¢
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of y 431,33¢ 373,67¢ — —
Actual return on plan asse (123,969 57,43¢ — —
Employer contributiot 3,78¢ 6,417 2,25¢ 1,97
Plan participan’ contributions 2,24¢ 1,702 43C 35¢
Acquisitions/transferred liabilitie 9,707 13,94 — —
Benefits paic (22,224 (22,537) (2,689 (2,33))
Settlement: (1,176 — — —
Plan measurement date chal 7,31t — — —
Currency translation adjustmet (8,13¢) 68¢ — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of yee 298,89: 431,33t — —
Funded status (99,827 62,44 (28,819 (31,14¢)
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial pgtion consist of:
Noncurrent asse — 73,94 — —
Current liabilities (2,04¢) (411 (2,830 (2,945
Noncurrent liabilities (98,779 (10,300 (26,989 (29,20))
Net amount recognized in statement of financial patson: $ (99.82) $ 63,23¢ (28,81%) (31,14¢
Amounts recognized in accumulated other compreheng income (AOCI)

consist of:
Net actuarial loss (gair 107,30t (33,77) (11,720 (9,179
Prior service cos 4,38¢ 3,28¢ — —
Net amount recognized in AOCI $ 111,69 $ (30,48 (11,720 (9,179
Amounts in AOCI expected to be recognized in net p@dic cost in the

coming year:
Loss (gain) recognitio 68t 17¢ (769) (52€)
Prior service cost recognitic 633 484 — —
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 349,627 $ 322,20( N/A N/A
Information for pension plans with an accumulated kenefit obligation in

excess of plan assets
Projected benefit obligatic 387,44: 27,58¢ N/A N/A
Accumulated benefit obligatic 342,63 23,78¢ N/A N/A
Fair value of plan asse 289,05: 17,38¢ N/A N/A
Weighted-average assumptions in determination of benefit olgation:
Discount rate 5.8% 5.87% 6.0(% 5.9%%
Rate of compensation incree 4.02% 4.03% N/A N/A
Health care cost trends:

Rate assumed for subsequent y N/A N/A 8.5(% 9.5(%

Ultimate rate reached in 20: N/A N/A 5.5(% 5.5(%



The following table details the components of reriquic pension expense for all Pension Plans:

Components of net periodic benefit expense:

(In thousands) 2008 2007 2006

Service cos $ 23197 $ 20,23 $ 19,40¢
Interest cos 21,06¢ 19,08t 17,71«
Expected return on plan ass (30,170 (28,21 (26,58))
Amortization of prior service co: 63t 481 452
Amortization of transition obligatio — — 4)
Recognized net actuarial lo 71¢ 51z 51C
Cost of settlemer 11¢ — 832
Special termination benefi — — 722
Net periodic benefit expen: $ 1556¢ $ 12,100 $ 13,05¢

Weighter-average assumptions in determination of net peribdnefit cost

Discount rate 5.81% 5.91% 5.7%
Expected return on plan ass 8.2% 8.42% 8.45%
Rate of compensation incree 4.02% 4.0(% 3.54%

The “Cost of settlement” and “Special terminatieméfits” indicated above represent events thadeceunted for under SFAS No.
88,”"Employers” Accounting for Settlements and Cilmants of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and famiieation Benefits (“FAS 88”). The
settlement charge in 2008 is resulting from theestent of an employee at CWAT in Switzerland. PO€6 settlement charge is resulting f
the retirement of a key executive and his subsecgleation to receive his pension benefit as alsihgnp sum payout. As a result of this sir
lump sum payout, special settlement requiremerdgiuRAS 88 have been triggered. The special tetinimaenefits charge resulted from
benefits offered for a limited period of time tateen employees in the Motion Control segment whesensubject to a reduction in workforce
with the Corporation during 2006. Consistent with tequirements of FAS 88, this liability is toeeognized when the employees accept the
offer and the amount can be reasonably estimated.

The following table details the components of reriquic expense for the CW and EMD Postretiremesntedit Plans:

(In thousands) 2008 2007 2006

Service cos $ 684 $ 62z $ 53(
Interest cos 1,77¢ 1,744 1,64~
Recognized net actuarial ge (575) (632) (53%)
Net periodic benefit expen: $ 1,887 $ 1,738 $ 1,64:

Weighted-average assumptions in determination bpeagodic benefit cost:

Discount rate 5.9% 5.9% 5.74%
Health care cost trend
Current year rat 9.5(% 11.5(% 13.0(%
Ultimate rate reached in 2010, 2011, and 2010 ectspely 5.5(% 5.5(% 5.5(%

The effect on the CW and EMD Retirement Plans t#achange in the health care cost trend is aswsllo

(In thousands) 1% Increase 1% Decrease

Total service and interest cost compont $ 26E $ (209

Postretirement benefit obligatic $ 2,86( $ (2,31)
Page 83



The following benefit payments, which reflect exigecfuture service, as appropriate, are expectéeé twaid from the plans:

EMD
Pension Postretirement Subsidy
(In thousands) Plans Plans Receipts Total
2009 $ 2954. $ 203¢ $ (159 $ 31,42
2010 30,16¢ 2,115 (169) 32,11
2011 32,45t 2,23t (183) 34,50:
2012 32,25¢ 2,30¢ (299 34,36:
2013 33,50¢ 2,35¢ (2149 35,64¢
2014- 2017 186,86¢ 12,22( (1,310 197,77¢

Pension Plan Assets

The Corporation maintains the funds of the CW RenBllan under a trust and are diversified acrogssiment classes and among investment
managers in order to achieve an optimal balancedwgt risk and return. In accordance with this golibe Corporation has established target
allocations for each asset class and ranges ottegexposure. The Corporation’s retirement asgetinvested within this allocation structure
in three major categories: domestic equity se@gitinternational equity securities, and debt sgesrBelow are the Corporation’s actual and
established target allocations:

As of December 31 Target Expected
Asset clas: 2008 2007 Exposure Range
Domestic equitie 43% 51% 50% 40%- 6C%
International equitie 16% 21% 15% 10%- 2C%
Total equity 5% 72% 65% 55%- 75%
Fixed income 41% 28% 35% 25%- 45%
Cash 0% 0% 0% 0% - 10%

The Corporation may from time to time require thellocation of assets in order to bring the reteatplans into conformity with these ranc
The Corporation may also authorize alterationsesiations from these ranges where appropriatedoieaing the objectives of the retirement
plans. The Corporation’s investment policy doespemit its investment manager to invest plan fundbee Corporation’s stock.

The long-term investment objective of the dometazement plans is to achieve a total rate ofrretoet of fees, which exceeds the actuarial
overall expected return on assets assumption &6 8%ed for funding purposes and which providespgmapriate premium over inflation. The
intermediate-term objective of the domestic retieatrplans, defined as three to five years, is tpaform each of the capital markets in which
assets are invested, net of fees. During perioéstoéme market volatility, preservation of captetes a higher precedence than outperfor
the capital markets.

The overall expected return on assets assumptihinghe calculation of annual net periodic beredst is based on a combination of the
historical performance of the pension fund and etqi®ns of future performance. The historical nesuare determined using the market-
related value of assets, includes the recognitforalized and unrealized gains and losses ovieeaykar period. Over the last ten years the
market-related value of assets had an average kyielthof 6.93%, whereas the actual returns aveda®)42% during the same period. Given
the uncertainties of the current economic and giagad landscape, the Corporation considers 8.6%e a reasonable assumption of future
long-term investment returns. While the Corporatiakes into account historical performance, itaiaggtions also consider the forward-
looking long-term outlook for the capital markets.

Foreign plan assets represent 14.2% of consoliqdtedassets, with the majority of the assets sujmgothe U.K. plans. The foreign plans
follow a similar asset allocation strategy, witlvaighted expected return on assets assumptioDé¥6.
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Other Pension and Postretirement Plans

The Corporation offers all of its domestic emplay#ge opportunity to participate in a defined cimition plan. Costs incurred by the
Corporation in the administration and record kegmihthe defined contribution plan are paid fortbg Corporation and are not considered
material.

In addition, the Corporation had foreign pensioatsander various defined contribution plans o6$8illion, $3.0 million, and $2.8 million in
2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

15. LEASES

The Corporation conducts a portion of its operatifsrom leased facilities, which include manufaatgrand service facilities, administrative
offices, and warehouses. In addition, the Corpondases vehicles, machinery, and office equipmedér operating leases. The leases expire
at various dates and may include renewals andagnad. Rental expenses for all operating leasesiatad to $29.0 million in 2008, $21.3
million in 2007, and $21.9 million in 2006.

At December 31, 2008, the approximate future mimmantal commitments under operating leases that mtial or remaining non-
cancelable lease terms in excess of one year doi@ss:

Rental
(In thousands) Commitment
2009 $ 22,67
2010 20,07¢
2011 18,31
2012 14,46¢
2013 12,17¢
Thereaftel 34,33¢t
Total $ 122,04:

16. INDUSTRY SEGMENTS

The Corporation manages and evaluates its opesabiased on the products and services it offergtandifferent markets it serves. Based on
this approach, the Corporation has three reporsdrdenents: Flow Control, Motion Control, and Méie¢atment. The Flow Control segment
primarily designs, manufactures, distributes, antises a broad range of highly engineered flowtradproducts including valves, pumps,
motors, generators, instrumentation, and conteadtednics for severe service military and commeigpgplications. The Motion Control
segment primarily designs, develops, and manufestorechanical systems, drive systems, and missiticatembedded computing products
and sensors mainly for the aerospace and defedsstiies. Metal Treatment provides various metgibal services, principally shot peening,
coatings, and heat treating. The segment provitEsetservices to a broad spectrum of customem@rious industries, including aerospace,
automotive, construction equipment, oil and gasroebemical, and metal working.

The accounting policies of the operating segmergdhtee same as those described in the summargrfisant accounting policies. Interest
expense and income taxes are not reported on aatmgesegment basis because they are not condidetiee performance evaluation by the
Corporation’s chief operating decision-maker, itafman and CEO.

During 2008, 2007, and 2006, the Corporation hadirect defense customer or commercial customeesgmting more than 10% of
consolidated revenue.
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Consolidated Industry Segmen Flow Motion Metal Segmen Corporate
Information: (In thousands) Control Control Treatment Total and Other () Consolidatec
Year Ended December 31, 20!
Revenue from external custom: $ 928,05. $ 638,060 $ 264,02( $ 1,830,141 $ — $ 1,830,14!
Intersegment revenu — 4,654 924 5,57¢ (5,579 —
Operating income (expens 97,21 65,53¢ 52,14: 214,89¢ (18,33)) 196,56:

Depreciation and amortization expel 32,711 26,27¢ 14,17¢ 73,16: 1,08¢ 74,25



Segment asse 895,96 861,46! 235,41 1,992.84. 49,18¢ 2,042,03
Capital expenditure 64,22¢ 18,57 19,43¢ 102,23: 75C 102,98:
Year Ended December 31, 20(

Revenue from external custom: 746,25: 591,03: $ 254,83¢ $ 1,592,12. — $ 1,592,122
Intersegment revenu — 597 1,10¢ 1,70C (1,700 —
Operating income (expens 73,47¢ 64,83% 50,88( 189,19: (10,009 179,18
Depreciation and amortization expel 26,64¢ 22,46( 13,38¢ 62,49t 204 62,69¢
Segment asse 867,07" 800,56 234,97¢ 1,902,61! 82,94 1,985,56!
Capital expenditure 21,10( 15,30! 16,17 52,57: 1,861 54,43:
Year Ended December 31, 20!

Revenue from external custom 548,12: 509,46: $ 224,57. $ 1,282,15! — $ 1,282,15!
Intersegment revenu 14 1,282 814 2,11C (2,110 —
Operating income (expens 60,54: 55,24: 42,38¢ 158,16¢ (17,54 140,62¢
Depreciation and amortization expel 18,36 20,29¢ 12,00t 50,67( 121 50,79:
Segment asse 495,00( 695,21¢ 222,74 1,412,96. 179,19: 1,592,15i
Capital expenditure 14,017 12,33 12,69 39,04 1,15¢ 40,20:

(1) Operating expense for Corporate and Other inclpeesion expense, environmental remediation andrésimitive expenses, legal, and

other expenses.

Reconciliations

For the years ended December 31n thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Revenues
Total segment revent $ 1,830,14¢ $ 1,592,120 $ 1,282,15!
Intersegment revent 5,57¢ 1,70(C 2,11(C
Elimination of intersegment reven (5,57¢) (1,700 (2,110
Total consolidated revenu $ 1,830,140 $ 1,592,12. $ 1,282,15!
Earnings before taxe:
Total segment operating incor $ 21489 $ 189,190 $ 158,16¢
Corporate and administrati (18,339 (10,009 (17,54
Other income, ne 1,58¢ 2,36¢ (112)
Interest expens (29,044 (27,38 (22,899
Total consolidated earnings before $ 169,10. $ 154,170 $ 117,62
Assets
Total assets for reportable segme $ 1,992,84 $ 1,902,61¢ $ 1,412,96
Pension asse — 73,91« 92,02
Non-segment cas 5,98¢ 2,30¢ 75,06¢
Other asset 43,20: 6,722 12,10
Total consolidated asse $ 2,042,031 $ 1,985560 $ 1,592,15
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The following table presents geographical informatdf the Corporatios’ revenues and property, plant, and equipment b@séuk location ¢
the customer and the assets, respectively:

December 31 (In thousands) 2008 2007 2006

Long-Lived Long-Lived Long-Lived
Revenues Assets Revenues Assets Revenues Assets

Geographic Informatior

United States of Americ $1,328,07. $ 262,92 $1,115,77 $211,78¢ $ 966,29¢ $ 189,33:
United Kingdom 164,40¢ 42,56: 144,03: 59,83¢ 111,67¢ 60,42¢
Canadz 62,43 30,09¢ 64,11( 33,96 48,99¢ 29,05
Other foreign countrie 275,22 28,44¢ 268,20 24,06: 155,18t 17,84(
Consolidated totz $1,830,141 $364,03: $1,592,122 $329,65 $1,282,15° $ 296,65:

17. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

The Corporation, through its Flow Control segméats several NRC licenses necessary for the comtioperation of its commercial nuclear
operations. In connection with these licensesNRE required financial assurance from the Corporeith the form of a parent company
guarantee, representing estimated environmentaha®@issioning and remediation costs associated tvéltommercial operations covered by
the licenses. The guarantee for the decommissiaroets of the refurbishment facility, which is estited for 2017, is $4.2 million. See Note
for further information.

The Corporation enters into standby letters of it@gteements and guarantees with financial ingtits and customers primarily relating to
guarantees of repayment on certain Industrial Ree&onds, future performance on certain contracpsdvide products and services, and to
secure advance payments the Corporation has recieoma certain international customers. At Decengfer2008, 2007, and 2006, the
Corporation had contingent liabilities on outstamdietters of credit of $62.5 million, $40.0 miltipand $37.8 million, respectively.

In January of 2007, a former executive was awagggatoximately $9.0 million in punitive and competosg damages plus legal costs related
to a gender bias lawsuit filed in 2003. The Corpiorehas recorded a $6.5 million reserve relateithédawsuit and intends to appeal the
verdict. The Corporation has determined that jir@bable that the punitive damages verdict wiltéeersed on appeal, therefore no reserve has
been recorded for that portion.

Consistent with other entities its size, the Cogpion is party to a number of legal actions anihtda none of which individually or in the
aggregate, in the opinion of management, are eggeothave a material adverse effect on the Cotipora results of operations or financial
position.

18. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) &esember 31, 2008 and 2007 consisted of:

(In thousands) Pre-tax Deferred tax Net of tax
2008 amount (asset) liability amount
Foreign currency translation adjustme $ (12,060 $ 2,121 $ (9,939
Pension and postretirement adjustme
Net actuarial los (95,58¢) 35,72¢ (59,867)
Prior service cos (4,38%) 1,634 (2,75))
Total pension and postretirement adjustm: (99,97)) 37,35¢ (62,617)
Accumulated other comprehensive | $(112,03) $ 39,48( $ (72,55)
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(In thousands) Pre-tax Deferred tax Net of tax
2007 amount (asset) liability amount




Foreign currency translation adjustme $ 72,89 % (4,08 $ 68,80
Pension and postretirement adjustme

Net actuarial gail 42,95( (16,372 26,57¢
Prior service cos (3,289 1,23: (2,05¢€)
Total pension and postretirement adjustm: 39,66 (15,13¢) 24,52
Accumulated other comprehensive inca $ 112,55. $ (19,229 $ 93,32}

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the perioding December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 were asAfsil

(In thousands) Pre-tax Tax (expense) Net of tax
2008 amount benefit amount
Foreign currency translation adjustme $ (84,95) $ 6,206 $ (78,743
Pension and postretirement adjustme

Net actuarial los (138,55() 52,04( (86,51()

Prior service cos (1,260 457 (803)

Total pension and postretirement adjustm: (139,810) 52,49 (87,319
Other comprehensive lo $ (224,76) $ 58,70t % (166,05
(In thousands) Pre-tax Tax (expense, Net of tax
2007 amount benefit amount
Foreign currency translation adjustme $ 27,63t $ 2,707 % 25,93«
Pension and postretirement adjustme

Net actuarial gail 18,61 (7,07)) 11,54

Prior service cos 99 (59 45

Total pension and postretirement adjustm: 18,71: (7,125 11,58
Other comprehensive incor $ 46,34¢ % 8,827) $ 37,52:
(In thousands) Pre-tax Tax (expense, Net of tax
2006 amount benefit amount
Foreign currency translation adjustme $ 2460C $ (2,385 $ 22,21*
Pension and postretirement adjustrr

Minimum liability adjustmen (2,770 1,02( (1,750
Other comprehensive incor $ 21,83 $ (1,365 $ 20,46¢

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On January 19, 2009, the Corporation acquired anbatly all of the assets of Nu-Torque. The pusghprice of the acquisition, subject to
customary adjustments provided for in the Assetlrase Agreement, was $5.0 million in cash and ¢saraption of certain liabilities.
Management funded the acquisition from credit adéd under the Credit Agreement. The businessheiibme a part of the Corporation’s
Flow Control segment.

Nu-Torque, located in Redmond, Washington, is a aesigf and manufacturer of electric and hydrauditve actuation and control devices
primarily for U.S. Navy ships. Typical applicatiofts the Nu-Torque’s products are for valve autdorabf shipboard fluid systems, such as
fire main, ballast, and various safety systemsumerous categories of U.S. Navy combatant shipsTdfque was founded in 1980 and was
acquired by Tyco Flow Control, a unit of Tyco Irmtational Ltd.
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QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands, except per share data) First Second Third Fourth
2008
Net sales $ 433,37¢ % 453,46 435,69¢ 507,59¢
Gross profil 138,46¢ 157,23: 147,79: 172,58!
Net earning: 21,77¢ 27,071 27,52 33,01
Earnings per shar
Basic earnings per she $ 04¢  $ 0.61 0.61 0.74
Diluted earnings per sha 0.4¢ 0.6C 0.6C 0.7:
Dividends per shar 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.0¢
2007
Net sales $ 332,60¢ $ 365,57¢ 396,26¢ 497,67
Gross profil 111,38 118,02! 129,82( 164,39:
Net earning: 19,50: 21,39( 25,17t 38,25¢
Earnings per shar
Basic earnings per she $ 044  $ 0.4¢ 0.57 0.8¢
Diluted earnings per sha 0.44 0.4¢ 0.5€ 0.8
Dividends per shar 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.0¢

See notes to the consolidated financial statenfenesdditional financial information.
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Report of the Corporation

The consolidated financial statements appeariitgin 8 of this Form 10-K have been prepared byGbgporation in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in thetéthStates of America. The financial statementesearily include some amounts that are
based on the best estimates and judgments of ttpp2tion. Other financial information in the AnthiReport on Form 10-K is consistent with
that in the financial statements.

The Corporation maintains accounting systems, phaes, and internal accounting controls designgadueide reasonable assurance that
assets are safeguarded and that transactionsereted in accordance with the appropriate corp@natieorization and are properly recorded.
The accounting systems and internal accountingalsrére augmented by written policies and proceslusrganizational structure providing
for a division of responsibilities, selection amagliing of qualified personnel and an internal apdbgram. The design, monitoring, and
revision of internal accounting control systemsoine, among other things, management’s judgmerit rispect to the relative cost and
expected benefits of specific control measures.adament of the Corporation has completed an assessithe Corporation’s internal
controls over financial reporting and has inclui&@nagement’s Annual Report on Internal Control ©OF@ancial Reporting” in Item 9A of
this Form 10-K.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent auditors, parfed an audit of the Corporation’s financial stateta¢hat also included forming an
opinion on the internal controls over financial@gpng of the Corporation for the year ended Decengi, 2008. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amountslignlosures in the financial statements. An aaldib includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made agagement, as well as evaluating the overall fiilghistatement presentation. The objective
of their audit is the expression of an opinion loa tairness of the Corporation’s financial statetaém conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Amefitall material respects, and on the internal matover financial reporting as of December
31, 2008.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, cased entirely of directors who are independenhefG@orporation, appoints the
independent auditors for ratification by stockhotdand, among other things, considers the scoffeedhdependent auditors’ examination, the
audit results, and the adequacy of internal acéogmontrols of the Corporation. The independemitaus and the internal auditor have direct
access to the Audit Committee, and they meet wighcommittee from time to time, with and withoutrmagement present, to discuss
accounting, auditing, non audit consulting servige®rnal control, and financial reporting matters
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindgrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Roseland, New Jersey

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and subsigl (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related colasetl statements of earnings, stockholders’ eqaitgt,cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2008. Qiitsaalso included the financial statement schetisdled in the Index at Item 15. The
financial statements and financial statement sdeeahe the responsibility of the Company’s managenteur responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and finarste@tement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiqUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether the finestatements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting principged and significant estimates made by managenewntelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial stateteg@resent fairly, in all material respects, timarficial position of the Company at December
31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their opmratand their cash flows for each of the threes/gathe period ended December 31, 2008, in
conformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America. Also, in opinion, such financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basisolidated financial statements taken as a wpoésents fairly, in all material respects, the
information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrste&gements, the Company adopted SFAS No. 158]dyens’ Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement PlansAnaendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 &&{R) and has adopted FASB
Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertaintylncome Taxes — An Interpretation of FASB Stateinidm 109 on January 1, 2007.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@inited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2008, based on the criteria establighéutérnal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway Commission and our report dateccia, 2009 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal cohtver financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
March 2, 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindgrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Roseland, New Jersey

We have audited the internal control over finanaéglorting of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and sulsis (the “Company”) as of December
31, 2008, based on criteria established in Inte@uaitrol — Integrated Framework issued by the Cottemiof Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. As described in Managememisu&l Report on Internal Control Over Financial 8&pg, management excluded
from its assessment the internal control over famgreporting at VMETRO, ASA, Mechetronics Holdmbimited and Parylene Coatings, Inc.
(collectively the “Acquired Businesses”) which weregquired during the year ended December 31, 2068vaose financial statements
constitute 5.9% of total assets, (0.5%) of equit9% of revenues, and 0.8% of net income of thealisated financial statement amounts a
and for the year ended December 31, 2008. Accodingr audit did not include the internal contoder financial reporting at the Acquired
Businesses. The Company’s management is respofisibigintaining effective internal control ovendincial reporting and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over finah reporting, included in the accompanying Mamaget’s Annual Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility isetxpress an opinion on the Company'’s internal cbotrer financial reporting based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@iq@nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordwer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etiaguthe design and operating effectiveness ofiiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we consideredssary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvigi the company’s principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons pemigrg similar functions, and effected by the compatypard of directors, management, and
other personnel to provide reasonable assuraneediag the reliability of financial reporting anltet preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallymedeaccounting principles. A company’s internaitcol over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertaihearaintenance of records that, in reasonablel dataurately and fairly reflect the transacti
and dispositions of the assets of the companypr@jide reasonable assurance that transactionre@reded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with gengmaadcepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngangent and directors of the company; and (3) pewésonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized astjion, use, or disposition of the company’s assleat could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcohover financial reporting, including the positl of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected timely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltoarover financial reporting to future periods atebject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditibtigt the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over figal reporting as of December 31, 2008,
based on the criteria established in Internal @brtr Integrated Framework issued by the Commitfe®pmnsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.
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We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdzf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
financial statements and financial statement sdeeaiof and for the year ended December 31, 2008&dCompany and our report dated
March 2, 2009 expressed an unqualified opiniorhmsé financial statements and financial statemehedule and included an explanatory

paragraph regarding the Company’s adoption of aSRA. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Beb&ension and Other Postretirement
Plans — an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 871@8and 132(R).

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
March 2, 2009
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountéson Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls And Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2008, the Corporation’s manageniecluding the Corporation’s Chief Executive i0&r and Chief Financial Officer,
conducted an evaluation of the Corporation’s dmate controls and procedures, as such term isetkefinRules 13a-15(e) and 1%8¢e) unde
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended‘kchange Act”). Based on such evaluation, thep@ation’s Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Qugpion’s disclosure controls and procedures dectfe.

Managemens Annual Report On Internal Control Over Finanélaporting

The Corporation’s management is responsible fabdishing and maintaining adequate internal cortvelr financial reporting, as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securliieshange Act of 1934, as amended.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or détisstatements. Also, projections of the
future effectiveness of controls currently deemiéelctive are subject to the risk that controls rbagome inadequate because of changes in
conditions or deterioration in the degree of coamudie with the policies or procedures.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated findrste&ements, the Corporation acquired VMETRO, ABKechetronics Holdings Limited and
Parylene Coatings, Inc. during the year ended Dbeeil, 2008. These acquisitions with combinedtassquity, current year revenues and
net income at December 31, 2008, represent 5.9%%0 0.9% and 0.8%, respectively of the consadiddinancial statement amounts, and
have been excluded from management’s assessmigéiwfal control over financial reporting.

The Corporation’s management assessed the effeetigeof the Corporation’s internal control oveafinial reporting as of December 31,
2008. In making this assessment, the Corporatim@sagement used the criteria established by then@ttee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-IntegdaFramework.

Based on management’s assessment, excluding theextgompanies referred to in the third paragrapmagement believes that as of
December 31, 2008, the Corporation’s internal adrver financial reporting is effective based ba established criteria.

The Corporation’s internal controls over financigborting as of December 31, 2008 have been aubijtékloitte & Touche LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, thvadr report thereon is included in Item 8 of tAisnual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportin

There were no changes in the Corporation’s intezaatrol over financial reporting during the mostently completed fiscal quarter that
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenilly affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.
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Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Certifications

The certifications of our Chief Executive OfficarchChief Financial Officer required under Secti@? ®f the Sarbanes-Oxley Act have been
filed as Exhibits 31.1, 31.2 and 32 to this repAdditionally, on June 30, 2008, our Chief Execatfficer filed with the New York Stock
Exchange (“NYSE”) its Domestic Company Section 308#nual CEO Certification as required by NYSE puanstito Section 303A.12 of the
NYSE Listed Company Manual. The certification comiéd that our Chief Executive Officer was not awafrany violation by the Company
the NYSE's corporate governance listing standards.

Iltem 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART IlI

The information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 18] &4 of Part Ill of this report, to the extent et forth herein, is incorporated herein by
reference from the registrant’s definitive proxgitetnent relating to the annual meeting of stockérsldo be held on May 8, 2009, which
definitive proxy statement shall be filed with tBecurities and Exchange Commission within 120 @dtgs the end of the fiscal year to which
this report relates. Information required by Ite@i ) of Regulation S-K is included in Part | ofstiheport under the caption “Executive
Officers” and information required by Item 201(d)Regulation S-K is included in Part Il of this mpunder the caption “Securities
Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Compensatiang?.

PART IV
Iltem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule.
Page
(a) Financial Statements and Footnc
1. The following are documents filed as part of ti@part in Part Il, Item €
Consolidated Statements of Earnit 5C
Consolidated Balance She: 51
Consolidated Statements of Cash Fle 52
Consolidated Statements of Sharehol Equity 53
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 54
2. Financial Statement Schedi
Schedule —Valuation and Qualifying Accoun 101

All other financial statement schedules have bemritted because they are either not required, ngliGgble or the require
information is shown in the Consolidated Finan&tdtements or Notes there

(b) Exhibits

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger and Recapitalizatiated as of February 1, 2005, by and between thestRant anc
CW Merger Sub, Inc. (incorporated by referencexhikit 2.1 to Form -K filed February 3, 2005

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatinoofporated by reference to Fori-A/A filed May 24, 2005)

3.2 Amended and Restated -Laws (incorporated by reference to For-K filed November 17, 2008
3.3 Form of stock certificate for Common Stock (incagted by reference to Forn-K filed November 17, 2008
4.1 Agreement to furnish to the Commission upon regaesipy of any londgerm debt instrument where the amount of

securities authorized thereunder does not exce#ddf@he total assets of the Registrant and itsiglidries on a
consolidated basis (incorporated by reference taliix4 to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 19i

4.2 Second Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, datetiMay 24, 2005, between the Registrant andrisene
Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Rights Agentdiporated by reference to Registration Statemeritaym 8A/A
filed May 24, 2005)

10.1 Modified Incentive Compensation Plan, as amendeeeNter 9, 1989 (incorporated by reference to Exiibfa) to
Form 1(-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 19¢
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10.2 Curtiss-Wright Corporation 2005 Omnibus Long-Temudntive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appeidio
Proxy Statement filed April 5, 2005)

10.3 Form of Long Term Incentive Award Agreement, daleduary 1, 2006, between the Registrant and theugxe
officers of the Registrant (incorporated by refeeio Exhibit 10.3 to Form 10-K for the year endetember 31,
2005).*

104 Revised Standard Employment Severance AgreememiGeittain Management of the Registrant (incorpdrate
reference to Exhibit 10 to Form -Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

10.5 Retirement Benefits Restoration Plan as amended 2fr1997 (incorporated by reference to Exhilittd Form 1-Q
for quarter ended June 30, 1997

10.6 Restated and Amended Curtiss-Wright Corporatiorir&aent Plan and Instrument of Amendment No. Braended
through February 28, 2002 (incorporated by refezdndExhibit (10)(v) to Form 10-K for the year eddeecember 31,



10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

2001), and Instrument of Amendment No. 2 (incorpetdy reference to Exhibit 10 to Form Q0for the quarter end
September 30, 2004)

Instruments of Amendment Nos. 2 through 5 to thei€s-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan (incorporatec
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Form-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

Instruments of Amendment Nos. 6 and 7 to the Guitisight Corporation Retirement Plan (incorporabgdeference
to Exhibit 10 to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200!

Instrument of Amendment No. 8 to the Curtiss-WriGlotrporation Retirement Plan, as amended and eels¢dtective
January 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Hixhibto Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200!

Instrument of Amendment No. 9 to the Cui-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan, as amendedrasihted effectiv
January 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Htxhibto Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200!

Instrument of Amendment No. 10 to the Cu-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan, as amendedrasthted effectiv
January 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to HExhibto Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 2001

Instrument of Amendment No. 11 to the Curti¥sight Corporation Retirement Plan, as amendedrasihted effectiv
January 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to HExhibto Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 2001

Instrument of Amendment No. 12 to the Curti¥sight Corporation Retirement Plan, as amendedrasihted effectiv
January 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Hixhibto Form 10-Q filed for the quarter ended egter 30, 2007)
*

Instrument of Amendment No. 13 to the Curti¥sight Corporation Retirement Plan, as amendedrasited effectiv
January 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Eixhibto Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 20C
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10.15 Instrument of Amendment No. 14 to the CurtWsight Corporation Retirement Plan, as amendedrasidited effectiv
January 1, 2001 (filed herewith)

10.16 Restated and Amended Curtiss-Wright Corporatiorirggvand Investment Plan, dated February 28, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10)(v) tafRol(-K for the year ended December 31, 200

10.17 Instrument of Amendment Nos. 1 and 2 to the Ci-Wright Corporation Savings and Investment Plandjiporatec
by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Form-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

10.18 Instrument of Amendment Nos. 4 through 11 to theti€s-Wright Corporation Savings and Investment Plaed
herewith).*

10.19 Instrument of Amendment Nos. 2 and 3 to the Culisgyht Corporation Savings and Investment Plandiporated
by reference to Exhibit 10 to Form-K for the year ended December 31, 200=

10.20  Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation PensPlan, dated October 29, 2002 (incorporated feyeace to
Exhibit (10)(vii) to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200:

10.21  Instruments of Amendment Nos. 1 and 2 to the G-Wright Electr-Mechanical Corporation Pension P
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Fd€-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

10.22  Instruments of Amendment Nos. 3 through 6 to thgi€s+Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation PensiRian
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to Forr-K for the year ended December 31, 200%

10.23  Instrument of Amendment No. 7 to the Curtiss-Wrighctro-Mechanical Division Pension Plan (incogied by
reference to Exhibit 10 to Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2001

10.24  Instrument of Amendment No. 8 to the Cui-Wright Electr-Mechanical Division Pension Plan (incorporatec
reference to Exhibit 10 to Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2001

10.25 Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into bg Registrant with each of its directors (fileddweith).

10.26  Curtis-Wright Electr-Mechanical Corporation Savings Plan, dated Janua?904 (incorporated by reference
Exhibit (10)(xviii) to Form 1+K for the year ended December 31, 200:

10.27  Instrument of Amendment No. 1 to the Cu-Wright Electr-Mechanical Corporation Savings Plan (incorporatg
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Form-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200
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10.28 Instrument of Amendment Nos. 2 and 3 to the Culfisgjht Electro-Mechanical Corporation Savings Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to Forr-K for the year ended December 31, 200~

10.29 Instrument of Amendment Nos. 4, 5 and 6 to thei€siVright Electro-Mechanical Corporation SavindmsnR(filed
herewith).*

10.30  Curtis-Wright Corporation 2005 Stock Plan for Employee Directors (incorporated by reference tpémix C tc
Proxy Statement filed April 5, 2005)

10.31 Amended and Revised Curt-Wright Corporation Executive Deferred Compensaftem, as amended Novemt
2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 tonrd.(-K for the year ended December 31, 2001

10.32  Change In Control Severance Protection Agreemea¢ddiuly 9, 2001, between the Registrant and Ehxe€utive
Officer of the Registrant (incorporated by refereta Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q for the quarter eh&eptember 30,
2001).*

10.33  Standard Change In Control Severance Protectioeekgent, dated July 9, 2001, between the RegistirahKey
Executives of the Registrant (incorporated by exfee to Form 1-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20(

10.34  Trust Agreement, dated January 20, 1998, betweeRd#gistrant and PNC Bank, National Associatioodiporated b
reference to Exhibit 10(a) to Form-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 199¢

10.35 Consulting Agreement, dated March 1, 2006, betwkerRegistrant and George J. Yohrling (incorpordtgdeference
to Exhibit 10 to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200!

10.36  Curtiss-Wright Corporation 2003 Employee Stock Rase Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendixo/Proxy
Statement filed March 28, 2003’

10.37  Note Purchase Agreement between the Registrantextain Institutional Investors, dated September2@53

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to F@&-K filed October 3, 2003’



10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Purchaseekgent between the Registrant and certain Institalt Investors,
dated September 25, 2003 (incorporated by referenEghibit 10.2 to Form-K filed October 3, 2003

Note Purchase Agreement between the Registrantentain Institutional Investors, dated Decembe205
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to F@&@-K filed December 5, 2005

Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Purchaseekgent between the Registrant and certain Iristitait Investors,
dated December 1, 2005 (incorporated by refereméxhibit 10.2 to Form-K filed December 5, 2005

2006 Modified Incentive Compensation Plan (incogted by reference to Appendix B to Company’s 20@€riitive
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 29,6200

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobe0962 by and between the Registrant and David Lifitocorporate:
by reference to Exhibit 10 to Forn-K filed October 11, 2006).
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10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

21
23
311
31.2
32

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobe2PB8,7, by and between the Registrant and David hinto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to For-K filed October 25, 2007).

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobel0962by and between the Registrant and David Adams
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to For-K filed October 16, 2006).

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobe2P8,7, by and between the Registrant and David Ac
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to For-K filed October 25, 2007).

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dateflAugust 10, 2007 among the Registrant, anthide
Subsidiaries as Borrowers; the Lenders partiegetbpBank of America, N.A., as Administrative AgeStvingline
Lender, and L/C Issuer; J.P. Morgan Chase Bank,,Mig\Syndication Agent; and Sun Trust Bank anib&ik N.A.,
as C«-Documentation Agents (incorporated by referendexoibit 10.1 to Form -K filed August 14, 2007

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (filed herewi

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking (filed herewith)

Certification of Martin R. Benante, Chairman and@FPursuant to Rule 1~ 14(a) (filed herewith)
Certification of Glenn E. Tynan, Chief Financialfioér, Pursuant to Rule 1=~ 14(a) (filed herewith)

Certification of Martin R. Benante, Chairman and@&nd Glenn E. Tynan, Chief Financial Officer, Ruarst to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350 (filed herewitt

*Indicates contract or compensatory plan or arrameyg
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CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION and SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE Il - VALUATION and QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Description

Deducted from assets to which they ap

Year-ended December 31,20
Reserves for inventory obsolescel
Reserves for doubtful accounts and n¢
Tax valuation allowanc

Total

Yearended December 31, 20
Reserves for inventory obsolescel
Reserves for doubtful accounts and nt

Total

Year-ended December 31, 20
Reserves for inventory obsolescel
Reserves for doubtful accounts and n¢

Total

Notes:

for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, ad@ 20
(In thousands)

Additions
Balance at Charged Charged to
to Other Accounts Deductions
Beginning Costs and
of Period Expenses (Describe) (Describe)
$30,99¢ $ 952¢ $ 884 W ¢ 7,12t
5,347 4,15: (115) @ 4,561©)
— 35€ 5,01¢ @ —
$36,34¢ $14,03¢ $ 5,78¢ $ 11,68¢
$26,15. $ 844¢ $ 345( W ¢ 7,05:®
5,38¢ 2,32( (685) W 1,67:(©
$31,547 $10,76¢ $ 2,761 $ 8,72¢
$25377 $ 5651 $ 33 W g 522(®
5,457 1,26¢ 17¢ @ 1,51:©
$30,83C $ 6,926 $ 517 $ 6,73:

(A)  Primarily amounts acquired from business combimatiand currency translation adjustme

(B)  Write-off and sale of obsolete inventol

(C)  Write-off of bad debt and collections on previously resdraccounts

Page 101

Balance at

End of
Period

$34,28:
4,82¢
5,37¢

$44,48:

$30,99¢
5,341

$36,34¢

$26,15:
5,38¢

$31,54!



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registhas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
(Registrant’

Date: March 2, 200¢ By: /s/ Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benantt
Chairman and CE(

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgéa Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf of 1
Registrant and in the capacities and on the datbsated.

Date: March 2, 200¢ By: /s/ Glenn E. Tyna

Glenn E. Tynat
Chief Financial Office

Date: March 2, 200¢ By: /s/ Glenn Colema

Glenn Colemai
Controller

Date: March 2, 200¢ By: /s/ Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benantt
Director

Date: March 2, 200¢ By: /s/ S. Marce Fulle

S. Marce Fulle
Director

Date: March 2, 200¢ By: /s/ Allen A. Kozinski

Allen A. Kozinski
Director

Date: March 2, 200¢ By: /s/ Carl G. Miller

Carl G. Miller
Director

Date: March 2, 200¢ By: /s/ William B. Mitchell

William B. Mitchell
Director

Date: March 2, 200¢ By: /s/ John R. Myer

John R. Myer:
Director

Date: March 2, 200¢ By: /s/ John B. Nathma

John B. Nathma
Director

Date: March 2, 200¢ By: /s/ William W. Sihlet

William W. Sihler
Director

Date: March 2, 200¢ By: /s/ Albert E. Smitt

Albert E. Smith
Director
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Recitals:

Exhibit 10.15

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

FOURTEENTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“the Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan (“the

Plan”).

2. The Company caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of January 1, 2001, and has since
caused the Plan to be further amended.

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment of the Plan, it has become necessary to further amend the Plan for updates to
Union benefit rates rollovers to Roth IRAs and to reflect new, accelerated vesting schedule for Union employees.

4. Sections 12.01 and 12.02 of the Plan permit the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time and from
time to time.

Amendment to the Plan:

For the reason set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects:

1.

Section 1.15 is amended to accelerate eligibility for an Early Retirement Benefit from five years of service to three
years of service as follows:

The phrase “or three (3) Years of Credited Service, effective January 1, 2008” is inserted immediately following the
phrase “at least five (5) Years of Credited Service”.

The last sentence of Section 2.03(b) is amended to reflect the acceleration of eligibility for a disability pension from
five vesting years of service to three vesting years of service as follows:

A Participant who is entitled to Disability Payments and who is credited with at least five Vesting Years of Service
(three Vesting Years of Service effective January 1, 2008) may elect at any time by written advance application to the
Committee to cease further accruals under the provisions of this paragraph (b) and in lieu thereof to commence
receipt of payments under the applicable provisions of the Plan.

Section 5.03 is amended by adding a new paragraph (vii) to the end thereof:

(vii)  For Participants who terminate employment after January 1, 2008, three Years of Vesting Service shall
be substituted for five Years of Vesting Service in paragraphs (i), (iii), (iv) and (v) above.

1

Section 7.08(b) is amended to permit rollover of an eligible rollover distribution as described in Section 7.08(a) to a
Roth IRA under Section 408A of the Code as follows:

The phrase “a Roth individual retirement account described in Section 408A of the Code” is inserted immediately
following the phrase “an annuity plan described in Section 403(a) of the Code,”.

Section 9.01 is amended by adding a new paragraph (d) to the end thereof:

(d) Effective January 1, 2008, each Employee to whom subsection (a) applies who, on or after September 15, 1952,
shall have completed three (3) or more Years of Credited Service shall be a Participant, and after ceasing active
Service, shall be entitled to receive a pension benefit under the Plan regardless of the number of years of participation
before retirement age.

Section 9.02(a) is amended to update benefits provided under certain Collective Bargaining Agreements as follows:

a. Paragraph 9.02(a)(vi) is amended to update benefits provided to Metal Improvement Company, LLC-Columbus
Division Section by adding the following sub-paragraph at the end thereof:



“(E) With benefits commencing on or after January 1, 2009, $33.00 multiplied by his Years of Credited
Service on or after January 1, 2009, or any pension payments due for months commencing after January
1, 2009.”

b. Paragraph 9.02(a)(ix) is amended to update benefits provided to Metal Improvement Company, LLC-Long
Island Division Section by adding the following sub-paragraphs to the end thereof:

“With benefits commencing on or after January 1, 2008, $12.00 multiplied by his years of credited service
on or after January 1, 2008, for any pension payments due for months commencing on or after January
1, 2008.

With benefits commencing on or after January 1, 2010, $15.00 multiplied by his years of credited service
on or after January 1, 2010, for any pension payments due for months commencing on or after January
1, 2010.”

7. Paragraph 9.02(b)(i) is amended to accelerate eligibility for an Early Retirement Benefit from five years of service to
three vesting years of service as follows:

0] On or after January 1, 1989 any Participant described in Section 9.01 who has attained age fifty-five (55),
but not age sixty-five (65), and who has five (5) or more Years of Credited Service (three (3) or more
Years of Credited Service for purposes of vesting effective January 1, 2008) may retire at his option, and
for



any such Participant who retires with benefits which first could commence on or after October 1, 1965,
the monthly pension payable to him shall be either:

8. Paragraph 9.02(c)(i) is amended to accelerate eligibility for a Total and Permanent Disability Retirement benefit from
five years of credited service to three vesting years of service:

0] A Participant described in Section 9.01 with at least five (5) Years of Credited Service (three (3) Years of
Credited Service for purposes of vesting effective January 1, 2008) who is actually at work for the
Company or is on an Company-approved Leave of Absence on or after January 1, 1989, who
subsequent to September 15, 1952 becomes totally and permanently disabled prior to attaining age
sixty-five (65), shall be eligible for a disability pension as hereinafter provided.

The following amendments are to the EMD component of the Plan (merged into the Curtiss-Wright Retirement Plan as of January
1, 2007). The numbering is that of the plan document covering the EMD component of the Plan.

9. Section 10.K.3 is amended to permit rollover of an eligible rollover distribution as described in Section 10.K.2 to a Roth
IRA under Section 408A of the Code as follows:

“(i) an individual retirement account or individual retirement annuity described in section 408(a), 408(b) or 408A of the
Code, respectively;”

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

3



Exhibit 10.18
CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION

SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

FOURTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“the Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings & Investment Plan
(“the Plan™).

The Company caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of January 1, 2001, in order to maintain
the Plan’s compliance with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code (“the Code”) and applicable regulations thereunder,
and caused the Plan, as so amended and restated, to be submitted to the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”), pursuant to Rev.
Proc. 2001-6, for a determination that the Plan is a qualified plan, within the meaning of Sec. 401 of the Code. The Plan has
been amended from time to time since that date.

Subsequent to the most recent amendment of the Plan, it has become necessary to further amend the Plan to take account of
changes to permit rollovers of outstanding loan notes from 401(k) Plans that exist at companies that are subsequently acquired
by the Company.

Section 12.01 of the Plan permits the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time and from time to time, by
action of the Administrative Committee.

Amendment to the Plan:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects, to
be effective as of April 17, 2006:

1.

Section 3.04 of the Plan is amended by adding the following paragraph at the end thereof:

Notwithstanding any provision of this section 3.04 to the contrary and subject to the terms of Article 8, in the event an
individual who becomes an Employee of an Employer (as defined in Section 1.19 of the Plan) on or after April 17, 2006 and
who immediately prior to that date was employed by a business entity acquired by the Company or one of its affiliates (an
“Acquired Employee”), and has no more than two loans outstanding under the former 401(k) Plan, the Plan shall accept a
direct loan rollover of such outstanding loan notes, provided the loans are not in default as of the date of transfer. Further, in
accordance with the rules set forth by the Committee, such individual may not receive a new loan or increase the outstanding
loan(s) under the terms of the Plan until such individual’s rolled over loans have been repaid in full or otherwise distributed to
the individual. Under the terms of the Plan, Members may have a maximum of

1



one outstanding loan, unless and only if a Member is an Acquired Employee involved in a trust to trust transfer or a direct
loan rollover as mentioned above in which case the Acquired Employee may have a maximum of two outstanding loans until
such rolled over loans are repaid in full or distributed to the individual.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

2



CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS & INVESTMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

FIFTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“the Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings & Investment
Plan (“the Plan”).

The Company caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of January 1, 2001, in order to
maintain the Plan’s compliance with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code (“the Code”) and applicable regulations
thereunder, and caused the Plan, as so amended and restated, to be submitted to the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS"),
pursuant to Rev. Proc. 2001-6, for a determination that the Plan is a qualified plan, within the meaning of Sec. 401 of the
Code.

The Plan has been further amended from time to time.

It has become necessary to further amend the Plan to reflect certain provisions of the Economic Growth and Tax Relief
Reconciliation Act of 2001 (‘EGTRRA").

Section 12.01(a) of the Plan permits the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time and from time to
time, by action of the Administrative Committee.

Amendments to the Plan:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects, to
be effective as specified herein:

1.

Section 1.06 is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, to read as follows:

1.06 “Annual Dollar Limit " means $200,000, as adjusted from time to time for cost of living in accordance with Section 401
(a)(17)(B) of the Code.

Section 1.14 is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, by adding the following sentence at the end thereof:

Before-tax amounts rolled over from an eligible deferred compensation plan under Section 457(b) of the Code which is
maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a
state shall be accounted for separately within the Deferred Account.

Section 3.04 is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, to read as follows:

1



3.04 Rollover Contributions.

Without regard to any limitations on contributions set forth in this Article 3, the Plan may accept from or on behalf of a
Member who is then an Employee, a Rollover Contribution in cash, consisting of any amount, excluding after-tax amounts
and amounts received as a spousal beneficiary, previously received (or deemed to be received) by him from an “eligible
retirement plan.” Such Rollover Contributions shall be subject to the following:

@

(b)

For purposes of this Section, “eligible retirement plan” means, effective after December 31, 2001:

0}
(if)
(iii)

(iv)
v)

a qualified plan described in Section 401(a) of the Code;
an annuity plan described in Section 403(a) of the Code;

an individual retirement account or individual retirement annuity of the Member described in Section 408(a) or
408(b) of the Code which contains only amounts that were originally distributed from a qualified plan described
in Section 401(a) or 403(a) of the Code (i.e., a “conduit IRA");

an annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Code; and

an eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Code which is maintained by a state, a political subdivision of a
state, or an agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state.

Such Rollover Contribution may be received in either of the following ways:

(i)

(ii)

The Plan may accept such amount as a direct rollover of an eligible rollover distribution from an eligible
retirement plan; or

The Plan may accept such amount directly from the Member provided such amount:
(A) was distributed to the Member by an eligible retirement plan;
(B) s received by the Plan on or before the 60 " day after the day it was received by the Member; and

(C) would otherwise be includible in gross income.

Notwithstanding subparagraph (B) above, the Committee may accept a Rollover Contribution more than 60
days after the amount was received by the Member provided the Member has received from the Secretary of
the Treasury a waiver of the 60-day requirement, pursuant to Section 402(c)(3)(B) of the Code.

2



(©)

Notwithstanding paragraphs (a) and (b) above, the Plan may accept on behalf of a Member who is then an Employee
before-tax amounts that are either:

0] contributed by the Member on or before the 60 " day after the day such amounts were received by the Member
from an individual retirement account or individual retirement annuity of the Member described in Section 408
(a) or 408(b), respectively, of the Code, or

(ii) are directly rolled over from such individual retirement account or individual retirement annuity of the Member.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Plan shall not accept any amount unless such amount is eligible to be rolled over to a
qualified trust in accordance with applicable law and the Member provides evidence satisfactory to the Committee that such
amount qualified for rollover treatment.

Section 9.04 is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, by deleting paragraph (b) and by inserting new paragraphs (b) and
(c) to read as follows:

(b)

In the event a Member in active service is required to begin receiving payments while in service under the provisions
of paragraph (a) above, the Member may elect to receive payments while in service in accordance with option (i) or
(ii), as follows:

0] A Member may receive one lump sum payment on or before the Member’s required beginning date equal to his
entire Account balance and annual lump sum payments thereafter of amounts accrued during each calendar
year; or

(ii) A Member may receive annual payments of the minimum amount necessary to satisfy the minimum distribution
requirements of Section 401(a)(9) of the Code. With respect to distribution calendar years commencing on and
after January 1, 2002, such minimum amount shall be the lesser of:

(A) the quotient obtained by dividing the Member’s Accounts by the distribution period in the Uniform Lifetime
Table set forth in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9 of the Treasury regulations, using the Member’s age as of the
Member’s birthday in the distribution calendar year; or

(B) if the Member’s sole designated beneficiary for the distribution calendar year is the Member’s spouse,
the quotient obtained by dividing the Member’s Accounts by the number in the Joint and Last Survivor
Table set forth in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9 of the Treasury regulations, using the Member’s and spouse’s
attained ages as of the Member’s and the spouse’s birthdays in the distribution calendar year.

3
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An election under this Section shall be made by a Member by giving written notice to the Committee within the 90-day
period prior to his required beginning date. The amount of the withdrawal shall be allocated between the Investment
Funds in proportion to the value of the Member’s Accounts as of the date of each withdrawal from which amounts are
withdrawn. The commencement of payments under this Section shall not constitute an Annuity Starting Date for
purposes of Sections 72, 401(a)(11), and 417 of the Code. Upon the Member’'s subsequent termination of
employment, payment of the Member’s Accounts shall be made in accordance with the provisions of Section 9.02. In
the event a Member fails to make an election under this Section, payment shall be made in accordance with clause (ii)
above.

For purposes of paragraph (b) above, the following definitions apply:

0] “Designated beneficiary” means the individual who is designated as the Beneficiary and is the designated
beneficiary under Section 401(a)(9) of the Code and Section 1.401(a)(9)-1, Q&A-4 of the Treasury regulations.

(ii) “Distribution calendar year” means a calendar year for which a minimum distribution is required. The first
distribution calendar year is the calendar year in which the applicable Member in active service attains age
70%.

(i) “Life expectancy” means life expectancy as computed by use of the Single Life Table in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9 of
the Treasury regulations.

(iv)  “Member’s Accounts” means the balance of the Member’s Accounts as of the last Valuation Date in the
calendar year immediately preceding the distribution calendar year (“valuation calendar year”) increased by the
amount of contributions made and allocated or forfeitures allocated to the Member’s Accounts as of dates in the
valuation calendar year after such last Valuation Date and decreased by distributions made in the valuation
calendar year after such last Valuation Date. The Member’s Accounts for the valuation calendar year includes
any amounts rolled over or transferred to the Plan either in the valuation calendar year or in the distribution
calendar year if distributed or transferred in the valuation calendar year.

Required minimum distributions will be determined under paragraph (b) above beginning with the first distribution calendar
year and up to and including the distribution calendar year that includes the Member’s date of death.

Section 9.07 is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, by deleting the last sentence thereof and inserting in its place the
following sentence:

With respect to distributions made for distribution calendar years beginning on and after January 1, 2002, the Plan will apply
the minimum distribution requirements of Section 401(a)(9) of the Code in accordance with the regulations

4



under Section 401(a)(9) that were issued April 17, 2002, as prescribed in Section 9.04.

Section 9.08 is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, in its entirety to read as follows:

9.08 Direct Rollover of Certain Distributions

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary that would otherwise limit a distributee’s election under this Section,
a distributee may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Committee, to have any portion of an eligible rollover
distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee in a direct rollover. The following definitions
apply to the terms used in this Section:

(@)  “Eligible rollover distribution” means any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the distributee,
except that an eligible rollover distribution does not include:

0] any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than
annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the distributee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of
the distributee and the distributee’s designated beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten years or more;

(ii) any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under Section 401(a)(9) of the Code;

(i)  after-tax amounts (determined without regard to the exclusion for net unrealized appreciation with respect to
employer securities) unless such amount is rolled over or transferred to an individual retirement account or
individual retirement annuity described in Section 408(a) or 408(b) of the Code, respectively, or transferred to a
defined contribution plan qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code that agrees to separately account for such
amount; and

(iv) effective January 1, 2002, any in-service withdrawal that is made on account of hardship.

(b)  “Eligible retirement plan” means any of the following types of plans that accept the distributee’s eligible rollover
distribution:

0] a qualified plan described in Section 401(a) of the Code;
(i) an annuity plan described in Section 403(a) of the Code,;

(i) an individual retirement account or individual retirement annuity described in Section 408(a) or 408(b) of the
Code, respectively;

(iv) effective January 1, 2002, an annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Code; and

5

(v) effective January 1, 2002, an eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Code which is maintained by a state,
political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state and
which agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into such plan from this Plan.

(c)  “Distributee” means an employee or former employee. In addition, the employee’s or former employee’s surviving
spouse and the employee’s or former employee’s spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a
qualified domestic relations order as defined in Section 414(p) of the Code are distributees with regard to the interest
of the spouse or former spouse; and

(d)  “Direct rollover” means a payment by the Plan to the eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee.”
Section 13.05(a)(iii) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, to read as follows:

(i)  “key employee” means any employee or former employee (including any deceased employee) who at any time during
the Plan Year that includes the applicable determination date was an officer of an Employer or an Affiliated Employer
having Statutory Compensation greater than $130,000 (as adjusted under Section 416(i)(1) of the Code for Plan Years
beginning after December 31, 2002), a 5-percent owner (as defined in Section 416(i)(1)(B)(i) of the Code) of an
Employer or an Affiliated Employer, or a 1-percent owner (as defined in Section 416(i)(1)(B)(ii) of the Code) of an
Employer or an Affiliated Employer having Statutory Compensation greater than $150,000. The determination of who
is a key employee shall be made in accordance with Section 416(i) of the Code and the applicable regulations and
other guidance of general applicability issued thereunder.

Section 13.05(a)(vi) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, by adding the words “(including plans that terminated within
the five-year period ending on the applicable determination date)” after the words “Affiliated Employer.”

Section 13.05(b) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, to read as follows:



(b)

For purposes of this Section, the Plan shall be “top-heavy” with respect to any Plan Year if as of the applicable
determination date the top-heavy ratio exceeds 60 percent. The top-heavy ratio shall be determined as of the
applicable Valuation Date in accordance with Sections 416(g)(3) and 416(g)(4)(B) of the Code and Article 5 of this
Plan and shall take into account any contributions made after the applicable Valuation Date but before the last day of
the Plan Year in which the applicable Valuation Date occurs. The determination of whether the Plan is top-heavy is
subject to the following:

0] the Accounts under the Plan will be combined with the account balances or the present value of accrued
benefits under each other plan in the required aggregation group and, in the Employer’s discretion, may be
combined with the account



10.

11.

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

balances or the present value of accrued benefits under any other qualified plan in the permissive aggregation
group;

the Accounts for an employee as of the applicable determination date shall be increased by the distributions
made with respect to the employee under the Plan and any plan aggregated with the Plan under Section 416(g)
(2) of the Code during the one-year period (five-year period in the case of a distribution made for a reason other
than severance from employment, death, or disability) ending on the applicable determination date;

distributions under any plan that terminated within the five-year period ending on the applicable determination
date shall be taken into account if such plan contained key employees and, therefore, would have been part of
the required aggregation group; and

if an individual has not performed services for the Employer or an Affiliated Employer at any time during the
one-year period ending on the applicable determination date, such individual’s accounts and the present value
of his accrued benefits shall not be taken into account.

Section 13.05(c) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, by deleting from the first sentence thereof the words “the Plan
Year (and not needed to meet the contribution percentage test set forth in Section 3.08)”, and by inserting in their place the
words “and Appendix A, if applicable, for the Plan Year”, and by deleting the words “Sections 3.01 and 3.03” in the second
sentence thereof and inserting in their place the words “Sections 3.01, 3.03 and Appendix A, if applicable,”

Paragraph 3(b) of Appendix A is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, by revising the vesting schedule to read as

follows:

Years of service
for Vesting Vested Percentage

0 0%
20%
40%
60%
80%

100%

OO WN

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.
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CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS & INVESTMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

SIXTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT
Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“the Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings & Investment Plan
(“the Plan”).

2. The Company caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of January 1, 2001, in order to maintain
the Plan’s compliance with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code (“the Code”) and applicable regulations thereunder,
and caused the Plan, as so amended and restated, to be submitted to the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”), pursuant to Rev.
Proc. 2001-6, for a determination that the Plan is a qualified plan, within the meaning of Sec. 401 of the Code.

3. The Plan was further amended by the Fifth Instrument of Amendment.

4. It has become necessary to further amend the Plan to conform to the Katrina Emergency Tax Relief Act of 2005 (“KETRA"),
final Internal Revenue Code 401(k) and (m) regulations, and other regulations.

5. Section 12.01(a) of the Plan permits the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time and from time to time,
by action of the Board.

Amendments to the Plan:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects, to
be effective as specified herein:

1. Section 7.03(c)(i) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2006, by deleting the subparagraphs (A), (B), (C), (D), and (E)
under (i) and inserting in lieu thereof the following new subparagraphs (A), (B), (C), (D), (E), (F), and (G):

“(A) expenses for (or necessary to obtain) medical care that would be deductible under Section 213(d) of the Code
(determined without regard to whether the expenses exceed 7.5 percent of adjusted gross income);

(B) costs directly related to the purchase of a principal residence of the Member (excluding mortgage payments);

(C) payment of tuition and related educational fees, and room and board expenses, for the next 12 months of post-
secondary



education of the Member, his spouse, children or dependents (as defined in Section 152 of the Code and
determined without regard to Sections 152(b)(1), (b)(2) and (d)(1)(B) of the Code);

(D) payment of amounts necessary to prevent eviction of the Member from his principal residence or to avoid
foreclosure on the mortgage of his principal residence;

(E) payments for burial or funeral expenses for the Member’s deceased parent, spouse, children or dependents (as
defined in Section 152 of the Code and without regard to Section 152(d)(1)(B) of the Code);

(F)  expenses for the repair of damages to the Member’s principal residence that would qualify for the casualty
deduction under Section 165 of the Code (determined without regard to whether the loss exceeds 10 percent of
the Member’s adjusted gross income); or

(G) Any other circumstance or circumstances that may be prescribed or allowed by the Code, or Treasury
Regulations thereunder.”

2. Section 7.03(d)(i)(C) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2006, by deleting subparagraph (C) and inserting in lieu
thereof the following new subparagraph (C):

“(C) by cessation of Deferred Cash Contributions, Catch-Up Contributions, and After-Tax Contributions; or”

3. Effective as of August 1, 2005, the Plan shall be amended by adding at the end thereof the following new Article 14, to
read in its entirety as follows:

“ARTICLE 14
Hurricane Katrina Relief

This Article 14 establishes the provisions applicable to individuals affected by Hurricane Katrina. It is intended that
such provisions shall be applied and interpreted in accordance with the provisions of the Katrina Emergency Tax
Relief Act of 2005 (‘(KETRA") or any subsequent guidance from the Internal Revenue Service or Department of Labor
interpreting KETRA.

14.01 Qualified Individual . (a) A ‘Qualified Individual’ is a Member whose principal residence on August 28,
2005 was located in one of the Hurricane Katrina designated disaster areas as so designated for purposes of KETRA
(the ‘Affected Areas’) and who sustained an economic loss as a result of Hurricane Katrina.

2

(b) Other Katrina Members . A Member whose place of employment on August 29, 2005 was in the
Affected Areas, but not his principal residence.

(c) Family Members . Lineal ascendants, lineal descendants, dependents and spouses of Qualified
Individuals or of Other Katrina Members.

14.02 Hurricane Katrina Distribution . (a) A qualified Hurricane Katrina distribution is a distribution made on or
after August 25, 2005 and before January 1, 2007, to a Qualified Individual. The amounts available for qualified
Hurricane Katrina distributions under the Plan include amounts attributable to Elective Deferrals, Qualified Nonelective
Contributions, or Qualified Matching Contributions, notwithstanding the fact that a distribution may occur before an
otherwise permitted distributable event.

(b) Amount of Distribution . The aggregate amount of qualified Hurricane Katrina distributions, taken by a
Qualified Individual under this Section 14.02(b), shall not exceed $100,000, in the aggregate, from all plans
maintained by the Employer (and any member of any controlled group of the Employer which includes the Employer),
including the aggregate amount of distributions recharacterized as qualified Hurricane Katrina distributions received by
the individual for all prior taxable years.

(c) Other Distributions . Hardship distributions described in Section 7.03(c) may be made to Plan
Members on behalf of Other Katrina Members and Family Members on or after August 29, 2005 and no later than
March 31, 2006. Subsections 7.03(d)(ii)(B) and 14.02(b) hereof shall not apply to such distributions. Subsection 14.06
hereof shall apply to such distributions.

14.03 No Rollover Treatment . Qualified Hurricane Katrina distributions shall not be treated as eligible rollover
distributions for purposes of Sections 401(a)(31), 402(f) and 3405 of the Code in regards to the requirements for direct
transfer of eligible rollover distributions, tax notice and tax withholding requirements.

14.04 Recontributions . (a) Distributions taken from the Plan, received by a Qualified Individual after February
28, 2005 and before August 29, 2005, intended for use to purchase or construct a principal residence in the Affected



Areas may be recontributed to this Plan during the period beginning August 25, 2005 and ending on February 28,
2006, provided the residence is not purchased or constructed as a result of the damage caused by

3



Hurricane Katrina. Recontributed amounts shall be treated as Rollover Contributions pursuant to Section 3.04 of the
Plan.

(b) If a Member receives a qualified Hurricane Katrina distribution, the Member may, pursuant to 101(c)(1)
of KETRA, at any time during the three-year period beginning on the day after the date on which such distribution was
received, make one or more contributions to the Plan in an aggregate amount not to exceed the amount of such
distribution. Recontributed amounts shall be treated as Rollover Contributions pursuant to Section 3.04 of the Plan.

14.05 Loan Amount . (a) Notwithstanding the otherwise applicable provisions set forth in Section 8.01(a) of the
Plan, Plan loans to Members who are Qualified Individual s that are made after September 23, 2005 and before
January 1, 2007, shall not exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the total vested accrued benefits of the Member
under the Plan as of the date of the loan. Any such amount may be secured by up to 100% of the Member’s vested
Account balance in the Trust Fund. In no event shall the amount of any loan to any such Member exceed $100,000
(reduced by the highest outstanding loan balance during the one-year period ending on the day before the loan was
made over the outstanding balance of loans from the Plan on the day the loan was made). The maximum number of
loans outstanding that any Member is permitted to have in accordance with the Member Loan Procedures shall not be
increased as a result of the provisions of this subsection.

(b) Repayment of Loans . A Member who is a Qualified Individual who has outstanding loans on or after
August 25, 2005 with respect to which any repayment due date falls during the period beginning August 25, 2005
through December 31, 2006, may have such due date (or dates) delayed for one year. The suspension period shall be
disregarded in determining the original five (5) year repayment date (or fifteen (15) year repayment date for principal
residence loans). Loan payments must resume as soon as practicable after the end of the suspension period, and the
term of the loan shall be extended by the duration of such suspension period. Repayments shall be appropriately
adjusted with accrued interest to reflect the delay in the due date(s).

14.06 Documentation requirements . The Plan will not be treated as failing to follow procedural requirements for
Plan distributions or loans otherwise imposed by the terms of the Plan, when such requirements are disregarded for
Katrina related purposes, provided, however, that the Plan Administrator makes a good-faith effort to comply with such
requirements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Plan Administrator shall make
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a reasonable attempt to assemble supporting documentation as soon as practical.”
Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2006.



CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS & INVESTMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

SEVENTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“the Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings & Investment Plan
(“the Plan”).

2. The Company caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of January 1, 2001, in order to maintain
the Plan’s compliance with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code (“the Code”) and applicable regulations thereunder,
and caused the Plan, as so amended and restated, to be submitted to the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”), pursuant to Rev.
Proc. 2001-6, for a determination that the Plan is a qualified plan, within the meaning of Sec. 401 of the Code.

3. The Plan was further amended by the Sixth Instrument of Amendment.

4. Section 12.01(a) of the Plan permits the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time and from time to time,
by action of the Board.

Amendments to the Plan:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects, to
be effective as specified herein:

1. Section 1.17 is amended, effective January 1, 2007, by deleting the existing paragraph and replacing it with the following:

“ Earnings " means the amount of income to be returned with any excess deferrals, excess contributions, or excess
aggregate contributions under Section 3.01, 3.07, or 3.08 or 3.09. Income on excess deferrals and excess contributions shall
be determined (a) by multiplying allocable gain or loss on the Deferred Account (excluding Catch-Up Contributions and
income attributable to Catch-Up Contributions) for the Plan Year by a fraction, the numerator of which is the excess deferrals
or excess contributions, as the case may be, for the Plan Year and the denominator of which is the Deferred Account
balance at the end of the Plan Year, disregarding any income or loss occurring during the Plan Year, and (b) by adding to the
amount determined under clause (a) 10 percent of the amount determined under clause (a) multiplied by the number of
whole calendar months between the end of the Plan Year and the date of the distribution, counting the month of distribution if
the distribution occurs after the 15 ™ day of the month. Income on excess aggregate contributions shall be determined in a
similar manner by substituting the sum of the allocable gain or loss on the
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Employer Account and Member Account for the Pre-Tax Account and Roth Account, and the excess aggregate contributions
for the excess deferrals and excess contributions in the preceding sentence.”

2. Section 3.10(b) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007, by deleting the first sentence and inserting in lieu thereof the
following new sentence:

“If any Highly Compensated Employee is a member of another qualified plan of the Employer or an Affiliated Employer,
including an employee stock ownership plan described in Section 4975(e)(7) of the Code but excluding any other qualified
plan which must be mandatorily disaggregated under Section 410(b) of the Code, under which deferred cash contributions or
matching contributions are made on behalf of the Highly Compensated Employee or under which the Highly Compensated
Employee makes after-tax contributions, the Committee shall implement rules, which shall be uniformly applicable to all
employees similarly situated, to take into account all such contributions for the Highly Compensated Employee made for the
applicable Plan Year under all such plans in applying the limitations of Sections 3.07, 3.08 and 3.09.”

3. Section 3.10(d) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007, by deleting the paragraph and inserting in lieu thereof the following
new paragraph:

“(d) The Employer may elect to use Deferred Cash Contributions to satisfy the tests described in Section 3.08 and 3.09,
provided that the test described in Section 3.07 is met prior to such election and continues to be met following the
Employer’s election to shift the application of those Deferred Cash Contributions from Section 3.07 to Section 3.08
and provided further that the tests described in Sections 3.08 and 3.09 are both performed on either a prior year
testing method or a current year testing method.”



4. Section 3.10(e) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007, by deleting the first sentence and inserting in lieu thereof the
following new sentence:

“The Employer may authorize that special “qualified nonelective contributions” shall be made for a Plan Year, which shall be
allocated in such amounts and to such Members, who are NonHighly Compensated Employees, as the Committee shall
determine, provided such allocation procedure complies with the applicable provisions of Treasury Regulation Section 1.401

(k)-2(a)(6)."

5. Section 3.13(a) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007, by deleting the paragraph and inserting in lieu thereof the following
new paragraph:

“(@) Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, contributions, benefits, and service credit with respect to
qualified uniformed service duty will be provided in accordance with Section 414(u) of the Code. Without regard to any
limitations on contributions set forth in this Article 3, a Member who is reemployed on or after October 14, 1994 and is
credited with Vesting Service under the provisions of Section 1.44(b)
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because of a period of service in the uniformed services of the United States may elect to contribute to the Plan the
Deferred Cash Contributions (including Catch-Up Contributions) and/or After-Tax Contributions that could have been
contributed to the Plan in accordance with the provisions of the Plan had he remained continuously employed by the
Employer throughout such period of absence (“make-up contributions”). For purposes of determining the amount of
make-up contributions a Member may make, his Compensation for the period of absence shall be deemed to be the
rate of Compensation he would have received had he remained employed as an Employee for that period or, if such
rate is not reasonably certain, on the basis of the Member's rate of compensation during the 12-month period
immediately preceding such period of absence (or if shorter, the period of employment immediately preceding such
period). Any Deferred Cash Contributions, Catch-Up Contributions, and/or After-Tax Contributions so determined shall
be limited as provided in Sections 3.01, 3.02, 3.08, and 3.09 with respect to the Plan Year or Years to which such
contributions relate rather than the Plan Year in which payment is made. The make-up contributions may be made
over a period not to exceed three times the period of military leave or five years, if less, but in no event later than the
Member’s termination of employment (unless he is subsequently rehired). The make-up period shall start on the later
of: (i) the Member’s date of reemployment, or (ii) the date the Employer notifies the Employee of his rights under this
Section. Earnings (or losses) on make-up contributions shall be credited commencing with the date the make-up
contribution is made in accordance with the provisions of Article 4.

6. Section 6.03 is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007 by deleting the last sentence of paragraph (a) and replacing it with the
following sentence:

“(@) If the amount of the Vested Portion of a Member's Employer Account at the time of his termination of employment is
zero and the Member had not at any time made Deferred Cash Contributions to the Plan, the Member shall be
deemed to have received a distribution of such zero vested benefit.”

7. Section 8.02(a) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007, by deleting the subparagraphs (i), (i), (iii), (iv), (v) and (vi) under (a)
and inserting in lieu thereof the following new subparagraphs (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v) (vi), (vii) and (viii)

“(  An application for a loan by a Member shall be made in writing to the Committee, whose action in approving or
disapproving the application shall be final. The Member shall certify in such application as to the existence and
amount of any outstanding loans (including any loans deemed distributed) from any qualified plans maintained
by the Employer and all Affiliated Employers.

(i) Each loan shall be evidenced by a promissory note payable to the Plan.
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(i)  The period of repayment for any loan shall be arrived at by mutual agreement between the Committee and the
Member, but that period shall not exceed five years unless the loan is to be used in conjunction with the
purchase of the principal residence of the Member, in which case that period shall not exceed 15 years, or
unless the provisions of subparagraph (iv) provide otherwise.

(iv)  If a Member with an outstanding loan takes an authorized leave of absence without pay or reduced pay that is
less than the required loan payments, for reasons other than to enter the uniformed services of the United
States, loan payments may be suspended at the request of the Member, for a period of up to 12 months or until
the end of the term of the loan, if earlier. Upon a Member’s reemployment from the leave of absence, the
Member shall resume payments either in the same amount as before the leave with the full balance due upon
the expiration of the repayment period or by reamortizing the loan in substantially level installments over the
remaining term of the loan.

(v) If a Member takes a leave of absence to enter the uniformed services of the United States, loan repayments
shall be suspended during the period of leave, upon approval by the Committee or its designee. Upon the
Member’'s reemployment from the uniformed services, the period of repayment shall be extended by the
number of months of the period of service in the uniformed services or, if greater, the number of months that
would remain if the original loan term were five years plus the number of months in the period of absence;
provided, however, if the Member incurs a termination of employment and requests a distribution pursuant to
Article 9, the loan shall be canceled, and the outstanding loan balance shall be distributed pursuant to Article 9.
If a Member enters the uniformed services of the United States, the interest rate applicable to the unpaid loan
balance during the period of leave shall be reduced to 6%, in accordance with the Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Civil
Relief Act of 1940. Upon a Member’s reemployment from the leave of absence, the Member shall resume
payments either in the same amount as before the leave with the full balance due upon the expiration of the
repayment period or by reamortizing the loan in substantially level installments over the remaining term of the
loan.

(vi)  Payments of principal and interest will be made by payroll deductions or in a manner agreed to by the Member
and the Committee in substantially level amounts, but no less frequently than quarterly, in an amount sufficient
to amortize the loan over the repayment period.



(vii)  Aloan may be prepaid in full as of any date without penalty.
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(viii)  Only one loan may be outstanding at any given time (unless an acquired employee rolls over outstanding loan
balance(s) from his prior Plan, in which case two outstanding loans are permitted).”

8. Section 9.03(c) is amended to read as follows:

“(©)

Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (a) and (b), if the value of the Vested Portion of the Member’'s Accounts
is equal to or less than the applicable cash out amount, a lump sum payment shall automatically be made as soon as
administratively practicable following the Member’s termination of employment. For purposes of this subsection,
effective as of March 28, 2005, the applicable cash out amount shall be $1,000, including Rollover Contributions

and earnings on those contributions. “

9. Section 12.01(b) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007, by deleting the paragraph and inserting in lieu thereof the
following new paragraph:

“(b)

Effective as of December 31, 1997, amendments to the Plan that are required because of statute or rulings of a
judicial body or are necessitated for administrative purposes, unless such administrative amendments have a material
effect on the cost or benefit level of the Plan, shall be made by the Committee. Effective as of January 1, 2007,
amendments to the Plan that reflect acquisitions shall be adopted by the Committee. All such amendments shall be
submitted to the Board of Directors at their meeting following the adoption of such amendments.”

10. Section 12.04(b) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007, by deleting the paragraph and inserting in lieu thereof the
following new paragraph:

“(b)

Upon termination of the Plan, Deferred Cash Contributions, with earnings thereon, shall only be distributed to
Members if (i) neither the Employer nor an Affiliated Employer establishes or maintains a successor defined
contribution plan and (ii) payment is made to the Members in the form of a lump sum distribution (as defined in
Section 402(e)(4)(D) of the Code, without regard to subclauses (I) through (1V) of clause (i) thereof). For purposes of
this paragraph, a “successor defined contribution plan” is a defined contribution plan (other than an employee stock
ownership plan as defined in Section 4975(e)(7) or 409(a) of the Code (“ESOP”), a simplified employee pension as
defined in Section 408(k) of the Code (“SEP"), a SIMPLE IRA plan as defined in Section 408(p) of the Code, a plan or
contract that satisfies the requirements of Section 403(b) of the Code, or a plan that is described in Section 457(b) or
(f)) which exists at the time the Plan is terminated or within the 12-month period beginning on the date all assets are
distributed that accepts salary deferrals. However, in no event shall a defined contribution plan be deemed a
successor plan if fewer than 2 percent of the employees who are eligible to participate in the Plan at the time of its
termination are or were eligible to participate under another defined contribution plan of the Employer or an Affiliated
Employer (other than a plan excluded under the prior sentence) at any time during the period beginning 12 months
before and ending 12 months after the date of the Plan’s termination.”

5



Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2007.



CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS & INVESTMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

EIGHTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT
Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“the Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss- Wright Corporation Savings & Investment
Plan (“the Plan”).

2. The Company caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of January 1, 2001, in order to
maintain the Plan’s compliance with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code (“the Code”) and applicable regulations
thereunder, and caused the Plan, as so amended and restated, to be submitted to the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS"),
pursuant to Rev. Proc. 2001-6, for a determination that the Plan is a qualified plan, within the meaning of Sec. 401 of the
Code.

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement of the Plan, it has become necessary to further amend the Plan
to take account of changes in applicable laws and regulations, and it is appropriate for the Board of Directors (“the Board”) to
ratify and codify amendments heretofore adopted.

4, Section 12.01(a) of the Plan permits the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time and from time to
time, by action of the Board.

Amendments to the Plan:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects, to
be effective as specified herein:

1. Article 1, Section 1.26(b) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007, by inserting, immediately after the phrase “414(q)” a (5)
so the phrase reads “414(q)(5)".

2. Article 9 is amended, effective as of April 1, 2007, by replacing 9.08(c) with the following:

“Designated Beneficiary’ means an Employee or former Employee. In addition, solely for purposes of paragraph (a) above,
the Employee’s or former Employee’s surviving spouse, the Employee’s or former Employee’s spouse or former spouse who
is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order as defined in Section 414(p) of the Code are distributees
with regard to the interest of the spouse or former spouse, or a non-spouse Beneficiary; and”

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2007.



CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS & INVESTMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

NINTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT
Recitals:
1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“the Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss- Wright Corporation Savings & Investment

Plan (“the Plan”).

2. The Company caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of January 1, 2001, in order to
maintain the Plan's compliance with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code (“the Code”) and applicable regulations
thereunder, and caused the Plan, as so amended and restated, to be submitted to the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS"),
pursuant to Rev. Proc. 2001-6, for a determination that the Plan is a qualified plan, within the meaning of Sec. 401 of the
Code.

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement of the Plan, it has become necessary to further amend the Plan
to eliminate as of January 1, 2008 the discretionary matching contribution heretofore provided to Employees of Nova
Machine Products Corporation.

4, Section 12.01(a) of the Plan permits the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time and from time to
time, by action of the Board.

Amendments to the Plan:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects, to
be effective as specified herein:

1. Appendix A, 17 is amended to add paragraph (i) effective January 1, 2008, as follows:

“Effective for plan years after December 31, 2007, the special contributions provided for in sub-paragraph (b) and
described in sub-paragraph (c) of this parapgraph17 will no longer be provided. Sub-paragraphs (d) through (h) will
remain in effect.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2007.



CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS & INVESTMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

TENTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT
Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“the Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings & Investment
Plan (“the Plan”).

2. The Company caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of January 1, 2001, in order to
maintain the Plan’s compliance with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code (“the Code”) and applicable regulations
thereunder, and caused the Plan, as so amended and restated, to be submitted to the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”),
pursuant to Rev. Proc. 2001-6, for a determination that the Plan is a qualified plan, within the meaning of Sec. 401 of the
Code.

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement of the Plan, it has become necessary to further amend the Plan
for the merger of the IMC Magnetics 401(k) Plan into this Plan (the “Plan”).

4, Section 12.01(a) of the Plan permits the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time and from time to
time, by action of the Board.

Amendments to the Plan:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects, to
be effective as specified herein:

1. The IMC Magnetics 401(k) Plan shall be, and hereby is, merged into the Plan, effective July 1, 2008, with the surviving
plan being the Plan.

2. Section 9.08(b) is amended to permit rollover of an eligible rollover distribution as described in Section 9.08(a) to a
Roth IRA under Section 408A of the Code, to an annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Code and a plan
described in 457(b) of the Code as follows:

The phrase “ a Roth individual retirement account described in S ection 408A of the Code " is inserted
immediately following the phrase “an annuity plan described in Section 403(a) of the Code,” in the first sentence.

3. Appendix A is amended, effective as of January 1, 2008, by adding at the end thereof the following new Item 19:
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19. IMC Magnetics Corporation
Each former employee of IMC Magnetics Corporation who became an Employee as of August 31, 2007,

shall be eligible to become a Member as of January 1, 2008, and shall remain eligible so long as he or
she continues to satisfy the eligibility requirements.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2008.



CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS & INVESTMENT PLAN

As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

ELEVENTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“the Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings & Investment Plan
(“the Plan™).

2. The Company caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of January 1, 2001, in order to maintain
the Plan’s compliance with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code (“the Code”) and applicable regulations thereunder,
and caused the Plan, as so amended and restated, to be submitted to the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”), pursuant to Rev.
Proc. 2001-6, for a determination that the Plan is a qualified plan, within the meaning of Sec. 401 of the Code.

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement of the Plan, it has become necessary to further amend the Plan to
update the definition of Committee to reflect administrative practices and to comply with the final 415 regulations.

4. Section 12.01(a) of the Plan permits the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time and from time to time,
by action of the Board.

Amendments to the Plan:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects, to
be effective June 9, 2008:

1. Section 10.01 is amended by deleting the term “Administration Committee” in the heading and in the first sentence and inserting
the term “Administrative Committee”.

2. Section 10.02 of the Plan is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

The Administrative Committee (or its delegate) may act on the Company’s behalf as the sponsor and “named fiduciary” of
the Plan with respect to Plan administrative matters. Acting on behalf of the Company, and subject to the terms of the Plan,
the Trust Agreement and applicable resolutions of the Board, the Administrative Committee (or its delegate) has full and
absolute discretion and authority to control and manage the operation and administration of the Plan, and to interpret and
apply the terms of the Plan and the Trust Agreement. This full and absolute discretion and authority includes, but is not
limited to, the power to:



f.

g.

interpret, construe, and apply the provisions of the Plan and Trust Agreement, and any construction adopted by the
Administrative Committee in good faith shall be final and binding;

adopt Plan amendments that (1) are required by ERISA or other applicable law or regulation governing qualification of
employee benefit plans, or are necessary for Plan administration, and which do not materially increase costs to the
Plan or the Company or materially change Participants’ benefits under the Plan, (2) implement special rules in Section
12.03 for acquisitions, sales, and other dispositions, or (3) clarify ambiguous or unclear Plan provisions; provided that
such amendments will be made in writing and will be made according to procedures established by the Administrative
Committee;

review appeals from the denial of benefits;

change or terminate the existing Investment Fund options offered under the Plan or establish additional Investment
Fund options;

appoint and dismiss Investment Managers (as described by section 3(38) of ERISA) and the Trustee;
provide guidelines and directions to, and monitor the performance of, Investment Managers and the Trustee; and

manage the cost and financial aspects of the Plan.

The Administrative Committee may employ, appoint, and dismiss advisors and advisory committees as the Administrative
Committee deems necessary to carry out the provisions of the Plan and the Trust Agreement, including attorneys,
accountants, actuaries, clerks, or other agents, and may delegate any of its authority and duties to such persons.

3. Section 10.12 of the Plan is deleted in its entirety and Section 10.13 (Claims Review Procedure) and Section 10.14 (Named
Fiduciary) are renumbered as Section 10.12 and 10.13 accordingly.

4. Section 3.11(c) is amended by adding the following sentences to the end thereof to read as follows, effective January 1, 2008:

“Effective January 1, 2008, remuneration shall also include amounts required to be recognized under the provisions of
Section 1.415(c)-2(e) of the Treasury regulations. Remuneration shall not exceed the Annual Dollar Limit.”

5. Section 3.11(e) is amended by adding the following to the end thereof to read as follows, effective January 1, 2008:

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective for Plan Years beginning on and after January 1, 2008, to the extent that the annual
additions to a Member’s Accounts exceed the limitation set forth in paragraph (a), corrections shall be made in a
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manner consistent with the provisions of the Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System as set forth in Revenue
Procedure 2008-50 or any subsequent guidance.”

6. Section 1.12 is amended by adding the following to the end of the second paragraph thereof to read as follows, effective January
1, 2009:

“Effective January 1, 2009, Compensation shall also include “differential wage payments” pursuant to the Heroes Earnings
Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 2008.”

7. Section 6.02(b) is amended to delete the existing language and replace it as follows, effective January 1, 2009:

“(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a), a Member shall be 100% vested in, and have a nonforfeitable right to,
his Employer Account upon death (including death while performing qualified military service, pursuant to the Heroes
Earnings Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 2008), Disability, or the attainment of his 65th birthday.”

8. A new Section 7.07 is added to read as follows, effective January 1, 2009:
“7.07 Active Military Duty Withdrawals.

(a) A Member who is on active military duty for more than 30 days may request a distribution of all or a portion of his or her
Deferred Account.

(b) A Member who takes such a distribution shall be prohibited from making Deferred Cash Contributions and After-Tax
Contributions to the Plan and all other plans of the Employer and Affiliated Employers under the terms of such plans or by
means of an otherwise legally enforceable agreement for at least 6 months after receipt of the distribution.

(c) Any distribution made under this Section shall be subject to the additional tax on early distributions under Section 72(t) of
the Code, unless the distribution is a “qualified reservist distribution” as that term is defined under the Heroes Earnings
Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 2008.”

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2008.



Exhibit 10.25

INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT

This Agreement is made as of the 1stafayuly, 2008, by and between Curtiss-Wright Cogpion, a Delaware corporation (the
“Corporation”), and (“Indemniteel’director of the Corporation.

WHEREAS , it is essential that the Corporation to attraxt eetain as directors the most capable persorikbleg and

WHEREAS , both the Corporation and Indemnitee recognizertbeeased risk of litigation being asserted agaiirectors of companit
in today’s environment; and

WHEREAS , the Corporation’s Restated Certificate of Incagtion (the “Certificate”) provides that the Corption will indemnify its
directors against such litigation, subject to dartmnditions, and Indemnitee has relied on thiemnification in deciding to serve as a director
of the Corporation; and

WHEREAS , in recognition of Indemnitee’s need for reasoegiybtection against personal liability in ordeptovide a continued
incentive for Indemnitee’s continued service to @wporation in an effective manner, and Indemfstegliance on the aforesaid provision of
the Certificate, and to provide Indemnitee withregs contractual indemnification (regardless ofpagnother things, any amendment to or
revocation of such provision or any change in thmposition of the Corporation’s Board of Direct@ttse “Board”) or any acquisition or
business combination transaction relating to thep@ation), the Corporation wishes to provide iis thgreement for the indemnification of
and the advancement of Expenses (as defined iio8edt)) to Indemnitee as set forth in this Agresmn

NOW THEREFORE , the Corporation and Indemnitee do hereby agrdellasvs:

1 AGREEMENT TO SERVE . Indemnitee agrees to serve or continue to sexzedirector of the Corporation for so long asshedily
elected or appointed or until such time as he tenklis resignation in writing.

2DEFINITIONS . As used in this Agreement:

(a) The term “Proceeding” sliadlude any threatened, pending or completed acsioit or proceeding, whether brought by or in
the right of the Corporation or otherwise and whkethf a civil, criminal, administrative or invesditive nature, and any appeal therefrom.

(b) The term “Corporate Statsisall mean the status of a person who is or waisegtor of the Corporation, or is or was serving,
or has agreed to serve, at the request of




the Corporation, as a director, officer, partnerstee, employee or agent of another corporatiarinprship, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise.

(c) The term “Expenses” sliadlude, without limitation, attorneys’ fees, retais, court costs, transcript costs, fees of egpert
travel expenses, duplicating costs, printing amdlinig costs, telephone charges, postage, delieewce fees and other disbursements or
expenses of the types customarily incurred in cotioe with investigations, judicial or administnagi proceedings or appeals, but shall not
include the amount of judgments, fines or penaligsinst Indemnitee or amounts paid in settlenmenbnnection with such matters.

(d) References to “other entisgd shall include employee benefit plans; refeemto “fines” shall include any excise tax assgsse
with respect to any employee benefit plan; refeesrio “serving at the request of the Corporatidrdlisinclude any service as a director,
officer, employee or agent of the Corporation fhgioses duties on, or involves services by, sugctbr, officer, employee or agent with
respect to an employee benefit plan, its partidipan beneficiaries; and a person who acted in daitid and in a manner he reasonably
believed to be in the interests of the participamtd beneficiaries of an employee benefit planl dleatieemed to have acted in a manner “not
opposed to the best interests of the Corporatienéterred to in this Agreement.

3.INDEMNIFICATION IN THIRD-PARTY PROCEEDINGS . The Corporation shall indemnify Indemnitee in@dance with the
provisions of the Paragraph 3 if Indemnitee wais @r party to or threatened to be made a party adteerwise involved in any Proceeding
(other than a Proceeding by or in the right of @lmeporation to procure a judgment in its favor)rbgison of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status or
by reason of any action alleged to have been takemitted in connection therewith, against all Emges, judgments, fines, penalties and
amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonablyred by Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behafonnection with such Proceeding, if
Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner lwindemnitee reasonably believed to be in, or ppibsed to, the best interests of the
Corporation and, with respect to any criminal Peatieg, had no reasonable cause to believe thatriniee’s conduct was unlawful. The
termination of any Proceeding by judgment, ordettlement, conviction or upon a plea of nolo codee, or its equivalent, shall not, of itself,
create a presumption that Indemnitee did not agbind faith and in a manner that Indemnitee redsgrizelieved to be in, or not opposed to,
the best interests of the Corporation and, witpeesto any criminal Proceeding, had reasonableectaibelieve that Indemnitseconduct wa
unlawful.

4INDEMNIFICATION IN PROCEEDINGS BY OR IN THE RIGHT O F THE CORPORATION . The Corporation shall
indemnify Indemnitee in accordance with the prawisi of this Paragraph 4 if Indemnitee is a partyrtthreatened to be made a party to or
otherwise involved in any Proceeding by or in tight of the Corporation to procure a judgment &févor by reason of Indemnitee’s
Corporate Status or by reason of any action allégédve been taken or omitted in connection thighewgainst all Expenses and, to the ex
permitted by law, judgment, fines, penalties andants




paid in settlement actually and reasonably incubgthdemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf in conimectvith such Proceeding, if Indemnitee
acted in good faith and in a manner which Indenenigasonably believed to be in, or not opposeth&obest interests or the Corporation,
except that no indemnification shall be made unldisrParagraph 4 in respect to any claim, issuwaiter as to which Indemnitee shall have
been adjudged to be liable to the Corporation,asmand only to the extent that the Court of Chgnoébelaware shall determine upon
application that, despite the adjudication of sliahility but in view of all the circumstances ¢fe case, Indemnitee is fairly and reasonably
entitled to indemnity for such Expenses as the Cafu€hancery shall deem proper.

5EXCEPTIONS TO RIGHT OF INDEMNIFICATION . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in tAigreement, except as set
forth in Paragraph 10, the Corporation shall ndemnify Indemnitee in connection with a Proceedgpart thereof) initiated by Indemnitee
unless the initiation thereof was approved by tbar# of Directors of the Corporation. Notwithstarglanything to the contrary in this
Agreement, the Corporation shall not indemnify Imeétee to the extent Indemnitee is reimbursed ftioenproceeds of insurance, and in the
event the Corporation makes any indemnificatiompayts to Indemnitee and Indemnitee is subsequegithbursed from the proceeds of
insurance, Indemnitee shall promptly refund suckemnification payments to the Corporation to theeof such insurance reimbursement.

6.NOTIFICATION AND DEFENSE OF CLAIM . As a condition precedent to Indemnitedaght to be indemnified, Indemnitee agt
to notify the Corporation in writing as soon ass@aably practicable of any Proceeding for whickemadity will or could be sought by
Indemnitee and provide the Corporation with a copginy summons, citation, subpoena, complaintcinaént, information or other document
relating to such Proceeding with which Indemniteseérved; provided, however, that the failure teguch notice shall not relieve the
Corporation of its obligations to Indemnitee unthés Agreement, except to the extent, if any, thatCorporation is actually prejudiced by the
failure to give such notice. With respect to angd@eding of which the Corporation is so notifidte Corporation will be entitled to participate
therein at its own expense and/or to assume trendefthereof at its own expense, with legal comeseslonably acceptable to Indemnitee. £
notice from the Corporation to Indemnitee of itsation so to assume such defense, the Corpordtahret be liable to the Indemnitee for any
legal or other expenses subsequently incurred dynitlemnitee in connection with such Proceedinlggiothan as provided below in this
Paragraph 6. Indemnitee shall have the right tol@yripdemnitee’s own counsel in connection withfs&oceeding, but the fees and expenses
of such counsel incurred after notice from the ©aaion of its assumption of the defense thereafl &e at the expense of Indemnitee unless
(i) the employment of counsel by Indemnitee hasitmehorized by the Corporation, (ii) counsel tddmnitee shall have reasonably conclt
that there may be a conflict of interest or posititm any significant issue between the Corporadiweh Indemnitee in the conduct of the defense
of such Proceeding or (iii) the Corporation shall m fact have employed counsel to assume thendefef such Proceeding, in each of which
cases the fees and expenses of counsel for Indearstitall be at the expense of the
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Corporation, except as otherwise expressly provigethis Agreement. The Corporation shall not bétled, without the consent of
Indemnitee, to assume the defense of any claimghtdoy or in the right of the Corporation or asmieich counsel for Indemnitee shall have
reasonably made the conclusion provided for ingga(ii) above. The Corporation shall not be reqlitteindemnify Indemnitee under this
Agreement for any amounts paid in settlement of Rmmceeding effected without its written consettite Torporation shall not settle any
Proceeding in any manner that would impose anylpeaalimitation on Indemnitee without Indemnitseiritten consent. Neither the
Corporation nor the Indemnitee will unreasonablthivld its consent to any proposed settlement.

7ADVANCEMENT OF EXPENSES . Any Expenses incurred by Indemnitee in connectiith any such Proceeding to which
Indemnitee was or is a witness or a party or isdtened to be a party by reason of his Corporatessor by reason of any action alleged to
have been taken or omitted in connection thereslitil be paid by the Corporation in advance offita disposition of such matter; provided,
however, that the payment of such Expenses incinyetie Indemnitee in advance of the final disposibf such matter shall be made only
upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalheflindemnitee to repay all amounts so advancdukirv¥ent that it shall ultimately be
determined that the Indemnitee is not entitledgandemnified by the Corporation as authorizechia Agreement; and further provided that
such advancement of Expenses shall be made iflétermined that (i) Indemnitee did not act in géaith and in a manner Indemnitee
reasonably believes to be in, or not opposed b#st interests of the Corporation, or (ii) wigspect to any criminal action or proceeding, the
Indemnitee had reasonable cause to believe Indeeisitonduct was unlawful. Such undertaking shathécepted without reference to the
financial ability of Indemnitee to make such repaym If, pursuant to the terms of this Agreememdeimnitee is not entitled to be indemnified
with respect to such Proceeding, then such Expestedkbe paid within 30 days after the receiptimemnitee of the written request by the
Corporation for the Indemnitee to make paymentséoCorporation.

8.PROCEDURE FOR INDEMNIFICATION . In order to obtain indemnification pursuant to&gaphs 3 or 4 of this Agreement,
Indemnitee shall submit to the Corporation a wmittequest, including in such request such docurtientand information as is reasonably
available to Indemnitee and is reasonably neceseatgtermine whether and to what extent Indemngteatitled to indemnification or
advancement of Expenses. Any such indemnificaticedeancement of Expenses shall be made prompitlyireany event within 30 days af
receipt by the Corporation of the written requdghe Indemnitee, unless with respect to requestrporation determines within such @8y
period that such Indemnitee did not meet the apple&standard of conduct set forth in Paragrapdrs43 as the case may be. Such
determination, and any determination pursuant tdi@e 7 that advanced Expenses must be repaict@aiporation, shall be made in each
instance (a) by a majority vote of the directorshaf Corporation consisting of persons who areahthat time parties to the Proceeding
(“Disinterested Directors”), whether or not a quoryb) by a committee of Disinterested Directorsigeated by majority vote of Disinterested
Directors, whether




or not a quorum, (c) if there are no Disinteredd@@ctors, or if Disinterested Directors so dirdnt,independent legal counsel (who may, to the
extent permitted by applicable law, be regular legansel to the Corporation ) in a written opinmm(d) by the stockholders.

9 REMEDIES . The right to indemnification and immediate advement of Expenses as provided by this Agreemefitisha
enforceable by the Indemnitee in any court of caeptgurisdiction. Unless otherwise required by léime burden of proving that
indemnification is not appropriate shall be on @@ poration. Neither the failure of the Corporattorhave made a determination prior to the
commencement of such action that indemnificatigordger in the circumstances because Indemniteenktithe applicable standard of
conduct, nor an actual determination by the Cotpmmgursuant to Paragraph 9 that Indemnitee hamebsuch applicable standard of
conduct, shall be a defense to the action or ceatesumption that Indemnitee has not met thecgippé standard of conduct. Indemnitee’s
expenses (of the type described in the definitibfEgpenses” in Paragraph 2 (c)) reasonably ina@imeconnection with successfully
establishing Indemnitee’s right to indemnificatiamwhole or in part, in any such Proceeding alsalle indemnified by the Corporation.

10PARTIAL INDEMNIFICATION . If Indemnitee is entitled under any provisiortlis Agreement to indemnification by the
Corporation for some or a portion of the Expengefgments, fines penalties or amounts paid inesagtht actually and reasonably incurred by
Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf in connectigih any Proceeding but not, however, for the tatabunt thereof, the Corporation shall
nevertheless indemnify Indemnitee for the portibeuxzh Expenses, judgments, fines, penalties ouatagaid in settlement to which
Indemnitee is entitled.

11SUBROGATION . In the event of any payment under this AgreemntietCorporation shall be subrogated to the exikatich
payment to all of the rights of recovery of Indeteri who shall execute all papers required anddHlkeetion necessary to secure such rights,
including execution of such documents as are nacg$s enable the Corporation to bring suit to esdcsuch rights.

12TERM OF AGREEMENT . This Agreement shall continue until and termingten the later of (a) six years after the daté tha
Indemnitee shall have ceased to serve as a directbe Corporation or, at the request of the Caapion, as a director, officer, employee or
agent of another corporation, partnership, joimttuee, trust or other enterprise; (b) the expiratid all applicable statute of limitations periods
for any claim which may be brought against Indeemin a Proceeding as a result of his CorporateiStar (c) the final termination of all
Proceedings pending on the date set forth in cka(eseor (b) in respect of which Indemnitee is gedrrights of indemnification or advancen
of Expenses hereunder and of any proceeding comeddnclindemnitee pursuant to Paragraph 9 of thieé&mgent relating thereto.

13INDEMNIFICATION HEREUNDER NOT EXCLUSIVE . The indemnification and advancement of Expensegigied by this
Agreement shall not be




deemed exclusive of any other rights to which Indiéee may be entitled under the Certification afdrporation, the By-aws, any agreemer
any vote of stockholders or disinterested directibrs General Corporation law of the State of Delayany other law (common or statutory
otherwise, both as to action in Indemnitee’s officiorporate capacity and as to action in anotapacity while holding office for the
Corporation. Nothing contained in this Agreemeraglisbe deemed to prohibit the Corporation from piasing and maintaining insurance, at its
expense, to protect itself or the Indemnitee againg expense, liability or loss incurred by ithodemnitee in any such capacity, or arising out
of Indemnitee’s status as such, whether or notrimd=e would be indemnified against such expereieility or loss under this Agreement;
provided that the Corporation shall not be lialheler this Agreement to make any payment of amaathisrwise indemnifiable hereunder if
and to the extent that Indemnitee has otherwisgallgtreceived such payment under any insurandeypaontract, agreement or otherwise,
including as provided in Section 5 hereof.

14NO SPECIAL RIGHTS . Nothing herein shall confer upon Indemnitee agktrto continue to serve as a director of the Goapon
for any period of time or, except as expressly fted herein, at any particular rate of compensation

15SAVINGS CLAUSE . If this Agreement or any portion thereof shallivealidated on any ground by any court of competen
jurisdiction, then the Corporation shall nevertsslendemnify Indemnitee as to Expenses, judgménts, penalties and amounts paic
settlement with respect to any Proceeding to thesktient permitted by any applicable portion astAgreement that shall not have been
invalidated and to the fullest extent permitteddpylicable law.

16 COUNTERPARTS; FACSIMILE SIGNATURES . This Agreement maybe executed in two counterpbath of which together
shall constitute the original instrument. This Agreent may be executed by facsimile signatures.

17SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS This Agreement shall be binding upon the Corponaand its successors and assigns and shall
inure to the benefit of the estate, heirs, exesymdministrators and personal representativesdenitee.

18HEADINGS . The headings of the paragraphs of this Agreemeninserted for convenience only and shall natdmmed to
constitute part of this Agreement or to affect tbastruction thereof.

19MODIFICATION AND WAIVER . This Agreement amends and restates in its eptinetOriginal Agreement. This Agreement
may be amended from time to time to reflect chamg&elaware law or for other reasons. No supplanrandification or amendment of this
Agreement shall be binding unless executed in mgibly both of the parties hereto. No waiver of ahthe provisions of this Agreement shall
be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any gthevision hereof nor shall any such waiver congita continuing waiver.
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20NOTICES . All notices, requests, demands and other commatinits hereunder shall be in writing and shall éended to have been
given (i) when delivered by hand or (ii) if mailbg certified or registered mail with postage préepain the third day after the date on which it
is so mailed:

(a) if to the Indemnitee, t«

Name of Indemnite
Address of Indemnite

(b) if to the Corporation, tc

Curtiss-Wright Corporatior

4 Becker Farm Roa

Roseland, New Jersey 070
Attn: General Counst

or to such other address as may have been furnisHademnitee by the Corporation or to the Corporaby Indemnitee, as the case may be.
21APPLICABLE LAW . This Agreement shall be governed by and congduict accordance with the laws of the State of Data.

22ENFORCEMENT . The Corporation expressly confirms and agreesithas entered into this Agreement in order tiuite
Indemnitee to continue to serve as a director ®fGbrporation and acknowledges that Indemniteelyéng upon this Agreement in continuing
in such capacity.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties heretoéhaaused this Agreement to be duly executed #eealay and year first above written.
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Exhibit 10.29

CURTISS-WRIGHT ELECTRO-MECHANICAL DIVISION
SAVINGS PLAN

FOURTH Instrument of Amendment
Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“Curtiss-Wright” or “the Company”) has established the Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical
Division Savings Plan (“the Plan”), a qualified retirement plan that meets the requirements of Section 401(a) of the Internal
Revenue Code (“the Code”) and that includes a cash or deferred arrangement within the meaning of Section 401(k) of the
Code, which Plan was effective as of January 1, 2004.

2. The Company has caused the Plan to be submitted to the Internal Revenue Service, pursuant to Rev. Proc. 2003-6, and has
requested the Internal Revenue Service to determine that the Plan is a qualified plan, within the meaning of Sec. 401 of the
Code.

3. The Plan was further amended by the Third Amendment.

4. It has become necessary to further amend the Plan to conform to the final Internal Revenue Service 401(k) and (m)
regulations.

5. Sections XII.1 and XIV.2(b) of the Plan permit the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time and from

time to time, by action of the Administrative Committee.
Amendment:
For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects:

1. Section VIII. 2. is amended, effective as of January 1, 2006, by deleting the subparagraphs (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f) and (g) and
inserting in lieu thereof the following new subparagraphs (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), and (g):

“(@) expenses for (or necessary to obtain) medical care that would be deductible under Section 213(d) of the Code
(determined without regard to whether the expenses exceed 7.5 percent of adjusted gross income);

(b)  costs directly related to the purchase of a principal residence of the Participant (excluding mortgage payments);

(©) payment of tuition and related educational fees, and room and board expenses, for the next 12 months of post-
secondary education of the Participant, his spouse, children or dependents



©)

()

)

@

(as defined in Section 152 of the Code and determined without regard to Sections 152(b)(1), (b)(2) and (d)(1)
(B) of the Code);

payment of amounts necessary to prevent eviction of the Participant from his principal residence or to avoid
foreclosure on the mortgage of his principal residence;

payments for burial or funeral expenses for the Participant’s deceased parent, spouse, children or dependents
(as defined in Section 152 of the Code and without regard to Section 152(d)(1)(B) of the Code);

expenses for the repair of damages to the Participant’s principal residence that would qualify for the casualty
deduction under Section 165 of the Code (determined without regard to whether the loss exceeds 10 percent of
the Participant’s adjusted gross income); or

the inability of the Participant to meet such other expenses, debts, or other obligations recognized by the
Internal Revenue Service as giving rise to immediate and heavy financial need for purposes of Section 401(k)
of the Code.”

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2006.



CURTISS-WRIGHT ELECTRO-MECHANICAL DIVISION
SAVINGS PLAN

FIFTH Instrument of Amendment
Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“Curtiss-Wright” or “the Company”) has established the Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical
Division Savings Plan (“the Plan”), a qualified retirement plan that meets the requirements of Section 401(a) of the Internal
Revenue Code (“the Code”) and that includes a cash or deferred arrangement within the meaning of Section 401(k) of the
Code, which Plan was effective as of January 1, 2004.

2. The Company has caused the Plan to be submitted to the Internal Revenue Service, pursuant to Rev. Proc. 2003-6, and has
requested the Internal Revenue Service to determine that the Plan is a qualified plan, within the meaning of Sec. 401 of the
Code.

3. The Plan was further amended by the Fourth Amendment.

4. It has become necessary to further amend the Plan to conform to the final Internal Revenue Service 401(k) and (m)
regulations.

5. Sections XII.1 and XIV.2(b) of the Plan permit the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time and from

time to time, by action of the Administrative Committee.
Amendment:
For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects:
1. Section 1.4 is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007, by deleting the existing paragraph and replacing it with the following:

“shall mean a qualified matching contribution as defined in section 1.401(k)-1(g)(13)(i) and/or a qualified non-elective
contribution as defined in section 1.401(k)-1(g)(13)(ii) of the Treasury regulations which imposes the immediate
forfeiture requirement and distribution restrictions that are applicable to amounts allocable to a Participant’'s Pre-Tax
Account.

2. Section lll.1.a. is amended by replacing the reference to “1%” where it appears therein to read “.5%”".

3. Section 111.10 is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007, by deleting the second paragraph thereof and replacing it with the
following:



“Additional Contributions and/or Employer Match Contributions may be treated as Pre-Tax Contributions only if the
conditions described in section 1.401(k)-2(a)(6) of the Treasury regulations are satisfied.”

4. Section 111.18 is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007, by adding subparagraph d. to read as follows:

“d. If any Highly Compensated Employee is a Participant of another qualified plan of the Employer or any other
company in the Controlled group, including an employee stock ownership plan described in Section 4975(e)(7)
of the Code but excluding any other qualified plan which must be mandatorily disaggregated under Section 410
(b) of the Code, under which deferred cash contributions or matching contributions are made on behalf of the
Highly Compensated Employee or under which the Highly Compensated Employee makes after-tax
contributions, the Committee shall implement rules, which shall be uniformly applicable to all employees
similarly situated, to take into account all such contributions for the Highly Compensated Employee made for
the applicable Plan Year under all such plans in applying the limitations of ADR and ACR. If any other such
gualified plan has a plan year other than the Plan Year, the contributions to be taken into account in applying
the limitations of the ADR and ACR will be those made within the Plan Year.”

5. Section 111.22 is added, effective as of January 1, 2007 to read as follows:

For the purposes of Treatment of Distribution of Excess Contributions in Paragraph 9 and Distribution of Excess Aggregate
Contribution is Paragraph 15, income and loss will be determined as follows:

Income on excess contributions and excess aggregate contributions shall be determined (a) by multiplying allocable gain or loss on
the Pre-tax Account and/or the Employer Match Contribution Account, as the case may be, (excluding Catch-Up Contributions and
income attributable to Catch-Up Contributions) for the Plan Year by a fraction, the numerator of which is the excess deferrals,
excess contributions or excess aggregate contributions, as the case may be, for the Plan Year and the denominator of which is the
Pre-tax Account and/or the Employer Match Contribution Account balance at the end of the Plan Year, disregarding any income or
loss occurring during the Plan Year, and (b) by adding to the amount determined under clause (a) 10 percent of the amount
determined under clause (a) multiplied by the number of whole calendar months between the end of the Plan Year and the date of
the distribution, counting the month of distribution if the distribution occurs after the 15 ! day of the month. Income on excess
aggregate contributions shall be determined in a similar manner by substituting the sum of the allocable gain or loss on the
Employer Account and Member Account for the Pre-Tax Account and Roth Account, and the excess aggregate contributions for the
excess deferrals and excess contributions in the preceding sentence.”

6. Section IV.4 is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007, by adding the following paragraph at the end thereof:

Notwithstanding any provision of this section IV to the contrary and subject to the terms of Article IX, in the event an
individual who becomes an Employee of an



Employer (as defined in Article 1.25 of the Plan) on or after January 1, 2007 and who immediately prior to that date was
employed by a business entity acquired by the Company or one of its affiliates (an “Acquired Employee”), and has no more
than two loans outstanding under the former 401(k) Plan, the Plan shall accept a direct loan rollover of such outstanding loan
notes, provided the loans are not in default as of the date of transfer. Further, in accordance with the rules set forth by the
Committee, such individual may not receive a new loan or increase the outstanding loan(s) under the terms of the Plan until
such individual's rolled over loans have been repaid in full or otherwise distributed to the individual. Under the terms of the
Plan, Participants may have a maximum of two outstanding loans. Subject to the provisions of Article IX, an acquired
participant who rolls over one loan to the Plan, may receive a second loan from the Plan. An acquired participant who rolls
over two loans to the Plan will not be able to receive another loan from the Plan until at least one of the outstanding rolled
over loans is repaid in full. Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force
and effect.

7. Section Vl.4.a is amended effective as of January 1, 2007 by adding the following sentence as the last sentence of the
paragraph:

“If the amount of the Vested Portion of a Participant’s Employer Account at the time of his termination of employment
is zero and the Participant had not at any time made Deferred Cash Contributions to the Plan, the Participant shall be
deemed to have received a distribution of such zero vested benefit.”

8. Section 1X.1.9(3) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007, by deleting the subparagraph (3) and inserting in lieu thereof the
following new subparagraph (3):

“(3) Notwithstanding Subsections IX. 1. g. (1) and (2) above, if a Participant takes a leave of absence to enter the
uniformed services of the United States, loan repayments shall be suspended during the period of leave. Upon
the Participant’'s reemployment from the uniformed services, the period of repayment shall be extended by the
number of months of the period of service in the uniformed services or, if greater, the number of months that
would remain if the original loan term were five years plus the number of months in the period of absence;
provided, however, if the Participant incurs a termination of employment and requests a distribution pursuant to
Article VII, the loan shall be canceled, and the outstanding loan balance shall be distributed pursuant to Article
VII. If a Participant enters the uniformed services of the United States, the interest rate applicable to the unpaid
loan balance during the period of leave shall be reduced to 6%, in accordance with the Soldiers’ and Sailors’
Civil Relief Act of 1940. Upon a Participant’s reemployment from the leave of absence, the Participant shall
resume payments either in the same amount as before the leave with the full balance due upon the expiration
of the repayment period or by reamortizing the loan in substantially level installments over the remaining term of
the loan.”



9. Section XIl.2 is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007, by adding a new paragraph after the first paragraph to read as
follows:

“Upon termination of the Plan, Pre-Tax Contributions, with earnings thereon, shall only be distributed to Participants if
(i) neither the Employer nor any other company in the Controlled Group establishes or maintains a successor defined
contribution plan and (ii) payment is made to the Participants in the form of a lump sum distribution (as defined in
Section 402(e)(4)(D) of the Code, without regard to subclauses (1) through (V) of clause (i) thereof). For purposes of
this paragraph, a “successor defined contribution plan” is a defined contribution plan (other than an employee stock
ownership plan as defined in Section 4975(e)(7) or 409(a) of the Code (“ESOP"), a simplified employee pension as
defined in Section 408(k) of the Code (“SEP"), a SIMPLE IRA plan as defined in Section 408(p) of the Code, a plan or
contract that satisfies the requirements of Section 403(b) of the Code, or a plan that is described in Section 457(b) or
(f)) which exists at the time the Plan is terminated or within the 12-month period beginning on the date all assets are
distributed that accepts salary deferrals. However, in no event shall a defined contribution plan be deemed a
successor plan if fewer than 2 percent of the employees who are eligible to participate in the Plan at the time of its
termination are or were eligible to participate under another defined contribution plan of the Employer or any other
company in the Controlled Group (other than a plan excluded under the prior sentence) at any time during the period
beginning 12 months before and ending 12 months after the date of the Plan’s termination.”

10. Section XIV is amended, effective as of January 1, 2007, by deleting Paragraph 15 and inserting in lieu thereof the following
new Paragraph 15:

“(a) Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, contributions, benefits, and service credit with
respect to qualified uniformed service duty will be provided in accordance with Section 414(u) of the Code.
Without regard to any limitations on contributions set forth in Article Ill, a Participant who is reemployed and is
credited with Vesting Service because of a period of service in the uniformed services of the United States may
elect to contribute to the Plan the Pre-Tax Contributions (including Catch-Up Contributions) and/or After-Tax
Contributions that could have been contributed to the Plan in accordance with the provisions of the Plan had he
remained continuously employed by the Employer throughout such period of absence (“make-up
contributions”). For purposes of determining the amount of make-up contributions a Participant may make, his
Compensation for the period of absence shall be deemed to be the rate of Compensation he would have
received had he remained employed as an Employee for that period or, if such rate is not reasonably certain,
on the basis of the Participant’s rate of compensation during the 12-month period immediately preceding such
period of absence (or if shorter, the period of employment immediately preceding such period). Any Pre-Tax
Contributions, Catch-Up Contributions, and/or After-Tax Contributions so determined shall be limited as
provided in Article Ill with respect to the Plan Year or Years to which such contributions relate rather than the
Plan Year in which payment is made. The make-up contributions may be made over a period not to exceed
three times the



period of military leave or five years, if less, but in no event later than the Participant’s termination of
employment (unless he is subsequently rehired). The make-up period shall start on the later of: (i) the
Participant’s date of reemployment, or (ii) the date the Employer notifies the Employee of his rights under this
Section. Earnings (or losses) on make-up contributions shall be credited commencing with the date the make-
up contribution is made.

(b)  With respect to a Participant who makes the election described in paragraph (a) above, the Employer shall
make Matching Contributions, on the make-up contributions in the amount described in the provisions of
Sections 1l1.2, as in effect for the Plan Year to which such make-up contributions relate. Employer Matching
Contributions under this paragraph shall be made to the Plan at the same time as Matching Contributions are
required to be made for Pre-Tax made during the same period as the make-up contributions are actually made.
Earnings (or losses) on Matching Contributions shall be credited commencing with the date the contributions
are made in accordance with the provisions of Article IV. Any limitations on Matching Contributions described in
Section Il shall be applied with respect to the Plan Year or Years to which such contributions relate rather than
the Plan Year or Years in which payment is made.

(c)  All contributions under this Section other than make-up Catch-Up Contributions made pursuant to this Section
and Section 1.2 are considered “annual additions,” as defined in Section 415(c)(2) of the Code, and shall be
limited with respect to the Plan Year or Years to which such contributions relate rather than the Plan Year in
which payment is made.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2007.

5



CURTISS-WRIGHT ELECTRO-MECHANICAL DIVISION
SAVINGS PLAN

Sixth Instrument of Amendment
Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“Curtiss-Wright” or “the Company”) has established the Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical
Division Savings Plan (“the Plan”), a qualified retirement plan that meets the requirements of Section 401(a) of the Internal
Revenue Code (“the Code”) and that includes a cash or deferred arrangement within the meaning of Section 401(k) of the
Code, which Plan was effective as of January 1, 2004.

2. The Company has caused the Plan to be submitted to the Internal Revenue Service, pursuant to Rev. Proc. 2003-6, and has
requested the Internal Revenue Service to determine that the Plan is a qualified plan, within the meaning of Sec. 401 of the
Code.

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment of the Plan, it has become necessary to further amend the Plan for the Pension

Protection Act of 2006 (“PPA”) changes, and update the name of the Plan.

4, In accordance with Article XIV Section 2 of the Plan, the Administrative Committee is authorized to make such amendments
to the Plan as may be necessary to maintain its status as a qualified plan.

Amendment:
For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects:

1. Effective January 1, 2008, the name of the Plan will be changed from the Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Division
Savings Plan to Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation Savings Plan. All internal references to the Plan name
shall be changed accordingly.

2. Article VIl Section 10 is amended effective April 1, 2007, defining “Distributee” to permit non-spouse beneficiaries the
ability to rollover distributions from the Plan:

“Distributee means an employee or former employee. In addition, solely for purposes of Section 11 below, the
employee’s or former employee’s surviving spouse, the employee’s or former employee’s spouse or former spouse
who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order as defined in Section 414(p) of the Code are
distributees with regard to the interest of the spouse or former spouse, or a non-spouse beneficiary.”



3. Article XIV Section 2(b)is amended by adding the following new paragraph at the end thereof:

“Effective as of January 3, 2008, amendments to the Plan that reflect acquisitions due to mergers shall be adopted by

the Committee. All such amendments shall be submitted to the Board of Directors at their meeting following the
adoption of such amendments.”

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2007.



Exhibit 21
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

The information below is provided, as of DecemhkrZ008 with respect to the subsidiaries of theiRemt, all of which are wholly owned by
the Corporation, directly or indirectly. The naneégertain inactive subsidiaries and other constéid subsidiaries of the Registrant have been
omitted because such subsidiaries would not comstit significant subsidiary, individually or iretaggregate.

Organized Under

Name the Laws of
Curtiss-Wright Flow Control Corporatio New York
Curtiss-Wright Controls, Inc Delaware
Metal Improvement Company, LL Delaware
Curtiss-Wright Electrc-Mechanical Corporatio Delaware
Penny & Giles Controls Limite United Kingdom
CurtisWright Antriebstechnik Gmbt Switzerland
Vista Controls, Inc California
Autronics Corporatiol Delaware
CurtisWright Flow Control Company Cana Nova Scotie
Peerless Instrument Co., It New York
Dy4, Inc. Delaware
Synergy Microsystems, In California
Primagraphics (Holdings) Limite United Kingdom
Novatronics, Inc Ontario
Systran Corporatio Ohio



Exhibit 2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTIN&GRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement Nos. 33-65073, 33-06329, 33t9%633-126541, and 33-126543 on
Form S-8, Registration Statement No. 33-61785 amF®-8 and S-3 and Registration Statement Nos.13%385 and 33-119589 on Form S-3
of our reports dated March 2, 2009, relating todbiesolidated financial statements and financatkeshent schedule of Curtiss-Wright
Corporation and subsidiaries (which report expresseunqualified opinion and includes an explaryaparagraph regarding the Company’s
adoption of SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting Befined Benefit Pension and Other Postretireméamd>- an Amendment of FASB
Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R) and FASBdretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty ircthme Taxes — An Interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 109 on January 1, 2007) andffeetiveness of internal control over financighoeting, appearing in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and sdizsies for the year-ended December 31, 2008.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
March 2, 2009




Exhibit 31.1

Certifications
[, Martin R. Benante, certify tha
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of CurtisWright Corporation
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omdt&te a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operet and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsiloleestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemd procedures (i
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedutes ttesigned und:
our supervision, to ensure that material infornmatielating to the registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entitiestiqularly during the period in which this rep@tbeing preparec

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finahetporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeregsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldg&ire controls and procedures and presentedsimgport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of tHegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation; i

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evally affect, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theittemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfwspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaard report financial
information; anc

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmmagement or other employees who have a significéain the

March 2, 200¢

registran’s internal control over financial reportir

/s/ Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benantt

Chairman and Chief Executive Offic



Exhibit 31.2

Certifications
[, Glenn E. Tynan, certify tha
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of CurtisWright Corporation
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omdt&te a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operet and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsiloleestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemd procedures (i
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedutes ttesigned und:
our supervision, to ensure that material infornmatielating to the registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entitiestiqularly during the period in which this rep@tbeing preparec

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finahetporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeregsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldg&ire controls and procedures and presentedsimgport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of tHegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation; i

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evally affect, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theittemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfwspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaard report financial
information; anc

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmmagement or other employees who have a significéain the

March 2, 200¢

/s/ Glenn E. Tyna

Glenn E. Tynat

registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Chief Financial Office!



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Curtiss-g¥ti Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foetperiod ended December 31, 2008
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commiseiothe date hereof (the “Report”), Martin R. Betiea as Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, and Glenn E. Tynan, as Cileancial Officer of the Company, each herebyifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section
1350, that to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly gets, in all material respects, the financial ctiadiand results of operations
the Company

/s/ Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benantt
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
March 2, 200¢

/s/ Glenn E. Tyna

Glenn E. Tynar
Chief Financial Office!
March 2, 200¢



